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TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

FINAL FINANCIAL RESULTS

Loss attributable to owners of Wong’s International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) amounted to HK$837.5
million, compared to profit of HK$152.7 million for last
financial year. The reported result included decreases
in value of investment properties held by the Group and
the joint ventures, and stock of completed properties,
net of deferred tax, of HK$984.8 million, compared to
decreases of HK$10.4 million for last financial year.

The underlying profit attributable to owners of
the Company (excluding the effect of changes on
investment properties held by the Group and the
joint ventures, and stock of completed properties,
net of deferred tax) for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to HK$147.3 million, as compared
to HK$163.1 million for the last financial year. This
was mainly attributable to the profit from EMS
Division decreased by HK$1.6 million, profit from
the Property Holding Division decreased by HK$15.0
million (excluding the effect of changes on investment
properties held by the Group and the joint ventures,
and stock of completed properties, net of deferred
tax), other income decreased by HK$10.4 million,
income tax expenses (excluding deferred tax effect from
changes on stock of completed properties) increased
by HK$13.7 million, and offsetting by decrease in net
finance cost by HK$14.4 million and increase in gain in
exchange difference by HK$10.4 million.

Losses per share for the year was HK$1.75 as
compared to earnings per share of HK$0.32 for the
last financial year. The Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2024 was HK$2,664.7 million, as
compared to HK$3,185.7 million for the last financial
year. Operating loss for the year ended 31 December
2024 was HK$286.1 million, as compared to operating
profit of HK$215.1 million for the last financial year.
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Chairman’s Statement

DIVIDENDS

The Company paid an interim dividend of HK$0.0275
(2023: HK$0.0300) per share for 2024. The Directors
now recommend the payment of a final dividend of
HK$0.0300 (2023: HK$0.0300) per share on Friday,
20 June 2025 to the shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members of the Company on
Tuesday, 3 June 2025. Payment of such proposed final
dividend is subject to approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of
the Company to be held on Wednesday, 28 May 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
THE AGM

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the AGM, the Register of Members of the Company will
be closed from Thursday, 22 May 2025 to Wednesday,
28 May 2025, both days inclusive. During this period,
no transfer of shares will be effected. To be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 21 May 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS FOR
PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend, the Register of Members of the Company will
be closed on Tuesday, 3 June 2025 and no transfer of
shares will be effected on that date. To qualify for the
proposed final dividend which is subject to approval of
the shareholders at the AGM, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2 June 2025.
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TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

DIVIDEND POLICY

For the purpose of maintaining a reasonable return
on investment and rewarding shareholders for their
continued support, the Board has adopted a Dividend
Policy for distribution of dividend to the shareholders
in accordance with the Group’s profit performance.
The dividend payout ratio will be based on the profit
attributable to the shareholders excluding share of profit
and loss of joint ventures/associated companies and
change in fair value of investment properties which have
been recorded in the consolidated income statement
after considering various prevailing factors at the time
of declaration of dividend, including but not limited to
financial performance and projected profitability, liquidity
position and capital efficiency, compliance with financial
covenants, dividends received from subsidiaries,
future growth and commitments, potential investment
opportunities, relevant provisions under the Company’s
bye-laws, laws of Bermuda and other applicable rules
and regulations. The Company may also distribute
special dividend from time to time in addition to the
ordinary dividend.

Depending on the situation from time to time, dividend
recommendation and payment shall be determined
at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to the
approval of shareholders, where appropriate. There is
no assurance that dividends will be recommended or
paid in any particular amount for any given period.



RO
EFRERK (TEMS ) FHFI

BE-_ZEZ-_NE+-_A=+—HLEE"
EMSE[ P 2 W 2= 4 7 #2,603,000,0007T *
E— {8 B A &7%8 %3,123,900,0007T ©
EMSHB FT & 165 2 3F #1) )8 & 7% #189,800,000
T B _E— (R B B B 5 191,400,0007T 8
10.8% © 7 & FIE R A B AR W IR D
BRAR M RHE B A R & B R IR S Pl o

ESSZoR !

HE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIEFE Y
X7 APz = A 7% %61,700,0007T ¢ M
F— B8 B 4 [E Rl &% %61,800,0007T © 73
=0 &5 18 &8 #916,100,0007T M £ — B 81 X
FE 2 o8 A E A &% %79,900,0007T ° 73
HERDAAFERNASEERSEDER
BZYEBERBRAMBC-MXEEZT
BAERESER NTHAKB R REVEE
EARAFE - AEBREEDLEMBTEZY
¥FTHERERSR NAFERN EEH
FEHEBESWMABEE T

EITRBREE

Chairman’s Statement

REVIEW OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Electronic Manufacturing Service (“EMS”)
Division

Revenue for the EMS Division for the year ended
31 December 2024 was HK$2,603.0 million, as
compared to HK$3,123.9 million for the last financial
year. The segment profit attributable to the EMS
Division was HK$189.8 million, 0.8% decrease as
compared to HK$191.4 million for the last financial year.
The decrease in the segment profit was attributable to
the decrease in revenue, offset by stringent materials
control and the improvement of operating efficiency.

Property Holding Division

Revenue for the Property Holding Division for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was HK$61.7 million,
as compared to HK$61.8 million for the last financial
year. The segment loss was HK$916.1 million, as
compared to segment profit of HK$79.9 million for last
financial year. The segment loss was driven by the more
significant reduction on the value of properties held by
the Group and the joint ventures during the year. The
decrease in the value of the properties is unrealised and
did not have any impact on the Group’s cash flow. The
properties held by the Group and the joint ventures are
mainly for leasing purposes and the rental income had
faced a slight drop upon renewal of certain contracts
during the year.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 7
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total
of HK$2,908.9 million (2023: HK$3,071.3 million)
of banking facilities. Total bank borrowings were
HK$1,618.9 million (2023: HK$1,790.7 million). Cash
and cash equivalents, short-term bank deposits
and restricted cash were HK$1,335.5 million as at
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$1,348.0 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a net bank
borrowing of HK$283.5 million, as compared to
HK$442.7 million as at 31 December 2023. Sufficient
banking facilities and bank balances are available to
meet the cash needs of the Group for its manufacturing
operations as well as Property Holding Division.

Net gearing ratio for the Group as at 31 December
2024 was 0.08 (2023: 0.10). The net gearing ratio
was calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net
debt is calculated as total bank borrowings and lease
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, short-term
bank deposits and restricted cash.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Most of the Group’s sales are conducted in United
States dollars and costs and expenses are mainly in
United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars, Japanese
Yen, Chinese Renminbi and Vietnam Dong. Consistent
with its prudent policy on financial risk management,
the Group does not use any foreign exchange hedging
products. The Group recognises the currency risk in the
fluctuation of Chinese Renminbi and will closely monitor
and actively manage the risk involved.
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Chairman’s Statement

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s capital structure consists of bank
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, short-term
bank deposits, restricted cash and equity attributable to
owners of the parent, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

PLEDGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

Details of the pledges on the Group’s assets are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed
2,604 employees. The Group adopts a remuneration
policy which is commensurate with job nature,
qualification and experience of employees. In addition
to the provision of annual bonuses and employee
related insurance benefits, discretionary bonuses
are also rewarded to employees based on individual
performance. The remuneration packages and policies
are reviewed periodically. The Group also provides in-
house and external training programs to its employees.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 9
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PROSPECTS

The global economy in the first half of Year 2025
continues to be affected by high interest rates, high
inflation, trade protectionism, and geopolitical tensions.
The recent increase in tariffs on goods from China and
the uncertainty surrounding the possible implementation
of certain radical proposed changes in trade and
economic policies made by the new US administration
are likely to further dampen the world demand for
manufactured goods. Wars in Ukraine and the Middle
East continue to disrupt global supply chains including
energy supply, commodity prices, transport cost and
trade routes. The uncertainty of inflation is expected
to prolong the interest rates cut cycle. All the above
factors will impact demand from our customers and the
profitability of the Group.

Based on current customer orders and forecasts, the
Group expects that the revenue of the EMS business
for the first half of Year 2025 will be comparable to that
booked in the second half of Year 2024. The Group
will continue to implement stringent cost saving and
efficiency improvement measures to ensure that the
Group is cost competitive. The Group will make use
of its advantage of having factories in both Mainland
China and Vietnam to expand its customer base and
obtain more sales opportunities. The revenue of the
Group’s factory in Vietnam is growing steadily and this
factory will be an important source of future growth for
the Group. The Group is taking measures to streamline
production operations, strengthen talents training and
enhance technical capability in the Vietnam factory to
prepare for its future expansion.
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Chairman’s Statement

PROSPECTS (continued)

The prices of commercial properties in Hong Kong fell
sharply in Year 2024, and this has caused the Group
to book a fair value loss of close to HK$1 billion for
the year. However, this fair value loss does not have
any effect on the Group’s cash flow. The commercial
properties held by the Group, directly or indirectly, have
remained almost fully leased out and will continue to
generate stable income to the Group. Loan interest
rates are expected to remain at high level, and the
Group has taken measures to hedge against the risk of
high interest rates.

AWARD & RECOGNITION

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Wong’s
Electronics Company Limited, were awarded the Caring
Company Logo by The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service for the thirteenth consecutive year. These serve
as recognition of the Group’s active participation in
community activities and good corporate citizenship.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to
extend my sincere gratitude to our customers, suppliers
and business partners for their continued confidence
in and support to the Group. | would also like to pay
a special tribute to all of our employees for their loyal,
diligent and professional services to the Group.

WONG CHUNG MAT, BEN
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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ReRReEEMAET - CHRITER R - total cash and cash equivalents - short-term bank deposits -
Be) Bk restricted cash)/total equity
3. ERUBREEDL=0EREEx 3. Borrowings to total equity% = total borrowings/total equity
4. TELLR=REBEERBARE 4. Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities
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Five-Year Financial Summary

ZEComE ZE-=F ZE--F ZE--F% ZZT-TF
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
E RESULTS
W g Revenue 2,664,674 3,185,668 3,466,674 3,256,729 3,224,636
EE (BB /M Operating (loss)/profit (286,081) 215,094 241,231 120,300 (375,056)
BRETEFAT (B18) /I (Loss)/profit before income tax (782,828) 200,115 154,650 126,662 (735,630)
HiRE L Income tax (54,636) (47,389) (42,214) (37,188) (26,048)
FE(BR) /7B (Loss)/profit for the year (837,464) 152,726 112,436 89,474 (761,678)
BAEAEW (BE)/FIB  (Loss)/profit attributable to owners (837,464) 152,726 112,436 89,474 (761,674)
FERER Non-controlling interests - - - - (4)
EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BEE Total assets 6,158,836 7,310,256 7,678,233 7,747,276 7,585,931
BEEG Total liabilities 2,641,434 2835980 3265140 3,268,739 3,252,157
GEREA A ES Equity attributable to owners 3,517,402 4474267 4,413,093 4478537 4,333,774
kR Non-controlling interests - - - - -
BEZREE Total equity and liabilities 6,158,836 7,310,256 7,678,233 7,747,276 7,585,931

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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Directors’ Report

The Directors are pleased to present their report
together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 which
were approved by them at the board meeting held on
the date of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are the development,
manufacture, marketing and distribution of electronic
products as well as property holding.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The profit and cash flows of the Group for the year and
the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December
2024 are set out on pages 110 to 255 of this Annual
Report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

A detailed analysis of the Group’s turnover and profit
by operating segments are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors have declared an interim dividend and
now recommend a final dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2024 as follows:

BT T

HK$’000

ERHEHRE - AEREK0.02757T Interim dividend of HK$0.0275 per share paid 13,158
BIRAREAR S - BEREEITIRGD Proposed final dividend of HK$0.0300 per share

78 #0.03007T in issue 14,355

27,513

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 1 5



16

ESEHREE

Directors’ Report

RBER

AEBFAZEBER MBABEAKER
KERMFEASNTIERRE M THARE
Zw ERAFRBAZIIAEZEER
EE -BHAASEZMBRARMEREE -
FENRE M IERRMES

ERERVGRRESRAAEEFARR
ETZOoM ERAFRFAZIIAEZE
FREENFI2RIBEZHMBEHRHE -

REBRRERE

ARBHNBRTRREE BEROHI
& EARRAEREN 2 E AKR
EARZRERZS AEEBELHR
B B R B R BR300 A A
BRER R 22 RBRER MR
ER BFREEEBELEEZAE
AR A R R R TR R ER
BRI

BES ZBER

AEEBREERAEBZEEEE I
HhEREEZVYBMAYBERFES 2B E-
BEZHMEASEREZTIFEE BF -
KRLRRAE TREBRESEI &
mEFERREATHERE EAKEABET -
AEBERHEE—@ENGZ TERSE
HitReRERERRLIGENFEREE 2H

Boptdh REBETAOKREHR-—ERZ 2R
B TR -

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future development and
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 11
of this Annual Report. A discussion of the financial risks
and the management of the risks of Group are provided
in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 11 and the
Financial Highlights on pages 12 and 13 of this Annual
Report.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to environmental responsibility
through minimizing the impacts to the community,
environment and natural resources while safeguarding
the health and safety of the public. The Group actively
controls and endeavors to reduce emissions, waste
and inefficient use of resources and energy. Health,
safety and the environment are the top priorities in the
design of our products, processes and services. Our
manufacturing facilities are constantly managed and
monitored using international environmental systems.

Relationships with employees

The Group considers that employees are valuable
assets of the Group and is committed to building an
amicable and rewarding relationship with its employees.
Employees are remunerated with salary packages
commensurate with their job nature, qualification,
experience and performance. Training is provided to
employees to enhance job performance and progression
within the Group. The Group also works its best to
cultivate a harmonious workplace which enhances
employee performance and company-employee
relationship. In addition, the Group strives to provide a
safe and healthy work environment.
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Directors’ Report

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)
Community engagement

The Group takes pride in participating in community
events and volunteer activities as a key component
of our commitment to corporate responsibility. The
engagements provide opportunities for the Group
and our employees to contribute in improving local
communities. Such activities include making donations,
paying visits to elderly homes and participating in flag-
selling activities etc. Certain companies in the Group
have been awarded the Caring Company Logo by The
Hong Kong Council of Social Service in recognition of
their active participation in community activities and
good corporate citizenship.

Relationships with customers and suppliers

The Group strives to be global strategic business
partners of our customers by providing products
and services that meet or exceed our customers’
requirements for quality, reliability and value. In
accomplishing this goal, the Group endeavours to build
long-term and mutually beneficial relationships with our
suppliers, which play a crucial role in providing high
quality products and ensuring reliable delivery to our
customers.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

To the best knowledge of the Board of Directors, the
Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the year.

Subsequent events

The Group did not have any material events affecting
the Group that have occurred since the end of the
financial year.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 1 7
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable
to the Group’s largest suppliers and customers are as
follows:

ELE
%
KEERR Purchases
— & AHER — the largest supplier 8
—REABEHEHTE — five largest suppliers combined 27
SHE R Sales
—&XAREP — the largest customer 44
—IREFP&EMHEE — five largest customers combined 73

EEE HBEBASRR (REZAAE
BARRBIIARE% A £ ) 77 & 0] B
VEHA LA HERRE, 2 -

AEMBHRE

AEBBERAFZ2EE BEKEBERY
MRE14E -

By B X B R AR

TEMBRARHBTERGS M BHRERW
19

SN

KEEZ 2 BASEFRFISE R4S IR
=M EE31 -

| 7K % 48

RZZE-_WNMF+_A=+—H AQAR
BARQRARIZRARIMAIRBRELIRFE
2 Al 7k 7 & & %8 B 75 #581,403,0007T
. & #610,911,0007T ) °

(ZE ==
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No Directors, their associates or shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) were interested
at any time during the year in the above suppliers or
customers.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five years are summarised on page 14.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital during the year are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December
2024 calculated under the Company’s Bye-laws and the
Bermuda laws, amounted to HK$581,403,000 (2023:
HK$610,911,000).
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BRRE PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

RABZ ARG MASERELREZLEMRTE There are no pre-emptive rights upon the issue of
EAZTRNH ZEBEE- shares which are imposed by the Company’s Bye-laws
or Bermuda laws.

BE HEXBEARAAT LmES  PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

HE-_Z-_NMF+-_A=+—HIFE - During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the
ARARISHEEMHBARMEREE HBE Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
SEEARARERLETES - redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

ME- BERSRE PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

REEWE BELZEZEEZEHIBEN Movements in book values of property, plant and
HER R E M B mMEM TS - equipment during the year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B DONATIONS

REBRAFEzEZEREMELRZLL  Donations made by the Group for charitable and other

B4 R B®27,0007T ° purposes during the year amounted to approximately
HK$27,000.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 1 9
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada
Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel
Mr. Hung Wing Shun, Edmund
Mr. Chan Wai Ming, Hermes

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, GBS, OBE, JP
Dr. Yu Sun Say, GBM, JpP

Mr. Alfred Donald Yap, Jp

Mr. Lo Wai Ho, Ashley

In accordance with Bye-law 112 of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben, Mr. Hung Wing Shun,
Edmund and Mr. Alfred Donald Yap shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

The existing Independent Non-executive Directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term but is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the provisions of the Bye-laws of the Company.

The Board has received from each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors the annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and considers them as independent.
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Directors’ Report

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben (former name: Wong
Chung Mat, Benedict), aged 73, joined the Group in
1975. He has been a Director of the Company since
June 1990. In February 2003, he was appointed
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
Mr. Wong is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
and the Administrative Committee of the Company and
a director of various other companies of the Group. He
is also a director of Salop Hong Kong Limited which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company. He obtained a
Master of Science degree in Operations Research from
Ohio State University and was conferred an Honorary
Fellowship by the City University of Hong Kong. He has
over 50 years’ experience in the electronics industry.
Mr. Wong is the father of Ms. Wong VYin Man, Ada,
and brother of Mr. Wong Chung Ah, Johnny, Mr. Wong
Chung Yin, Michael, Mrs. Everitt, Chung Chui and
Ms. Wong Chung Yan, Claudia, and brother-in-law of
Ms. Luk Kit Ching and Ms. Woo Sin Ming; who are
substantial shareholders of the Company.

Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada, aged 47, joined the
Group in 2002 and was appointed Director of the
Company in October 2005. She is the Chairperson of
the Risk Management Committee and a member of
the Administrative Committee of the Company. She
is also a director of certain other companies of the
Group. She is responsible for Central Sourcing and
Supply Management, Finance and other departments
of the Group. She is currently a member of the
Enterprise Support Scheme Assessment Panel under
the Innovation and Technology Fund. She obtained a
Bachelor degree in Industrial Engineering and a Master
of Science in Engineering Management from University
of Southern California. Ms. Wong is the daughter of
Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben, and a niece of Mr. Wong
Chung Ah, Johnny, Mr. Wong Chung Yin, Michael,
Mrs. Everitt, Chung Chui, Ms. Wong Chung Yan,
Claudia, Ms. Luk Kit Ching and Ms. Woo Sin Ming; who
are substantial shareholders of the Company.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 21
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel, aged 76, joined
the Group in 1985. He has been a Director of the
Company since June 1990. He is also a member of
the Remuneration Committee, the Risk Management
Committee and the Administrative Committee of the
Company. He was formerly the Group’s Financial
Controller. In July 2007, he ceased to be the Group’s
Financial Controller and became a financial adviser
of the Group. He is also a director of certain other
companies of the Group. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and obtained a Bachelor degree in Social Sciences,
a Master of Arts degree in China Development
Studies and a Doctor of Philosophy degree from the
University of Hong Kong. Before joining the Group, he
had approximately 10 years’ experience with a major
international firm of accountants.

Mr. Hung Wing Shun, Edmund, aged 70, joined the
Group in April 1992 and subsequently promoted to
Senior Vice President — Sales and Marketing in January
2012. He was appointed Director of the Company in
November 2015. Mr. Hung is also a member of the
Risk Management Committee and the Administrative
Committee of the Company and a director of certain
other companies of the Group. He has over 45 years
of working experience in electronics manufacturing
industry and now has the overall responsibility of
serving a portfolio of customers at Wong’s Electronics
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Prior to joining the Group, he held various
managerial positions in manufacturing, planning, sales
& marketing departments in multinational and listed
companies. Mr. Hung obtained a Diploma in Industrial
Engineering from the Hong Kong Baptist University and
a Master degree in Business Administration from the
City University of Macau.



EENEREEEBEAAESN (A)

HITES (&)

BREB LKL RF66m N T NFXA
MAREEREEMHRIBE FEEAR
ANEMEARABBE VB EREME
EH-BR-_FT-_—FHABZER/RART
EZ-RIIAARRRITHREZEEKE RAE
BHEMETARZES REEFAERAET
NARBIHEBRRLTEM -RABTEGHM
RERREFFAARETHAGZE8 K
MAREB ZAT FORMRMABERE LT A
ARk BB SEHA2MBERE X5
ZHI R EA T MR B30 F B o

BYFHUTES

ZRHEM L coBS OBE: AF# =+ FCPA FCA"
FCPA (Aust) - FCIS  LLD * DSocSc * HonDSocSc (EJUHK) -
BA* FAIA (Hon) ' CGA (Hon) * HonHKAT  RFP (Hon) * X7 4F
R R— AN FEAMARRR BB L
FHNITESF - BNBEARAIBEZEEEEF o
FETAEKPNM(EB)SHAMEBLBHAE
RARIKEBXE W RABBAENEEAR
naE FHBBERERER AR - EHER (5
BIBRAFIEMBEEMEZREBRE AR Z
BUFRTES - FTEHELTRPEARBGH
HeRrlEZEeREERE BB EEH

TEZE VZASRNRAEZEgNIER

EEGHMARMER NATEARR
ME B E & AR B R AEEN

EEL

ESEHREE

Directors’ Report

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Chan Wai Ming, Hermes, aged 66, joined the
Group in June 2016 as Vice President of Corporate
Finance. He is responsible for all aspects relating to
accounting, finance and taxation of the Company
and its subsidiaries. He was appointed Director of
the Company in April 2021. He is also a member of
the Administrative Committee of the Company and
a director of certain other companies of the Group.
Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor degree of Business
Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Before joining the
Group, he has more than 30 years of experience in
financial management, business control and auditing
with renowned multinational and listed companies as
well as an international audit firm respectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, GBS, OBE, JP, FCPA, FCA, FCPA
(Aust), FCIS, LLD, DSocSc, HonDSocSc (EdUHK), BA, FAIA (Hon), CGA
(Hon), HonHKAT, RFP (Hon), aged 71, joined the Company
as an Independent Non-executive Director in April
1999. He is also the Chairman of the Audit Committee
of the Company. Dr. Li is the honorary chairman of
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and an independent non-
executive director of SmarTone Telecommunications
Holdings Limited, Transport International Holdings
Limited, China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company
Limited and Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited. Dr. Li
was a former member of The National Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
former member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong,
former chairman of its Public Accounts Committee,
past president of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and former adviser to the Ministry
of Finance on international accounting standards of the
People’s Republic of China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Dr. Yu Sun Say, GBMm, JP, aged 86, joined the Company
as an Independent Non-executive Director in October
1999. He is also the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company. Dr. Yu is the chairman of the HKI
Group of Companies and a director of a number
of manufacturing and investment companies. He is
an independent non-executive director of Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited, Tongda Group Holdings
Limited and Fu Shek Financial Holdings Limited. Dr. Yu
had served as a member of the Standing Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
and the Preparatory Committee for the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region acting as its Hong
Kong affairs adviser. He is currently a member of the
Standing Committee of the Chinese General Chamber
of Commerce and permanent honorary president of the
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong.

Mr. Alfred Donald Yap, Jr, aged 86, joined the
Company as an Independent Non-executive Director
in September 2004. He is also a member of the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. He is presently
a common consultant for both K.C. Ho & Fong and
Yap & Lam, Solicitors and Notaries. Mr. Yap is a former
president of The Law Society of Hong Kong and The
Law Association for Asia and the Pacific (LAWASIA).
He is also a former Hong Kong Affairs Adviser and has
served on various public and community organizations.
He was an independent non-executive director of Hung
Hing Printing Group Limited (retired on 25 May 2023).
Mr. Yap is currently an independent non-executive
director of eSun Holdings Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. Lo Wai Ho, Ashley, aged 59, joined the
Company as an Independent Non-executive Director
in November 2022. He is also a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lo is a
non-executive director and one of the founders of
Edvance International Holdings Limited (‘Edvance
International”, SEHK: 1410). Mr. Lo has over 30 years
of experience in the information technology (“IT”)
industry. Prior to founding Edvance International in
2002, he was a software engineer of DATAP Systems
Division of Sandwell Inc., whose principal business
is the development of IT systems, from December
1989 to August 1992, and he was responsible for
system development. Mr. Lo was a system engineer
of Epic Data Division of Sylogist Ltd., which is
principally engaged in the development of IT systems,
from September 1992 to October 1995, and he was
responsible for system development. From 1999 to
August 2002, Mr. Lo was a technology director of Edeas
Limited, a digital agency based in Hong Kong. Mr. Lo
graduated from the University of British Columbia in
Canada with a Bachelor of Applied Science in Electrical
Engineering in May 1989.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management

Mr. Chan Tin Lun, Byron, aged 57, joined the Group
in January 1997. He is currently Vice President and
responsible for the Group’s Technical Marketing in USA.
Mr. Chan is also a director of certain companies of the
Group, including Wong’s International USA Corporation
which is engaged in the development of the Company’s
original design and manufacturing business in the
North America market. He has more than 35 years of
experience in the field of electronics manufacturing.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan has worked in
various leading international manufacturing companies
in USA. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from the University of Colorado,
Boulder.

Mr. Tu Wing Chor, David, aged 62, first joined the
Group in February 1995 and last rejoined the Group
in July 2023. Mr. Tu is currently Vice President of New
Business Development and Sales and Marketing of the
Group. He is responsible for leading the sales team to
solicit new customers for Suzhou factory in the Yangtze
River area and taking up customers for Vietnam factory.
He is also a director of a subsidiary of the Company.
Mr. Tu holds a qualification from Blue Ocean Strategic
and has many years of senior management experience
in the electronics manufacturing industry. He obtained a
PhD degree in Business Administration from Nueva Ecija
University of Science and Technology, Philippines.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Ms. Wong Kit Yee, Kitty, aged 51, joined the Group
in August 2007 and is currently Executive Assistant
to the Chairman and Assistant Vice President of the
Group. She is responsible for overseeing Administration
in Corporate Office in Hong Kong, formulating and
implementing strategies and business plans for the
development of the Group’s property leasing and
management. Ms. Wong is also a director of certain
companies of the Group. Ms. Wong accumulated
extensive experience in various functions of office
management. She obtained a Bachelor degree of
Business Administration from the Open University of
Hong Kong.

UPDATE ON DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING
RULES

Personal Information of Director

Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada, Executive Director of the
Company, ceased to be a director of Hong Kong
Applied Science and Technology Research Institute
Company Limited upon expiry of her term of office on
20 October 2024.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short
positions of the Directors and chief executives of
the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”), were as follows:

RAEQARARBZHERE Long positions in shares of the Company
K2 BT
RGBS
Approximate
ZEKREA percentage of
EEHE g4 Number of the issued
Name of Directors Capacity ordinary shares shares
E Rk HEEH A RS EHEE 2 ()
Wong Chung Mat, Ben Benef|0|al owner and interest of 136,828,569 28.60%
controlled corporation (Note)
TEH ERnBEA
Wong Yin Man, Ada Beneficial owner 1,000,000 0.21%
PR 2 EREBA
Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel Beneficial owner 1,837,500 0.38%
Ryl ERBEEA
Yu Sun Say Beneficial owner 500,000 0.10%
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES (continued)

Long positions in shares of the Company (continued)

Note:

Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben was deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be
interested in 136,828,569 shares in the Company. These shares were held
in the following capacity:

(a) 1,000,000 shares were held by Mr. Wong Chung Mat,
personally.

Ben

(b) 135,828,569 shares were held by Salop Hong Kong Limited, which
was wholly-owned and controlled by Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2024,
none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

So far as is known to the Directors or chief executives
of the Company, as at 31 December 2024, persons
(other than the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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FERRz2HER (&) INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)
REQARARGBZHERE Long positions in shares of the Company
KL BT
RoBEDH
Approximate
EBEREE percentage of
IERREE KR EL) Number of the issued
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity ordinary shares shares
ERlEBEA (M)
Salop Hong Kong Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 135,828,569 28.39%
FEEA (H52)
Cantrust (Far East) Limited Trustee (Note 2) 126,298,413 26.40%

E/ﬁr]\ﬁﬁ
Wong Chung Ah, Johnny

R
Luk Kit Ching

Kong King International Limited

WLJ Holding Limited

THRH
Wong Chung Yin, Michael

58
Woo Sin Ming

FHE

SV

Wong Chung Yan, Claudia
New Chung Yan Limited
TR

Everitt, Chung Chui

Sycamore Assets Limited

HSBC International Trustee Limited

ERBEAN BEEZREEET2ABA (ME3)
Beneficial owner, interest of spouse and 90,308,532 18.87%
founder of a discretionary trust (Note 3)

ExlA AR EER (ME3)

Beneficial owner and interest of spouse (Note 3) 90,308,532 18.87%
BB A (M3E3(0)
Beneficial owner (Note 3(c)) 88,073,532 18.41%

REHEE 2 #aR (BEE3(c))
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3(c)) 88,073,532 18.41%

ERfBARLARHE 2B (Hi4)
Beneficial owner and joint interest (Note 4) 78,526,001 16.41%

REARB 2 ER RERER (MiT4)
Joint interest and interest of spouse (Note 4) 78,526,001 16.41%

2REFZEEA (HF5)
Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 5) 38,224,881 7.99%

REHAE 2 #a (H55)
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 5) 38,224,881 7.99%

RREFZEMA (Hi26)

Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 6) 31,379,167 6.56%
ERfEB A (M)

Beneficial owner (Note 6) 31,379,167 6.56%
fEFEA (Hi56)

Trustee (Note 6) 31,379,167 6.56%
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long positions in shares of the Company (continued)

Notes:

Salop Hong Kong Limited was a company wholly-owned and
controlled by Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben. Please refer to the
Note under the section headed “Interests of Directors and chief
executives”.

Cantrust (Far East) Limited was deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to
be interested in 126,298,413 shares in the Company. These shares
were held in the following capacity:

(a) 88,073,632 shares were held by Kong King International
Limited under a discretionary trust, of which Cantrust (Far
East) Limited was the trustee. Please refer to Note 3(c) below.

(b) 19,112,441 shares and 19,112,440 shares were held by
Aldalyn Limited and Blueford Limited respectively under a
discretionary trust, of which Cantrust (Far East) Limited was
the trustee. Please refer to Note 5 below.

Mr. Wong Chung Ah, Johnny and his wife, Ms. Luk Kit Ching, were
deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be interested in the same block of
90,308,532 shares in the Company. These shares were held in the
following capacity:

(a) 1,000,000 shares were held by Mr. Wong Chung Ah, Johnny
personally.

(b) 1,235,000 shares were held by Ms. Luk Kit Ching, wife of
Mr. Wong Chung Ah, Johnny.

(c) 88,073,532 shares were held by Kong King International
Limited under a discretionary trust, of which Mr. Wong Chung
Ah, Johnny was regarded as the founder (by virtue of the
SFO) and Cantrust (Far East) Limited was the trustee. Kong
King International Limited was wholly-owned by WLJ Holding
Limited, which was wholly-owned by Cantrust (Far East)
Limited. Each of Mr. Wong Chung Ah, Johnny, Ms. Luk Kit
Ching, Kong King International Limited, WLJ Holding Limited
and Cantrust (Far East) Limited was deemed to be interested
in the same block of 88,073,532 shares.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long positions in shares of the Company (continued)

Notes: (continued)

4. Mr. Wong Chung Yin, Michael and his wife, Ms. Woo Sin Ming, were
deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be interested in the same block of
78,526,001 shares in the Company. These shares were held in the
following capacity:

(a) 50,458,041 shares were held by Mr. Wong Chung Yin, Michael
personally.

(b) 28,067,960 shares were held by Mr. Wong Chung Yin, Michael
and Ms. Woo Sin Ming jointly.

5. Ms. Wong Chung Yan, Claudia was deemed (by virtue of the SFO)
to be interested in 19,112,441 shares and 19,112,440 shares in the
Company which were held by Aldalyn Limited and Blueford Limited
respectively (38,224,881 shares in total) under a discretionary
trust, of which Ms. Wong Chung Yan, Claudia was regarded as the
founder (by virtue of the SFO) and Cantrust (Far East) Limited was
the trustee. Aldalyn Limited and Blueford Limited were wholly-owned
by New Chung Yan Limited, which was wholly-owned by Cantrust
(Far East) Limited. Each of Ms. Wong Chung Yan, Claudia, New
Chung Yan Limited and Cantrust (Far East) Limited was deemed to
be interested in the same block of 38,224,881 shares.

6. Mrs. Everitt, Chung Chui was deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be
interested in 31,379,167 shares in the Company which were held
by Sycamore Assets Limited under a discretionary trust, of which
Mrs. Everitt, Chung Chui was regarded as the founder (by virtue of
the SFO) and HSBC International Trustee Limited was the trustee.
Sycamore Assets Limited was wholly-owned by HSBC International
Trustee Limited. Each of Mrs. Everitt, Chung Chui, Sycamore Assets
Limited and HSBC International Trustee Limited was deemed to be
interested in the same block of 31,379,167 shares.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors are not aware of
any other persons who, as at 31 December 2024, had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”) on 26 June 2020. No option has been
granted under the Scheme since its adoption date and
up to 31 December 2024. As at 1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024, the number of options available for
grant under the scheme mandate was 47,848,379.

SUMMARY OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A summary of the Scheme disclosed in accordance with

the Listing Rules is as follows:

BH 1. Purpose

B EEREEHASE B B R K The purpose of the Scheme is to reward the

BEERZEERKRZ2EHE(RTX eligible participants (as described in paragraph 2

FoBRFM) VWHBEBREFERRARR below) who have contributed or will contribute to

HRR BB ZHRESEAAH the Group and to encourage them to work towards

MERMHZEE- enhancing the value of the Company and its shares
for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders
as a whole.

SHE 2. Participants

GEBL2HEBRRESTE2RRAY Eligible participants include Directors (including

HABHAEBEFRERMZASET Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors

ARKEBERRICES (BERNTES and Independent Non-executive Directors)

IENTEERBIIERNTESE) RE and employees (whether full time or part time

B(TwmETRIxEBES) - employees) of any member of the Group who
the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

A FRITZRMDER 3. Total number of shares available for issue

BIEFTEIRER FTRITHRMODEE S
47,848,379h% - HHE M A E H HAK
NEIRETRMD 210% - B1TERE
ZET B R A R BT fa] £ 4t BE RS 5T &
BEMEMRITEZMBRITEER
EMA BT ZRNBEEE LR
TEBERNQATTEDETRND
30% °

The total number of shares available for issue
under the scheme mandate is 47,848,379 shares,
representing 10% of the issued shares of the
Company as at the date hereof. The overall limit on
the number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.
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SUMMARY OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to any
grantee (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the Scheme and any other schemes
of the Company in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of shares of the Company in issue,
unless approved by shareholders.

Period within which the shares must be
taken up under an option

The option period of a particular option is the
period during which the option can be exercised,
such period to be determined and notified by the
Board to each grantee at the time of making the
offer, and in any event such period of time shall not
expire later than 10 years from the date of grant.

Minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Board at its
sole discretion, there is a minimum period of 1 year
for which an option must be held after its date
of grant before such an option can be exercised
under the terms of the Scheme.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option
and the payment period

To accept the grant of an option, HK$10 as
consideration for the grant of an option must be
paid by the grantee to the Company within 21 days
from the date on which an offer letter is delivered
to the grantee.



BRETIAHNE (&)

8. BETHEZEX:

TEEERESS2RMNBETE ER
EABER T IFERTIZ&ZSE :

@ BMORKRLBEH(BERER
BIRBRXMEBERERMERL
W&

b) MHREEKREHERSESZEH
REEZ B RREBRATR 2 FH
WmE: &

) MBHmEE-
9. ZFEIZEMH

ZitA R EZEF A+ AB#E
E?:—?—?EE/\H +£E|( ?E;/Z
H)IF10F BRI B & -

RERODEZ 2L H

BREBARMERT 2SN A QT KB AR - HAE
LB R EERALERAFEAMER L
T2 ERARRZEFTHER ﬁLBU\
BdRESAZIHEANEBBEALRR

s H A awfljﬂfﬂﬁi@/ﬁ/\.’kZHX

AR A R ) 1B 7 T JE BRUR 25

ESEHREE

Directors’ Report

SUMMARY OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(continued)

8. Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price shall be such price determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not be less than the higher of:

(a) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be
a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant;
and

(c) the nominal value of the shares.
9. Life of the Scheme

The Scheme shall remain in force for 10 years
commencing on 26 June 2020 up to and including
25 June 2030.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme, at no time
during the year was the Company, its subsidiaries, its
associated corporations, or its specified undertaking
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or
chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company, its associated corporations or any other body
corporate.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company during the year, save for the share option
scheme which subsisted at the year end.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes
are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Where any transaction mentioned in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements constitutes a
connected transaction, the disclosure and approval
requirements, if any, under the Listing Rules have been
complied with.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director of the Company had, whether
directly or indirectly, a material interest subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

There is no service contract, which is not determinable
by the Company or its subsidiaries within 1 year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation), with any Director proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.
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PERMITTED DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND
INSURANCE

The Bye-laws of the Company provide that every
Director or other officer of the Company and the
liquidator or trustees (if any), whether at present or in
the past, shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution
of the duties of his office, to the extent permitted by the
laws.

The Company has also taken out and maintained
Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance throughout the
year, which provides appropriate cover for certain legal
actions that may be brought against its Directors and
officers.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

As at 31 December 2024, the details of the significant
investment are set out below:

BERERLLA
BFERMEE Proportion
NCIES SR L i B Number of of ownership FE%£%
Name of company Place of incorporation shares held interest  Principal activities
EEEARES REER
Talent Chain Investments Limited BVI 357 35.7%  Investment holding
BRZEEERAR (M) BN TER ESSEC]
Crown Opal Investment Limited (Note) Hong Kong N/A 35.7%  Property holding

WiE: BREEAFRAF ATalent Chain Investments

Limited 2 ff B~ &

RZZE-_WMF+=-HA=+—H8"  RTalent
Chain Investments Limited & 7@ 2% & H R A
A2 & 58 575 ¥1,591,600,0007T * 7% &
HERBAAEEBEEY MEREEERA
BT Y 2 KA A B 1B &% %1,808,600,000
7L BIRE BB E29.4% o

Note: Crown Opal Investment Limited is a subsidiary of Talent Chain
Investments Limited.

As at 31 December 2024, net investment in Talent
Chain Investments Limited and Crown Opal Investment
Limited was HK$1,591.6 million, which amount exceeds
5% of the total assets of the Group, and the fair value
of properties held under Crown Opal Investment Limited
was HK$1,808.6 million, which represents 29.4% of the
total assets of the Group.
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EARE (&)

REBEE-_ZT_AF+_A=T—HLFE"
JE {5 Talent Chain Investments Limited } 7 &
KEBRNGE 2 EERBE446,700,0007T
ZeRBERTEEEEPEEBER-

Talent Chain Investments Limited X 7 2 1%
BERARIZEER/RFBUREENTWO
Harbour Squarefi ¥ EF &K EEAKE 2
MEZ R NEEBREARSAEEGZY
¥EH 2D UMMELEA®R-

HEBAANMBEXE

BELFTRNF+=ZEBB I 2RES T
RZFE-_MF+A=+—H BF TR
EEMA & 30pen Vantage Limited &
Talent Chain Investments Limited 2 & ZH #
986,900,0007T " HE AN EB R — T M F
T_A=+-—BHREEZ8% - ZFERA
EEEREE -ZEBRRTIR T N\FE
TN F FHEEBATZA=T—HBZH
BEERRE#S-

ERZFAELENMBEMM BN
BB HRRMIEI8

RARRAIDARZZE—RF+—A=Z+THEHBER
—E-RAF+-_A+HRBBEMAMIER
WA A B Talent Chain Investments Limited
REFEIINBER REBE ETHRE HEX
KRR —HBEERG E—THBHRZA
0 NGB KA o
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the share of
losses of Talent Chain Investments Limited and Crown
Opal Investment Limited, which included in the share of
losses of joint ventures, was HK$446.7 million.

The investment in Talent Chain Investments Limited and
Crown Opal Investment Limited is holding a commercial
building in Kwun Tong, Two Harbour Square. It is the
Group’s preference to hold its interest in its attributable
share of the property project as much as possible for
leasing purposes after taking into account the Group’s
financial requirements.

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

Based on the disclosure obligations under Chapter
13 of the Listing Rules, as at 31 December 2024, the
loans advanced to Open Vantage Limited and Talent
Chain Investments Limited, the joint venture companies
of the Group, amounted to HK$986.9 million, which
amount exceeds 8% of the total assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2024. The advances are unsecured
and interest-free. The advances were made during the
financial years ended 31 December from 2008 to 2024.

The summarised financial information of the joint venture
companies are set out in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

On 24 November 2015 and 15 December 2015, the
Company issued an announcement and a circular
respectively in relation to the provision of additional
financial assistance to Talent Chain Investments Limited
which constituted a major transaction for the Company
under the Listing Rules. Further details were set out in
the announcement and circular.
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GROUP BORROWINGS AND
CAPITALISED

INTEREST

Bank loans and overdrafts repayable within 1 year or
on demand are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements. Bank loans and other borrowings
repayable within a period of more than 1 year are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
No interest was capitalised by the Group during the
year.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL MATTERS

The Group’s performance on environmental and social
matters is set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The principal corporate governance practices of the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this Annual Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors of
the Company as at the date of this Directors’ Report,
the Company believes that the number of shares of the
Company which are in the hands of the public is above
the relevant prescribed minimum percentage.
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= B Em AUDITOR

KNEEZZHEHEABEEFHKBEEEAISE  The financial statements for the year have been audited
BREZ EERER EHEBT- by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.

REXEEFE On behalf of the Board

T B2 WONG CHUNG MAT, BEN
FEFTIHAEZ Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
BEE ZE-RAF=A=-+XAH Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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The Company is pleased to present the Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report for the year
ended 31 December 2024 to provide an overview of the
Group’s management of significant environmental, social
and governance issues. The report has been prepared
with reference to the ESG Reporting Code in Appendix
C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange ESG Code”) which is applicable for the
financial year of 2024. In the opinion of the Directors of
the Company, for the year under review, the Company
has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions
set out in the Stock Exchange ESG Code.

This Report covers the core activities of the Group
which involve operations of the three manufacturing
factories located in Shenzhen, Vietnam and Suzhou
under our wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely Welco
Wong’s Technology (Shenzhen) Limited, Welco
Technology Vietnam Company Limited and Welco
Technology (Suzhou) Limited, respectively. Furthermore,
in respect of the social aspect, the Company’s principal
office in Hong Kong is also involved. Additional
information in relation to the Group’s corporate
governance is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this Annual Report.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 41



42

RIR HERERREE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

EEEEERE

EFeRRERBEEREELASENR
BoHekEANBR KEBEEEESE:
&ﬂiﬁﬁu%ﬁ'@%%ﬁﬁmﬁéﬁ
RE HekEAREE - B9 THTME
B RE e kELRR KEB &
ERBUIBBRBEAEBNRE HERE
AT HBIRBERERNEEZR -EF
eELEF-RFAm BERFGHHMEN
HHRE HEREREENMBZERS
R ASKSEERYEASERTEEEAS
HERHIIRRE g RERAIENE B
EEeRERE LEREAMBENRE
BB RB -HERERAIENEHD
RIEBEMEBSHEBNBE WERE
MEEEBEELRERRE LS RERNE
R ER-

58 5 B

AEENRE H@REARBENFE
5E X BRIFEFHKFHNBEEKR

RIE -HERE

) AEBEUSEEEEANAXNREBERS:

(i) NESWHEREELE SR A%
HNHERS AEFPRERHEEELLZEN
Em

(i) BYRMEREEGYHNITIERER &

HAFRFEFBE BE %ﬂmmﬂ
/%&Eb%ljgu\&lﬁ%ﬁtu u‘“ﬁ'%u

%ﬁ%»%%&ﬁﬁ%%%l%ﬁ:

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

BOARD MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for
overseeing the Group’s ESG objectives, strategies
and management approach; and sets the process
to evaluate, prioritize and manage material ESG
issues. The Board regularly assesses and reviews
the environmental, social and governance risks and
opportunities, formulates its strategies and ensures the
establishment and maintenance of an effective control
systems on the environmental, social and governance
aspects of its business. The Board discusses, reviews
and evaluates all relevant ESG issues and the progress
towards the targets at least once a year. The Group
has set up an ESG Working Group which consists of
members from senior and middle management to assist
the Board to implement the ESG related strategies
and targets. The ESG Working Group strives to guide
and monitor various business functions to effectively
implement the measures to achieve the ESG strategies
and targets.

ESG STRATEGY

The Group’s ESG Strategy is to strive for high level of
positive outcomes on 5 major areas:

(i)  Commit to do business with high degree of ethical
governance;

(i) Provide high quality and safe products to the
customers with a well-established system to select
high quality, efficient and reliable suppliers;

(ii) Establish a good and supportive workplace that
upholds fair and equal treatment, competitive
welfare and incentive system and an effective
training program aim for sustaining a competent,
professional and ethical workforce;
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RE - HE2RERKK (F) ESG STRATEGY (continued)

(ivy BE2EZBEETES ZBZFH K (iv) Actively participate in local community activities
HERE BER2HAZHTRIEE- and good corporate citizenship through engaging
B RTFEEARRBE UNBIEHRE various volunteering works, charity events and
BE XHEREAT K education donation with an aim to create shared

value and support the people in need; and

() BUSTENREEEBEX WMREE (v Setup asound environmental management system

2REEH RABERES RS DD to ensure compliance throughout the operations

- RERERESNAOBR- meanwhile actively control and endeavor to reduce
emissions, wastes and inefficient use of resources
and energy.

BFBEIHNRE  ERERHE

Our ESG areas of concern

- TESAERRESRMIE
Workplace Quality and
Employee Relationship

° ﬁfﬁyﬁﬁﬁ%"]@éf, 1 . @ﬂ%

Emissions and Energy Employment

Conservation 44 T

O 25 ~

.« AKX , Labour Standards

Water Consumption HE B

= ° =1

- BERYER Development and Training

Waste Management -
. R ER riesty
= IR Health and Safety

Other Use of Resources
SRS - ZEIED
© RUIRE Operating Practices

Climate Change .
o - GRS
Supply Chain Management

FRAER DEEA *EEEE

=N Prfggt Responsibility
Also covered in the ° &_Eﬁ' .
Corporate Governance Anti-corruption

Report of this - HEEE

Annual Report Community Investment
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The report has been prepared in accordance with the
following principles and is in compliance with the ESG
reporting guideline:

1)

2)

3)

4)

Materiality

The interests and expectation of stakeholders is
taken into account through the engagement with
the stakeholders and the materiality assessment.

Quantitative

Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and source of conversion factors used
have been disclosed. Data reported in this report
have been evaluated and validated.

Balance

The information in this report is presented in a
format that the users can see the positive and
negative trends in performance on a year-to-year
basis.

Consistency

The report is prepared using consistent
methodologies. Information can be compared
on a year-to-year basis. Any significant variation
between reporting period can be identified and
explained.
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MATERIALITY

It is the commitment of the Group to manufacture
and supply good quality products, while caring about
the community, environment and natural resources
and safeguarding the health and safety of the public.
The Group has set up business standards and ethical
practices which enable us to fulfill our commitments to
our stakeholders, including shareholders and investors,
regulatory bodies, communities, customers, suppliers
and employees.

Our materiality assessment involves a four-step process:

1) Identification of a pool of relevant environmental,
social and economics topics;

2) Prioritization based on the impact and concerns of
stakeholders;

3) Validation and approval of the stakeholders
engagement results; and

4) Review and
improvement.

identification of the gaps for
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Stakeholder Groups

MATERIALITY (continued)

We realise that dialogues with stakeholders as well
as their feedback and concerns are crucial for the
continuous enhancement and growth of the Group.

Communication channels are as follows:

SHERE

Engagement Channels

BRERRERESE

Shareholders and Investors

FE /RS
Annual/interim reports
NAEIME

Company webpage
B

Circulars

REXRE

General meetings

EEHE
Regulatory Bodies

HE

Reports

RE, 7 A

Certifications/licensing

g3 EBMEXR

Meetings, emails and correspondences

HE
Communities

BEEY

Charity events

BE MK

Emails and correspondences

BF

Customers

NEIME

Company webpage

MEERE

Satisfaction surveys

g3 BERIEK

Meetings, emails and correspondences

it e
Suppliers

HrEr T {4

Supplier assessment

&% BEHREL

Meetings, emails and correspondences

ET
Employees

2ERE

Meetings and emails
VR

Performance assessment
= allEt 2l

Training programs
NGIbEE)

Company events

NER

Notice board

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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MATERIALITY (continued)

PRETHNEB R AT EENEZEEEM The Materiality matrix after external and internal
assessment is summarized as follows:

M -

EEZMRME
Materiality Assessment

5.00 ' ‘
4.50 9 16 0 20
12
z 0
g 400 &) 17 @203
N E 13
i S e 14 15
£2S 350
5 °
Erge}
g 3.00
2,50 @
2.00 2.50 3.00 3.50 4.00 4.50 5.00
R ENERE
Important to stakeholders
gE 1 i HH 1
Area Topic Area Item Topic
ES ST ST ERe
Business Strategy and 12 Diversity and Equal
Performance Opportunity
s Rl kiR ERE
AnEE ) ; |
N ; 13 Talent Attraction and Retention
Govﬁfance Risk Management Mang_gement o
R&E 8 TRF R IIERE R
Anti-corruntion 14 Employee Benefits and
P ®T Workplace Well-being
EERER Labour 15 ERRE .
Law Compliance Development and Training
ERER o o BriEmze
nergy Consumption s
Management Occupational Health and Safety
AkgE ;  BIRBINE |
Water Management Employee and Labour Practice
BEREHMN o
Greenhouse Gas Emission
BH 9 HER &R AT
Environmental @sﬁ%ﬁ\f}?ﬂmerials Supplier Mannagement and
ERREBE Assessment
FEEMER Product and EREERT2
Waste Management Service Product Quality and Safety
BREE
Transportation Management
frenem HE 0 HESE
Chemical Management Community Community Engagement
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group believes that environmental protection,
low carbon footprint, resources conservation and
sustainability development is the key trends in the
society. We are committed to minimize the impacts to
the environment and natural resources and continuously
improve the environmental sustainability of the business.

Our vision is to bring good quality products to the
customers around the world while actively control and
endeavor to reduce emissions, wastes and inefficient
use of resources and energy. An Environmental, Health
and Safety Committee (“EHSC”) has been established
to oversee environmental, health and safety matters.
Our manufacturing facilities are constantly managed
and monitored under international environmental quality
systems (ISO 14001 and ISO 45001).
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Our Environmental Policy includes:

Educate and motivate all our employees to be
accountable and responsible for environment
protection;

Prevent pollution through evaluation of
manufacturing processes and materials to eliminate
or minimize environmental impact due to hazardous
substances or wastes;

Identify hazards in all activities, and take
appropriate actions to control risks and avoid
serious injuries;

Conserve all resources through efficient usage;

Comply with all relevant environmental laws and
government requirements;

Review the effectiveness of the environmental
management system through regular audits for
continuous improvements;

Meet international hazardous substance regulations
and green requirements from specific customers;
and

Share and address compliance concerns with all
interested parties.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Emissions and Energy Conservation

We have taken rigorous efforts to enhance and upgrade
the environmental facilities and improve the capabilities
in processing and reducing wastes and emissions
related to hazardous elements in the manufacturing
process.

Our air emissions were generated mainly by company
vehicles. In 2024, our NOx, SOx and PM were 1,143.72
kgs, 0.73 kgs and 82.24 kgs respectively. Comparing
with the result in 2023, our air emissions decreased
about 29% and the decrease was mainly due to
shipment required local vehicle transportation decrease
and use of new energy vehicles to replace oil vehicles in
2024. Relevant departments have been taking measures
to maintain vehicles in good conditions in order to
minimise air emission.

Our greenhouse gas emissions were contributed mainly
by electricity consumptions, company vehicles and
carbon emissions from the production machines. In
2024, our CO, emission was 14,141 tons and electricity
consumptions was 25,839,266 kwh. Comparing with the
result in 2023, there was 13.4% decrease due to energy
efficiency improved and shipment decreased in 2024.
The Company considered great importance on energy
efficiency to minimise the greenhouse gas emission.

We conducted regular environmental testing through
government certified laboratories with respect to
international standards and government laws and
regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Emissions and Energy Conservation (continued)
Actions we have taken to reduce air emissions,

emission of CO,, energy consumption; and improve
energy efficiency include:

Replace low efficiency conditioner units;

Optimize the production areas and production lines
usage to save energy;

Turn company cars from oil to electrical;

Optimize the air conditioning temperature without
affecting humidity at the production floors;

Continue the effort to replace part of the electricity
by solar energy, i.e.: installing solar street lamps;

Installed variable frequency devices of air
conditioning systems;

Replaced common lamps with LED;
Upgraded HVAC system;

Optimize the use time and the temperature of the
air conditioner in office building to save energy;

Optimize weekend production arrangement to
improve the efficiency of energy usage; and

Continue the trees plantation around our
manufacturing facilities to help absorbing carbon
emissions.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Water Consumption

We endeavor to conserve water effectively in the
operations and implemented water conservation
programs as follow:

- Promote and motivate employees to support the
water-saving program;

— Reduced chiller running time and improved the
utilization;

- Upgraded the deionised water system with new
technology and high efficiency;

- Regularly inspect the water facilities every day
to prevent long running water or drip and avoid
waste;

- Control the pipe water valve in toilet and public
area, reduce the water valve flow rate by 30% to
save water; and

- Replaced with infrared sensor faucet in canteen.

In 2024, water consumption was 170,626 tons which
was decreased 14.9% by comparing with the result
in 2023, mainly due to improve the efficiency of water
usage.

Waste Management

In 2024, hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes
were 127 tons and 1,033 tons respectively. Comparing
with the result in 2023, hazardous wastes decreased
16.4% mainly due to the volume decreased for the
PCB scrap materials and also waste organic solvent.
Non-hazardous wastes decreased by 9.9% mainly due
to the efforts of reducing non-hazardous waste and
shipment decrease in 2024. With the aim to create a
sustainable society, we conduct strict classification
of hazardous wastes and non-hazardous wastes, and
hazardous wastes are stored in special areas, handled
by well-trained employees in accordance with working
instructions and disposed through accredited vendors.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Waste Management (continued)

Waste reduction and recycling have been promoted and
implemented in the factories. We recycled solder dross
from the wave soldering machines to reduce the amount
of hazardous wastes. We returned some of the chemical
containers and packaging to the suppliers to reuse and
recycle. We used recycles boxes to reduce the use of
packing materials.

Other Use of Resources

Package materials are used to protect our products
in order to minimise the risk of damage during
transportation. In 2024, package materials used was
1,385 tons which was 13.3% lower than the usage in
2023, mainly caused by the decease of shipments with
carton boxes in 2024. To reduce the usage of packing
materials, we implemented recycle box for more
customers to replace the carton box.

Climate Change

Climate change is mainly caused by the emission
of greenhouse gases due to burning fossil fuels for
energy uses, steelmaking, cement production and
forest loss. The impact of climate change has affected
the economies throughout the world. The Group
recognized the importance of addressing the climate
related challenges and opportunities and supporting the
transition to the low carbon economy. The Group has
identified and assessed the potential climate related
risks including physical risks and transition risks as well
as their potential financial impacts to the business. The
Group has developed a climate change strategy and
formulated various actions to cope with climate change.
Also, the Group reviews relevant law and regulations
periodically to ensure the requirements are timely
updated and followed.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Climate Change (continued)

The Company is adopting the carbon neutrality concept
and is committed to reduce the greenhouse gases by
minimising the energy consumption and improving the
energy efficiency from our daily operations through
various energy saving programs for examples, using
lower emission or renewable energy and tree plantation
etc.

Our Group has three manufacturing factories located in
Shenzhen, Suzhou and Vietnam. They are not located
in areas where disruption to the Group’s manufacturing
activities may happen due to sustained high
temperature or extreme bad weather conditions. The
Group also recognises the impacts of climate change
which includes both global warming and weather
patterns change can affect our operation and safety
of its people. The Company has adopted appropriate
measures for extreme weather events. The Company
has comprehensive guidelines to all employees for
typhoon and rainstorm warnings in accordance with
the government regulations. The Company has strictly
followed the measures for employees working in hot
weather and comply with the government regulations.
The Company has the corresponding facilities to prevent
the related employees working in high temperature
environment due to hot weather and closely monitor the
weather information for work arrangements on time.

The Group is also actively looking for the potential
business opportunities to enhance the operational
resilience and potential business growth. The Group
is incorporating climate change considerations in
procurement processes to use more environmental
friendly and recycled materials, increase the use of
renewable energy and improve the energy consumption
in our production process. As customers demand for
sustainable, green and low carbon products grows, this
can lead to a positive impact on our future business.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Targets

We aim to minimise the impacts to the environment
while our electronic manufacturing business consume
significant amount of energy and resources. By
implementing lean manufacturing, automation and
optimising logistics within the factories, we strive
to improve our resources and energy efficiencies,
productivity and to reduce the use of raw materials.
Environmental targets and plans are conveyed to the
employees to maintain an environmental cautious
workplace.

The Group is committed and has formulated a series
of environmental measures and set up the targets to
reduce its operational impact on the environment.

The Company has set the targets in Year 2025 to
reduce intensities of energy use, greenhouse gas
emission, waste and water consumption by 5%
compared to the result of Year 2021.

On 29 May 2024, in order to actively practice green

and low-carbon production and lifestyle, accelerate the
comprehensive development and green transformation
of the factory as well as to actively promote emission
reduction and green projects, our Shenzhen factory
and city management leaders conducted a charity tree
planting activity at Wanfenghu Wetland Park in Bao’an
District.
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SOCIAL
Workplace Quality and Employee Relationship
Employment

We consider that employees are our valuable assets and
are committed to building an amicable and rewarding
relationship with the employees.

Our policy upholds a fair and equal treatment in areas
of recruitment and promotion, compensation and
dismissal, working hours, diversity and other benefits
and welfare. We adopt a remuneration policy which
is commensurate with job nature, qualification and
experience of employees. In addition to the provision
of annual bonuses and employee related insurance
benefits, discretionary bonuses are also rewarded
to employees based on individual performance.
Remuneration packages and policies are reviewed
periodically to ensure that compensation and benefits
are in line with the market-competitive pay level. We
arrange with some hospitals in China to ensure our
staffs can receive immediate medical services when
working outside their home countries. The Group is
committed to maintaining good corporate governance,
achieving the highest standard of integrity, probity
and accountability by enforcing Whistleblowing Policy.
Employees at all levels are expected to conduct
themselves with integrity, impartiality and honesty which
enable our stakeholders to have trust and faith in the
Group to take care of their needs and to fulfill its social
responsibility.

In the areas of recruitment and promotion,
compensation and dismissal, statutory laws and
regulations are strictly complied with. Overtime is on
voluntary basis and is compensated according to the
local laws.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Workplace Quality and Employee Relationship
(continued)

Employment (continued)

We value diversity, equal opportunity and anti-
discrimination in our workforce regardless of gender,
race, age, marital status and nationality. To promote
the gender sensitivity concept in the daily work of our
staff, the Company has joined the gender focal point
network (“GFP Network”) for listed companies set up
by the Labour and Welfare Bureau and the Women’s
Commission of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region Government since 2016. Under the GFP
Network, our designated representatives will serve as
the contact and resource persons for communication
and collaboration on gender-related matters between
the Company and the Government with a target to
enhance our gender awareness and understanding of
gender mainstreaming.

Labour Standards

We prohibit the employment of child labour in pursuance
of the International Labor Organization Conventions,
national laws or any other applicable law or standard.
We also prohibit all kinds of forced or compulsory labour
under any conditions, including bonded, forced and/
or compulsory prison labour to work. We also follow
the highest standard regarding the social insurance
requirements for the employees’ contributions.

The Company has a strict recruitment procedure
including checking identity documents and performing
background verifications to ensure the employment
candidates are lawfully employable. No employment is
allowed before the verification process is successful
completed. It is very unlikely child and forced labour will
be hired.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Workplace Quality and Employee Relationship
(continued)

Labour Standards (continued)

The Group is not aware of non-compliance of child and
forced labour-related laws and regulations (including but
not limited to: “Employment of Children Regulations”
and “Employment Ordinance”). To comply with the laws
and regulations related to child and force labour, any
employment will be terminated immediately in case of
any non-compliance case is discovered.

Development and Training

We allocate ample resources to staff training and
development with the aim of sustaining a competent,
professional and ethical staff force that will contribute
to the success of the Group.

Our commitment to staff development is also aligned
with the expectation that authorised institutions should
engage and deploy personnel with sufficient skills,
knowledge and experience for the discharge of their
duties. There are reinforcement and refresher training
programs to ensure that employees are in possession
of the latest information and skills for carrying out
their duties with the highest standards, for examples,
leadership training, team building and supervisory skills,
safety and sales product and technical training, etc.
In addition, we also sponsor and provide time-off for
employees who take external training programs relevant
to their duties and responsibilities. We have internal
certified trainers to train relevant employees for required
technical certifications. Employees may also join
external training programs on certifications required.
We also recruit some graduates each year to take up
first level jobs and develop them to the upper levels, for
examples, technicians, buyer, planner, etc.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Workplace Quality and Employee Relationship
(continued)

Health and Safety

We are committed to providing and ensuring healthy
and safe working conditions and environment free from
danger and hazards to our employees. It is our principle
that occupational safety and health of employees
should be given the first and foremost consideration at
work. We implement our safety management system in
accordance with the ISO 45001 standard. Health and
safety issues concerning our employees are escalated
to the EHSC for decisions and actions. In addition,
certain specific positions, such as nurse and safety
officers, are employed to ensure that the workplace
is safe and that safety device and protections are
adequate to avoid any possible injuries arising from
our work. An examination of whether the workplace
is contaminated by particles is conducted by a
government-recognised third party on an annual basis.
We also arrange relevant workers to take body check
periodically. Furthermore, we provide our employees
with regular intensive training programs to alert their
safety awareness.

To provide relief on job pressure, we organise and
encourage employees to participate the recreational
activities organised by the Group such as annual dinner,
Christmas party, birthday gathering, interest class and
outing from time to time.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Workplace Quality and Employee Relationship
(continued)

Health and Safety (continued)

Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety
(“OH&S”) Policy:

1. To protect environment and provide safe and
healthy working conditions for the prevention of
work-related injury and ill health through continuous
education.

2. To conserve energy & resources and prevent
pollution through elimination of hazardous
substances or wastes.

3. To prevent work-related injuries and ill health
through elimination of hazards and reduction of
OH&S risk.

4. To comply with the relevant International and
National laws and regulations on Environmental
and OH&S as well as with customer’s specific
requirements on management of hazardous
substances in product.

5. To review the effectiveness of the Environmental
and OH&S management system through audits to
make continuous improvements.

6. To encourage the consultation and participation of
employees through worker’s representatives.
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SOCIAL (continued)
Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group understands the importance of the supply
chain management for sustainability and committed to
establish continuous and long term relationship with the
suppliers to procure high quality materials efficiently.
We have suppliers from different regions globally.
A supplier management system is established for
selecting and qualifying suppliers to ensure the quality
of the purchased materials complies with the relevant
laws and regulations. Based on adequate qualification,
suppliers are subject to assessment and on-site audits
on product quality as well as capabilities and quality
consistency tests made by our quality department. The
Group only makes purchases from suppliers listed in
approved vendor list. A new supplier can only be added
to the approved vendor list upon detailed assessment
and approval according to the supplier management
system. The suppliers recognise the importance of our
requirements on business ethics, health and safety
environment and public responsibilities. The suppliers
need to confirm to meet the requirements and are
checked according to supplier management system
before approval. Regular review is conducted with key
suppliers on their scorecard performance. Suppliers falil
to meet the Group’s standards may result in termination
of the cooperation.
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SOCIAL (continued)
Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility

Bringing high quality and safe products to our
customers around the world is our main objective. Our
Policy includes:

— Achieve total customer satisfaction through total
commitment to quality;

- Operate our system to fulfill customers’
requirements, international laws and regulations as
well as management’s direction; and

—  Comply with all relevant legislative requirements on
environmental and occupational health and safety.

The Company has established quality assurance
procedure to ensure the quality of incoming materials
and process quality, final product inspection. Product
quality and safety are ensured by defining correct
manufacturing process and process controls. Regular
internal reviews are conducted to ensure the products
meet with the customer expectations. Regular product
inspections by both internal and external professional
parties also constitute an important part of the overall
safety program. Reliability tests are conducted to
evaluate product risks. Our quality systems are in
compliance with international standards like ISO 9001,
IATF 16949 and ISO 13485 standards.
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SOCIAL (continued)
Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

The Company is fully aware of the importance in
protecting intellectual property rights of our own
and customers’ intellectual property rights. The
Company has signed non-disclosure agreements with
the customers and suppliers and has a strict policy
to govern the rules and procedures to protect the
confidential information, personal data and intellectual
property rights of the customers and the suppliers.
The Company also applied certificates to protect the
own intellectual property rights for our products and
trademark. Our information security systems are in
compliance with international standard ISO 27001. Our
internal policies and procedures for information are
based on this standard.

Anti-corruption

Our Anti-Corruption Policy and Code of Conduct
provide guidelines to all of our staff to meet the
high standards of integrity and honesty in their daily
operation internally and externally in order to prevent
and detect any kinds of bribery and corruption
prohibited by local laws and internal regulations.
This is also to ensure that the Group operates to the
high standards of business behaviour and ethics in
our engagement with customers, business partners,
shareholders, employees and the business community.
Employees are required to sign an undertaking not to
engage in any acts of corruption when being employed.
Business partners are notified of the Group’s Supplier
General Rules of Conduct to ensure their integrity in
the dealings with the Group. We conduct periodical
training in respect of these policies to employees and
refreshing training to employees involved in purchasing
and engineering every year. We also conduct regular
seminars on integrity every year. We have provided
reading materials relating to anti-corruption to form part
of the Directors’ training during 2024. We have zero
tolerance towards non-compliance of the Group’s Anti-
Corruption Policy.
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SOCIAL (continued)
Operating Practices (continued)
Anti-corruption (continued)

In addition, in order to achieve the highest standards of
openness, probity and accountability, we have adopted
the Whistleblowing Policy to encourage disclosure of
any misconduct or irregularities to the Company in a
confidential way. All reported cases are handled with
care by the Group and are investigated in a fair and
proper manner.

Community Investment

The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Wong’s
Electronics Company Limited, were awarded the Caring
Company Logo by The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service for the thirteenth consecutive year. These serve
as recognition of the Group’s active participation in
community activities and good corporate citizenship.

The Group also participated in various events organised
by voluntary organizations to support and enhance
family functioning, and endeavor to contribute to
the building of a humane and caring society in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. We support fund raising for
providing immediate assistance to those suffered from
misfortunes and to promote environmental protection in
community.

Over the years, we have been taking an active role
in various volunteering works, charity events and
education donation with an aim to create shared value
and support the people in need. Besides engaging
our employees to participate in those community and
charity events, we encourage them to bring along
their family members. In 2024, the direction of our
community services was focused on the elderly and
those grassroot families in need.
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e (F) SOCIAL (continued)
HERE (E) Community Investment (continued)

RZZE-_NF_ARB AENEEHFF- On 5 February 2024, to celebrate the Chinese New

ARFAEFEETITARAREZL S EELTER  Year, the Company donated knee warmers and delivered

NEBEERITEMTIRREZREBMERE greetings to the elderly in the SAGE Mrs. Wong Yee

PLREBBREZER R Z EAM- Jar Jat Memorial Home For The Elderly and Yan Chai
Hospital Wong Wha San Wong Yee Jar Jat Day Care
Centre For The Elderly.
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SOCIAL (continued)

Community Investment (continued)

On 6 June 2024, on the occasion of the Dragon Boat
Festival, volunteers of our Shenzhen factory went to
Wanfeng Community to deliver gifts and warmth to four
families in need.
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On 13 September 2024, on the occasion of the Mid-
Autumn Festival, our Shenzhen factory delivered gifts
and greetings to the Wanfeng street cleaners for warmth
and care.
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e (F) SOCIAL (continued)
HERE (E) Community Investment (continued)

R-Z-MFE+-ANB  FINITHEM On 9 December 2024, our Shenzhen factory sent
MHEEAERRN#ERE BEERAEE- condolences and warmth to families with major illnesses
and difficulties in the community.

RZZE-_WMF+_A+=—H &MNIHE#B On 12 December 2024, jointly with Suzhou

ANt R AMEBEREX FBEEE Neighbourhood Community, our Suzhou factory sent

B AL RKMEBEKRNE T &K BE%L  care and warmth to elderly people living alone, allowing

HeBmBETEBEMRBHEEIR BMEE them to taste delicious dumplings in winter and

0 R o provide spiritual comfort. Through our volunteer team’s
companionship and communication, their sense of
loneliness has been alleviated.
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FRENIEE KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
a) RIE a) Environmental
HERE Quantitative disclosure

BRENEE ZE-mE  —Z-=F

Key
Performance
Indicators 2024 2023
BRERM (AF) Air emissions (kgs)
-R&ly - NOx A1.1 1,143.72 1,614.20
m%ﬁ% - S0x Al 0.73 1.05
Lk - PM A1.1 82.24 115.62
BEREHR () Greenhouse gas emission (tons) A2 14,141 17,619
BRAELMRERERN Greenhouse gas emission per revenue A1.2 5.43 5.60
(REABAETREN T (tons per revenue HK$ million)
BEEEN () Hazardous waste (tons) A13 127 152
BhEBAUNBEERY Hazardous waste per revenue A1.3 0.05 0.05
(EEABAETNENELRY) (tons per revenue HK$ million)
BEEEN () Non-hazardous waste (tons) Al4 1,033 1,147
BlEBUNEZERY Non-hazardous waste per revenue A1.4 0.40 0.36
(EEABAETNENELRY) (tons per revenue HK$ million)
EREE-HZE(TRE) Energy consumption - Electricity (kwh) A2.1 25,839,266 29,833,158
Bl B R LR Energy consumption per revenue
- %%e@% (REBEEETaNEEE ~ Electricity (kwh per revenue HK$'million) A2.1 9,927 0,482
LK)
ke () Water consumption (tons) A2.2 170,626 200,521
BRAEMHELKE Water consumption per revenue A2.2 65.55 63.73
(EABAETYRNEKEES) (tons per revenue HK$ million)
BEMBERE () Packing material use (tons) A25 1,385 1,098
BRREANOENHERE Packing material use per revenue A2.5 0.53 0.51
(EEAERETR RN AES) (tons per revenue HK$ million)

08 ITREREESRAT 2024 F3F
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R HLERERREE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
(continued)

a) Environmental (continued)

—RIRE General disclosure
BREN B5
Key Performance
Indicators Sections
R UMBENEEERABEIELAEAN  Description of emissions target set and At5 B RENEER/ B2
RS E steps taken to achieve them Emissions and Energy
Conservation/Targets
RIREEEREZEENMN T RIELAT  Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous A16 BENER/BE
FUMBEEERAEIELEEMARE  wastes are handled, and a description of reduction Waste Management/Targets
TR target set and steps taken to achieve them
BT UM RERNa 2R AEREL  Description of energy use efficiency target set and A2.3 B REOEE/BE
ERediierSNabgs steps taken to achieve them Emissions and Energy
Conservation/Targets
CKEGERKE LR BT HRE JARATET  Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing A2.4 Ak/ B
VRAKIZEERAZEELEEMAER  water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target Water Consumption/Targets
igbz set and steps taken to achieve them
RlEBEDURERRRERNEAYE Description of the significant impacts of activities A3.1 BiZ
ERRERERYENTY on the environment and natural resources and Targets
the actions taken to manage them
RACDERAHEHADAELYENER  Description of the significant climate-related issues Ad1 AERE(
RERBEE REHTE which have impacted, and those which may impact, Climate Change

the Company, and the actions taken to manage them

Notes:

BT A F RS RS E P M Uk TTRIfA e (1) Revenue of Electronic Manufacturing Service division is used to

evaluate the above performance.

EHEEHOHNAELY MELYEBRAYAEE (20  Only emissions data of NOx, SOx and PM from vehicles is

PR o KRR B R N E A o

BERBFRENAEDENREE -

calculated. Towngas and LPG is not applicable.

(3) The GHG emissions calculation is based on electricity consumption.
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BRENER (&)

KEY PERFORMANCE

(continued)
b) Social

General disclosure

REAREROIRRETHRAR LA
EH

REABRFAR2OBRRETRABMERR
RPIHER

HAFmFRNBXREER251E U RER
HORERTE

RERBRIBIBAIFRENMARRE
MBR R RETIR D
RERBMHILETREHS THBRLES
REEERAHNER

Hilms REEMNERAERET RRH

4T

HREZRRRBERNREREEERMRERN
58

RERBERRERNRA R EARAK

HREEBAHEREERENRR RN E
BROER ARABATRERDE

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

Disclosure of policies and compliance of relevant
laws and regulations relating to employment

Disclosure of policies and compliance of relevant
laws and regulations relating to health and safety

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored

Disclosure of policies on improving employees” knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work and description
of training activities

Disclosure of policies and compliance of relevant laws and
regulations relating to preventing child and forced labour

Description of measures to review employment practices
to avoid child and forced labour

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered

Disclosure of policies on managing environmental and
social risks of supply chain

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they
are implemented and monitored

INDICATORS
BREN B
Key Performance Sections
Bi =
Employment

B2 ferER?
Health and Safety

B2.3 ERER2
Health and Safety

B3 BRI
Development and Training

B4 STER
Labour Standards

B4.1 BTER
Labour Standards

B4.2 BTER
Labour Standards

B5 fEREE
Supply Chain Management

B5.3 fEEER
Supply Chain Management



R HLERERREE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

FARENIEE (&) KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
(continued)
b) #H& (&) b) Social (continued)
—REE (&) General disclosure (continued)
BREN =41
Key Performance Sections
BUERELEEREFZARRERNMRE  Description of practices used to promote environmentally B5.4 HERER
WED D REBRRTREERE preferable products and services when selecting Supply Chain Management

suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored

BREMREERARENERERZ S Disclosure of policies and compliance with relevant laws B6 EREF
BE ERELRSEUARBAF ANTCR and regulations relating to health and safety, advertising, Product Responsibllity
REBTFERZERAMNER labelling and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and methods of redress

Bl EgEERRENZEEEBOED Description of practices relating to observing and B6.3 EREF
protecting intellectual property rights Product Responsibility
RLEEEEHRERILBEE ) RAAE Description of consumer data protection and privacy B6.5 EmEE
BOREERE policies, and how they are implemented and monitored Product Responsibility
BEAEN B DR RERAZEAHR  Disclosure of policies and compliance of relevant laws B7 RE)S
RETFEEZZRAANER and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud Anti-corruption

and money laundering

Wb EEERERER U RBBHTR Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing B7.2 RE&S

EERE procedures, and how they are implemented and Anti-corruption
monitored

RlNESRE TRENREFE Description of anti-corruption training provided to B7.3 RES

directors and staff Anti-corruption

REME2ANE Disclosure of policies on community engagement B8 HERE

Community Investment

EIEHEE (FlHE BEFE STEk Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental B8.1 HERERE
fLF Xl £5) concerns, labour needs, heath, culture, sport) Community Investment
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BRENER (&)

b) #*& (&)

HEWE

RMEIR - REBHEBET2,604A °
5T N E T RARBMET| 0T

KEY PERFORMANCE

(continued)

b) Social (continued)

Quantitative disclosure

Employment

INDICATORS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had a total workforce of 2,604 employees. The

breakdown of the total workforce and employee
turnover rates are as follows:

FARENIEEBT.A KPI B1.1
BEI¥E
Number of Employees
—E-mEF —E-=F
BURBEAMETIHAY Total workforce by gender 2024 2023
e Male 1,251 1,149
Z Female 1,353 1,432
BTI#¥H
Number of Employees
—E-mE —E-=F
EEBEAEINETIHY Total workforce by employment type 2024 2023
28 Full time 2,213 2,213
TR Part time/Temporary 391 368
BETI¥H
Number of Employees
—E-_NE —E-=F
RHWEEINEIHAE Total workforce by geographical region 2024 2023
EHE Hong Kong 72 78
B A Mainland China 2,154 2,263
pisglN Overseas 378 240
BETI#¥H
Number of Employees
—EB-NmE —EC-Z=F
RERARNEINETIHRY Total workforce by age group 2024 2023
30m A T Below 30 686 628
3075% £505% 30 -50 1,777 1,819
50%% A £ Above 50 141 134

72 ITREREESRAT 2024 F3F



ERENER (F)

b)

e (&)

HEHE (K)

R HLERERREE
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
(continued)

b) Social (continued)

Quantitative disclosure (continued)

EE (&) Employment (continued)
BERENEEB.2 KPI B1.2
BOkl
Percentage
—EWEF —E-=
BUERIE S MNE TR KR Employee turnover rate by gender* 2024 2023
£ Male 52.8% 42.1%
X Female 31.6% 23.1%
BOL
Percentage
—EomEF ==
RERBARESWEIRAZE* Employee turnover rate by age group* 2024 2023
305 AT Below 30 101.1% 62.6%
308 £505% 30 -50 26.1% 25.0%
50m A £ Above 50 12.1% 3.0%
BOkl
Percentage
Employee turnover rate —E-mE —EZ=F
BHEBE S NWE I RAR by geographical region* 2024 2023
BE Hong Kong 4.3% 7.9%
B A Mainland China 39.7% 30.2%
pisgN Overseas 55.8% 46.7%
* BRAE2BEI (AHREBRERIA AT * Full time employees only (included staff and worker, but
BEER/BREEEBT) RABE B MEEER excluded part time/temporary employees). Turnover includes

SR RIA R & 1 R IR B AR -

voluntary resignation or retirement and termination.
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BRENER (&)

b)

e (&)

BERE (FH)

BRELZS
BRENIEEB2.1KkB2.2

RBREBHAN AEEBRBERETMEK
EREREALEZHEBEEREZR MY
AEBELEEAFENBR -RBE
—F (PEREFE) HERER
TEBEBMILTEHottih RIRE
HAFR4ETEEMHMMBLIANBER
50
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
(continued)

b)

Social (continued)

Quantitative disclosure (continued)
Health and Safety

KPI B2.1 and B2.2

During the reporting period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with health
and safety-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group. There was
no work-related fatalities occurred in each of the
past three years including the reporting year. In
addition, there were 5 days of lost day due to 4
work injury cases during the reporting period.
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R HERERREE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

(continued)

b) Social (continued)

Quantitative disclosure (continued)

Development and Training

The statistic figures of employee development and

training during the reporting period for the Group

were as follows:

KPI B3.1 and B3.2

Bt
Percentage
The percentage of employees trained —E-lmE —E-=
BURIBEANZIEITAL by gender 2024 2023
£ Male 98.5% 98.3%
X Female 99.3% 97.3%
Bl
Percentage
EEBEREIOZI The percentage of employees trained —E-_NE —E-=
EIFSH by employee category 2024 2023
BB A L Assistant Manager and above 91.2% 87.4%
2RBE BEREE Officer, staff and supervisor 97.9% 94.3%
TA Worker 100.0% 99.9%
N
Hours
EHRIE D WTES The average training hours completed —E_NEF —E-=
TR EE per employee by gender 2024 2023
£ Male 25.1 221
X Female 29.2 24.7
uN::
Hours
EEBERESN The average training hours completed —E-NmEF e
FHERZEE per employee by employee category 2024 2023
BB A L Assistant Manager and above 23.0 20.1
SRBE BEREE Officer, staff and supervisor 24.2 22.1
TA Worker 28.6 24.2
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BRENER (&)

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
(continued)

b) #H& (&) b) Social (continued)

HEWRE (&) Quantitative disclosure (continued)
25 T 48| Labour Standards
ERENMIEEB4.1KB4.2 KPI B4.1 and B4.2
REBEHAN AEBARBERERER During the reporting period, the Group has
BETRRHISLTHEBERER (B not identified material non-compliance of child
BARRCERZZRMN) & (ERFE and forced labour-related laws and regulations
1&B) ) BIE MR (including but not limited to Employment of

Children Regulations and Employment Ordinance).
e e IE Supply Chain Management
R EBA NEBEEB7420H & During the reporting period, there were 742
BRI - =F /691 L MN51H suppliers, increased 51 while compared with 691
FTEHRARAIME IHAKBREAE suppliers in 2023, mainly due to more productions
ENTHF _T_NFHERER - H were started to support 2024 business growth in
JEFS Rt m Ao T our Vietnam factory. And the breakdown by region

was as follows:
R ENIEEBS.1 KPI B5.1

HEFHA
Number of suppliers
—EMF —E-=F

RihEE S NHEREE Number of suppliers by geographical region 2024 2023
BE Hong Kong 210 214
B 3 Mainland China 302 270
LM North America 47 38
BUM Europe 35 32
M E A Rest of Asia 148 137
mny Total 742 691

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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Bai \&?E (nlﬁ)

b) #& (&)
BERE (F)
Emaf

FE & MISEB6.1%B6.2

RBEHAN REBRERLAEME
MERMEBERERNEMH -BEML
MERLZERREREAMEALENE
EXCHEEmM-

RES
AR ENIEEBT.A

RBmERRN AEEY THAERHY
ARARHEBETIHMERLEETHA

R

HERE
B A M IEEB8.2

RMEHA AEEBBELELRE
Fa LB RLBEE27,0007T BIEMH
EMASELER UXBHEREBERR
FREELSENEBLEEE ABET
REFNHEBR PEXETRBE
FHEF121)\E BRFINIHRES
TREBLHEMARETASEBEEE
EJR %iJIIIJ*ﬁ%%}IIVaZ’&IWiEm%E
FERLEMEAR FINIHASE
MLﬁ%I&EKfﬁ%E&ﬁI%
E’jﬂﬂ@ J:ETFEJ/\/M —r°

BEE —E-_RAF=A_-+/<H

KEY PERFORMANCE

INDICATORS

(continued)

b)

Social (continued)

Quantitative disclosure (continued)
Product Responsibility

KPI B6.1 and B6.2

During the reporting period, there was no incident
of non-compliance with laws and regulations
identified and was aware by the Group. No product
sold or shipped was subjected to recall for safety
and health reasons.

Anti-corruption
KPI B7.1

The Group was not aware of any concluded legal
cases regarding corrupt practices brought against
the Company or its employees during the reporting
period.

Community Investment
KPI B8.2

During the reporting period, the Group donated a
total of approximately HK$27,000 by participating
in community activities, including making a
donation to Lingnan University to support the
advancement of the university and the betterment
of students’ educational experience for digitalized
and research-driven liberal arts education. Total
121 hours contributed by corporate volunteers,
including our Shenzhen factory conducted a charity
tree planting activity at Wanfenghu Wetland Park in
Bao’an District, our Suzhou factory delivered gifts
and warmth to the elderly living alone in Suzhou
Neighborhood Community, our Shenzhen factory
sent condolences and warmth to the Wanfeng
street cleaners and the families with critical
illnesses and the poor compatriot, etc.

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

The Company is committed to the establishment of
good corporate governance practices and procedures.
The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasise a quality Board, effective risk management
and internal control, transparency and accountability to
all shareholders.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the year ended 31
December 2024, the Company has complied with the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), except that (a) the positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are occupied by
the same person, which deviates from code provision
C.2.1; (b) the existing Whistleblowing Policy of the
Company does not accept anonymous reporting, which
deviates from code provision D.2.6; and (c) the current
Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company do not include the responsibility to review
and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which deviates
from code provision E.1.2(i). Details are explained in
this Report under the paragraphs “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer”, “Risk Management and Internal
Control” and “Remuneration Committee”, respectively.

During the year of 2024 and up to the date of this
Report, the Board had reviewed and, where appropriate,
made necessary changes to the corporate governance
practices of the Company in order to ensure continued
compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code
(other than certain deviations mentioned above). Details
are disclosed in this Report.
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Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry to all
Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS & ADMINISTRATIVE
COMMITTEE

The Board has a schedule of matters reserved for
its approval. Pursuant to the schedule, the Board
is ultimately responsible for the development and
implementation of the Group’s corporate governance
practices, sustainable performance of the Company,
consistent achievement of business plans and
compliance with statutory as well as corporate
obligations. Matters which may be discussed in Board
meetings include the formulation of the Group’s
strategies and policies; approval of significant business,
management and financial matters, major acquisitions,
disposals and capital commitments; approval of matters
relating to the Company’s constitution and share capital,
and change of board members and auditors; delegation
of powers by establishment of board committees;
review of corporate governance and the maintenance
of appropriate risk management and internal control
systems.

The Company has established an Administrative
Committee which has all the general powers
delegated by the Board to deal with administration
and daily operation of the Company save as those
matters set out in the schedule of matters reserved
to the Board mentioned above. The Administrative
Committee currently comprises five Executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben (Chairman of the
Administrative Committee), Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada,
Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel, Mr. Hung Wing Shun,
Edmund and Mr. Chan Wai Ming, Hermes.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS & ADMINISTRATIVE
COMMITTEE (continued)

The Administrative Committee also delegates
specific tasks to the management, which includes
the preparation of accounts; implementation of
strategies and policies approved by the Board; day-
to-day monitoring of budgets; implementation of
specific business and work projects; implementation of
corporate governance, risk management and internal
control procedures and other compliance matters.
Management presents reports to the Administrative
Committee (and other delegated Board Committee) for
its review and guidance whenever necessary.

The vision, mission and core values of the Company
have been set out. The Company is committed to
becoming an advanced technology leader and service
provider to contribute to our humanity, society,
customers, shareholders and employees. The Board,
assisted by senior and middle management, is
responsible to develop and promote a desired company
culture in alignment therewith throughout all levels of
the Company, including the core values focus on ethics,
customer passion, respect, teamwork, openness,
managing for results, competence, commitment to
success, merit and excellence.

In order to ensure equal, timely, effective, accurate
and proper disclosure of inside information under
the requirements of Part XIVA of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules, the Company
has identified a team of officers and executives with
knowledge and expertise to assist the Board for
assessing the nature and materiality of potential inside
information and determining whether public disclosure
is required subject to Board approval. The procedures
and documentation in this relation are under review of
the Company’s Internal Compliance Control Department.
Continuous training shall be provided to officers and
relevant employees (who are likely to be in possession
of inside information) for handling and reporting
potential inside information. Also, to minimise the risk of
unauthorised or inconsistent disclosure, only designated
persons are authorised to discuss the Company’s
corporate matters with investors, analysts, the media
and other members of the public.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS & ADMINISTRATIVE
COMMITTEE (continued)

To ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board, various mechanisms have been established
by the Company. Such mechanisms include (i) adoption
of a formal, considered and transparent procedure
for nomination and appointment of Board members
to ensure that the power to nominate and appoint is
rested on the Nomination Committee and the Board
as a whole; (i) a balanced composition of Executive
and Independent Non-executive Directors fulfilling
the independence criteria under the Listing Rules; (iii)
emphasis on board diversity as an important driver to
enable objective decisions to be made; (iv) promote
a culture of openness during discussion at board
meetings; (v) establishment of Board Committees to
specialize in clearly-defined functions delegated by
the Board whenever necessary, and (vi) the Board and
its Committees may access to other channels where
independent views and input are available (e.g. external
independent professional advice) at the Company’s
expense in order to assist the performance of their
duties.

The Board currently comprises five Executive Directors
and four Independent Non-executive Directors.
The biographical details of the Directors (including
relationships among the members of the Board) are set
out on pages 21 to 25 of this Annual Report.

The Board held four regular Board meetings in 2024
at approximately quarterly intervals to discuss the
overall strategy, operation, financial performance,
dividend payments, risk management and internal
control systems, Directors’ remuneration and corporate
governance practices.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS & ADMINISTRATIVE
COMMITTEE (continued)

The attendance of the Directors at the four regular

Board meetings and the 2024 annual general meeting
of the Company was as follows:

ESegRLER BRREREHEER
Attendance at Attendance at
Board meetings general meeting

BITEE Executive Directors
FRKELE Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben

(FEFRITHAEZ) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 4/4 1/1
TEHLL Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada 4/4 1/1
BRrEd+L Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel 4/4 1/1
REK BT A Mr. Hung Wing Shun, Edmund 4/4 1/1
BREARLTE Mr. Chan Wai Ming, Hermes 4/4 1/1
BUFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
FREMBL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 4/4 11
BRABL Dr. Yu Sun Say 3/4 11
EXELE Mr. Alfred Donald Yap 3/4 11
BEBRE Mr. Lo Wai Ho, Ashley 4/4 11

RBTESEERA ESSERERMA
FTBEERNERE TImcER-MMBE
ERHAREABEREET REFE SR
BREHABASHEHEAEREZ 2 8&C
B-EZGETRENDUNEBEZTELS
HRBRZTAFL -FIEEZTEKREA
AARWESKERNERRE -HEH
Z-EFENARISREXER BEHA
NN RN
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Before holding of a Board meeting, the Board is
supplied with all necessary information to enable it
to consider the matters to be discussed. A formal
agenda is followed in all Board meetings. All business
transacted at the Board meetings is documented in the
minutes of such meeting. Some Board decisions are
made by way of written resolutions of all Directors. All
Board members have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. If necessary, Directors also
have access to external professional advice at the
expense of the Company.



EEEI

RARRSBEMEES2RGETEERE
NERTEFESIERALTARES M
BRI - ARABTHERAEENRBLERS
HABIRERBEEMR -

BUESFHCRAARARRFEER T _MNF
ARSEI 2R BEEIzTAmT

PRsLIRL

Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills as Directors of a listed company.
The Company introduces and recommends relevant
training courses and reading materials to the Directors
from time to time.

Each of the Directors has provided to the Company a
record of training received during the year of 2024. The
means of such training are as follows:

ZiNFHR Means of Training
BITES Executive Directors

TAKEE BEM A Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben reading material

(FEFETHAER) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
TEHuL BMEME  Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada reading material
RFERL BEMA  Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel reading material
ek B A BIEM A Mr. Hung Wing Shun, Edmund reading material
PRIERE & LiRe/E#E,  Mr Chan Wai Ming, Hermes conference/forum/
MEME Mg,/ reading material/seminar/
WEEE webinar

UBITES Independent Non-executive Directors
FREEL E#e HEME, D LiKaCheung, Eric forum/reading material/
Wag  Rrmae seminar/webinar
BRAEELT BIEME i€, Dr. YuSun Say reading material/
Bemae seminar/webinar
EXRBERE Ewe,/ BEME, M Alfred Donald Yap forum/reading material/
B g webinar
BEBLE g, /HEME, M Lo Wai Ho, Ashley forum/reading material/
Wmire REHag seminar/webinar
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben is the Group’s Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer and has occupied these
two positions since February 2003. In allowing the
two positions to be occupied by the same person, the
Company has considered the following:

(@) Both positions require in-depth knowledge
and considerable experience of the Group’s
business. Candidates with the suitable knowledge,
experience and leadership are difficult to find
both within and outside the Group. If either
of the positions is occupied by an unqualified
person, the Group’s performance could be gravely
compromised.

(b) The Company believes that the supervision of the
Board and its Independent Non-executive Directors
can provide an effective check and balance
mechanism and ensures that the interests of the
shareholders are adequately represented.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company is satisfied that its Independent Non-
executive Directors comprise a good mix of industrial,
financial, legal and information technology expertise
to advise the Board and the management team on
strategy formulation and other financial or regulatory
requirements. Pursuant to the requirement in the Listing
Rules, each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
has provided an annual confirmation of independence
to the Company. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors as independent.

The existing Independent Non-executive Directors of
the Company are not appointed for a specific term but
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company under Bye-law
112 of the Bye-laws of the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Remuneration
Committee which comprises two Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Dr. Yu Sun Say (Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Alfred Donald
Yap, and one Executive Director, namely Dr. Chan Tsze
Wah, Gabriel.

Pursuant to the CG Code, an advisory model has
been adopted by the Remuneration Committee under
which the Remuneration Committee shall perform an
advisory role to the Board, with the Board retaining
the final authority to approve Executive Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration. The principal
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration, reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives,
and making recommendations on the remuneration
of Directors and senior management. The current
Terms of Reference of the Remuneration Committee
do not include the responsibility under code provision
E.1.2(I) to review and/or approve matters relating to
share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
The existing share option scheme (the “Scheme”) of
the Company is a traditional scheme for the benefit
of the employees and other eligible participants.
Implementation of such Scheme is governed by formal
and transparent procedures under the scheme rules
adopted by the shareholders of the Company, including
the requirements for specific approval from the Board,
Independent Non-executive Directors or shareholders
where necessary. It is considered that the Board as a
whole is more efficient and effective for discharging
the responsibility to oversee matters relating to the
Scheme. Any share options granted to a Director or
senior management will form part of the individual
remuneration package and therefore fall under the
scope of the Remuneration Committee.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed the remuneration
paid to the Directors and senior management; and
approved the proposal of the 2025 remuneration
packages of individual Directors for recommendation to
the Board.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in
2024. The attendance of the Remuneration Committee
members at this meeting was as follows:

HE =R
Attendance
BIUKHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BRAELT (F/E) Dr. Yu Sun Say (Chairman) 1/1
EXRERAE Mr. Alfred Donald Yap 1/1
HITES Executive Director
PRFEE+ Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel 1/1

RARZHMBE DRI HHABERE
BMEFHAZHMES AR BB RBEESK
NMESAEEEK RETHTESTZH
BiFBR  B2ZERARAMB B ET
T MGEEURBAAREBERE - B
FRTEBZHFMNARMEBRFEE T
BEFEOREME DU REARRFN
HHE o
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The Company’s Directors’ Remuneration Policy is to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive
level of remuneration to attract, retain and motivate
Directors to run the Group successfully. In determining
the remuneration packages of Executive Directors,
reference should be made to their duties and
responsibilities with the Company, market benchmark
as well as individual and business performance. The
remuneration of Independent Non-executive Directors
should reflect their duties and responsibilities,
anticipated time and effort required and their
commitment to the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a Nomination Committee
which comprises the Chairman of the Board,
Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Alfred Donald Yap and Mr. Lo Wai
Ho, Ashley.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of
the Board, making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board; assessing the independence
of Independent Non-executive Directors; and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Nomination Committee assessed the independence
of Independent Non-executive Directors; reviewed the
composition of the Board; and considered making
recommendation to the Board on re-election of retiring
Directors at the annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting in 2024.
The attendance of the Nomination Committee members
at this meeting was as follows:

i E
Attendance
HBTESE Executive Director
TR E (FHE) Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben (Chairman) 1/1
BIYKEITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BXEBRYE Mr. Alfred Donald Yap 1/1
BEERE Mr. Lo Wai Ho, Ashley 1/1
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

The Company’s Nomination Policy is to serve as a
guideline in order to ensure that there is a formal,
considered and transparent procedure for nomination
of Directors with suitable experience and capabilities
to maintain and improve the competitiveness of the
Company. According to the Policy, where a need is
identified and arises for a new Director or replacement
Director, a list of potential candidates should be
complied based on recommendations or referrals
from existing Board members, management team,
other individuals who know the candidates and, if
it deems appropriate, a professional search firm.
The Nomination Committee shall conduct an initial
evaluation of the potential candidates based on the
character, integrity, commitment, knowledge and ability,
diversity of perspectives (with reference to the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company), accomplishment in
his/her own field, professional or personal reputation,
particular experience or expertise relevant to the current
needs of the Board, and in case of a new Independent
Director candidate, whether he would be considered
as independent. The Nomination Committee shall then
select and recommend one or more candidates for
interview. Lastly, the best available candidate shall
be recommended for consideration by the Board as
a whole. For determining whether a retiring Director
is eligible for re-election at a general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall consider the
contribution of such retiring Director and other relevant
criteria set out above; and then make recommendation
to the Board for consideration.
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DIVERSITY

The Company recognises the benefits of having a
diverse Board and believes that a balanced Board
composition will contribute towards the performance
of the Board and success of the Company. In view of
this, a Board Diversity Policy has been adopted by the
Board. Such Policy should be read in conjunction with
the Nomination Policy mentioned above.

The Board Diversity Policy provides that, in designing
the Board’s composition, Board diversity shall be
considered from a number of aspects in supporting the
attainment of the strategic objectives and sustainable
development of the Company. Selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, ethnicity,
cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The Board will also
take into account factors based on its own business
model and specific needs. The ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the prospective
candidate will bring to the Board.

The Board considers that considerable diversity
perspectives exist in the existing Board of the Company,
including gender, age, educational background,
professional experience, skills and knowledge. The
target to avoid a single gender Board has been met. The
Board is now made up of individual Directors who each
bring with them unique knowledge and experience in
the industrial, financial, legal and information technology
sectors. The Company shall continue to maintain its
Board diversity and, when there is any vacancy to fill,
to promote the specific objective of gender and age
diversity without compromising the quality of the Board.

The Company is dedicated to develop gender equality
as a part of the organization culture across different
divisions of the entire Group. As at 31 December 2024,
the workforce (including senior management) of the
Group was composed of 48% male and 52% female.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability.

A Terms of Reference has been adopted for the purpose
of setting out the corporate governance duties to be
performed by the Board, including (but not limited to)
development of the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations
on changes and updating, review of the training and
continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
has conducted an annual review of the policies and
practices on corporate governance of the Company.

Amongst the four Board meetings held during the year,
two were related to matters concerning corporate
governance functions. The attendance of the Directors
at these meetings was as follows:

=
Attendance
BITESE Executive Directors
EREKESE Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben
(FEFETHAAH) (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 2/2
FTEHLL Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada 2/2
BRF 1+ Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel 2/2
gz oK B 5 & Mr. Hung Wing Shun, Edmund 2/2
R & R ST A& Mr. Chan Wai Ming, Hermes 2/2
BIYFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
FREFT Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 2/2
BEmIE LT Dr. Yu Sun Say 1/2
BEXEBRE Mr. Alfred Donald Yap 2/2
BEERE Mr. Lo Wai Ho, Ashley 2/2

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

INTERNAL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing their
effectiveness through the Risk Management Committee
and the Audit Committee, respectively.

The Board has established a comprehensive risk
management system based on identification, analysis,
evaluation and management of risks on an ongoing
basis. Each department under the Group is required
to own and manage its own risks. A number of
management committees reporting to the Risk
Management Committee have been established to
monitor different aspects of risk management for the
Group. Such work serves to provide an independent
checking of the effectiveness of the risk management
system of individual departments. The independent
Internal Compliance Control Department (“ICC”) of the
Company is delegated with the internal audit function
to conduct regular internal reviews and testings of
the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems covering financial, operational, compliance,
risk assessment and risk response implementation
controls. The respective management teams and
committees which comprise relevant executives of
the Group meet regularly to review the findings and
opinions of internal audits conducted by the ICC and
make relevant recommendations. The executives from
the management teams and committees also ensure
the control weaknesses are effectively communicated
to the relevant departments and monitor the follow-up
actions in response to their recommendations. The ICC
regularly reports its major findings and advice to the
Risk Management Committee and the Audit Committee
and assists them to evaluate the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
respectively. The Risk Management Committee and the
Audit Committee report back to the Board for forming
its own view on an annual basis.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL (continued)

INTERNAL

The Audit Committee annually reviews the adequacy of
resources and qualifications, experience and training of
the staff responsible for accounting, financial reporting
and internal audit functions to ensure that ongoing
control process are in place and functioning effectively.

The purpose of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems is to provide reasonable, but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure in operational system in order to achieve the
Group’s objectives. For the year of 2024 under review,
the Board, through the Risk Management Committee
and the Audit Committee, has reviewed the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, respectively
and considered them effective and adequate.

The Company is committed to achieving and
maintaining the highest standards of openness, probity
and accountability. Complementary with the Anti-
Corruption Policy of the Company, the Whistleblowing
Policy has been adopted to govern and deal with fairly
and properly concerns raised by our employees and
business partners about any suspected misconduct
or malpractice regarding financial reporting, internal
controls or other matters related to the Group. The
existing Whistleblowing Policy of the Company does
not accept anonymous reporting because the Company
believes it will be difficult to follow up and obtain
information for an effective investigation. Also, based
on experience in the Company’s factories, the Company
would expect an abundance of anonymous reporting
if anonymous reporting was to be accepted and this
would unduly burden the Company’s management
resources. Nevertheless, the Company will make every
effort to treat all reporting in a strictly confidential
manner. All communications between the investigator
and the whistleblowers are strictly protected to ensure
that no reprisal or blame would be directed against the
whistleblowers. The identity of the whistleblower will
not be disclosed without his/her consent, unless the
Company is legally obliged to reveal the whistleblower’s
identity and other information to any government
authorities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Risk Management Committee comprises three
Executive Directors, namely Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada
(Chairperson of the Risk Management Committee),
Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel and Mr. Hung Wing Shun,
Edmund.

The principal duties of the Risk Management Committee
include the oversight of the Group’s overall risk
management framework; approval of risk policies
and tolerances and reviewing the breaches thereof;
review and assessment of the effectiveness of the risk
management systems; and advising the Board on risk-
related issues.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Risk
Management Committee overseen the risk management
framework; assessed materiality of risks; monitored
and updated the Group’s risk policies; discussed risk

% uT}_L BMEERRBRETEBER L EM- reports on key risks; and reviewed the effectiveness and
adequacy of the risk management system.
}_W EEZEEN _ZT_WNFEHEITTIX The Risk Management Committee held ten meetings
g&-RAR %? BLZESZEN%EgR in 2024. The attendance of the Risk Management
HEERMT Committee members at these meetings was as follows:
=
Attendance
BITESE Executive Directors
Bt (EE) Ms. Wong Yin Man, Ada (Chairperson) 10/10
BRFEE L+ Dr. Chan Tsze Wah, Gabriel 10/10
A& K JIB 4 A4 Mr. Hung Wing Shun, Edmund 9/10
B 5 - Note:

AEERBTRAETAHFELAZARERZES

P
= A% °

Relevant executives of the Group also attended the Risk Management
Committee meetings above.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric
(Chairman of the Audit Committee), Dr. Yu Sun Say and
Mr. Alfred Donald Yap.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include
the oversight of the Group’s financial reporting and
internal control systems; review of the Group’s financial
information; and review of the relationship with the
external auditor of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Audit
Committee reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group; discussed the auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters including
review of the 20283 final results and 2024 interim
results of the Group; reviewed the external auditor’s
engagement letter; recommended the re-appointment
of the external auditor; and reviewed the accounting,
financial reporting and internal audit functions and their
staffs.

The Audit Committee met separately with the external
auditors and held two meetings in 2024. The attendance
of the Audit Committee members at these meetings was
as follows:

=
Attendance

BUKHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
PREEL (FH) Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (Chairman) 2/2
BRAE L Dr. Yu Sun Say 2/2
EXRERAE Mr. Alfred Donald Yap 2/2

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR
RELATED MATTERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
remuneration paid or payable to the external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out as follows:

WEE (BT
Amount (HK$)

1% 8RS Audit services 3,158,000
FIEAZ BT Non-audit services
—BABNEBEHA — Hong Kong profits tax compliance 184,000
—E R T EMEEH — transfer pricing tax consultation 121,000
— I B R — Singapore tax consultation 58,000
R Total 3,521,000

EERRBAAMBRR 2EML

BERESRZB RN EE LS MR
RZEETNHRAFRFEI01E1098 2
(B BERE] A -

R R i

RERERREZLEN ERREXE L
BEHERBUNEE HAERZESRE
k2

AN BRZEUNTIEFRE ZFREFX
HRARB 2 ARAE — AW N\—FBR
ZERBLENBRIERZNRA -

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The responsibilities of the Directors and the auditor for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 101 to 109 of this Annual Report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the shareholders’ interest and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue.

In addition, shareholders are protected by the following
procedures as governed by the Company’s Bye-laws,
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and applicable
legislation and regulation.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholder(s) to convene a
special general meeting (“SGM”)

1.

One or more shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth (1/10) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company on one vote per share basis, shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition sent
to the Board of Directors or Company Secretary
at the Company’s registered office at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda and its principal office at 17/F, C-Bons
International Center, No. 108 Wai Yip Street, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, to require a SGM
to be called by the Board of Directors for the
transaction of any business or resolution specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
(in the form as may be determined by the Board
in accordance with Bye-law 67 of the Company)
within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of
the SGM, signed by the shareholder(s) concerned
and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of those shareholders.

If the requisition is in order, the Company Secretary
will ask the Board of Directors to convene a SGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
shareholders. If within twenty-one (21) days of
the deposit of such requisition the Board fails to
proceed to convene the SGM, the requisitionists
themselves may do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholder(s) to convene a
special general meeting (“SGM”) (continued)

4.

On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid, the
shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be
convened as requested.

Procedures for shareholder(s) to make proposals
at general meeting other than a proposal of a
person for election as director

1.

The Company holds an annual general meeting
(“AGM”) every year, and may hold a general
meeting known as a special general meeting
whenever necessary.

Shareholder(s) of the Company holding (i) not
less than one-twentieth (1/20) of the total voting
rights of all shareholders having the right to vote
at the general meeting; or (i) not less than 100
shareholders, can submit a written request stating
the resolution intended to be moved at the AGM,;
or a statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a
particular general meeting.

The written request/statements must be signed by
the shareholder(s) concern and deposited at the
Company’s registered office at Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and
its principal office at 17/F, C-Bons International
Center, No. 108 Wai Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary of the Company, not less than
six (6) weeks before the AGM in the case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not
less than one (1) week before the general meeting
in the case of any other requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholder(s) to make proposals
at general meeting other than a proposal of a
person for election as director (continued)

4.

If the written request is in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board of Directors of the
Company (i) to include the resolution in the agenda
for the AGM; or (ii) to circulate the statement
for the general meeting, provided that the
shareholder(s) concerned have deposited a sum
of money reasonably determined by the Board
of Directors sufficient to meet the Company’s
expenses in serving the notice of the resolution
and/or circulating the statement submitted by
the shareholder(s) concerned in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered
shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition
is invalid or the shareholder(s) concerned have
failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the
Company’s expenses for the said purposes, the
shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution
will not be included in the agenda for the AGM; or
the statement will not be circulated for the general
meeting.

A separate document containing the procedures for
a shareholder to propose a person for election as
a director is also published on the website of the
Company.
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BRERER (&) SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)
BRROEESREEANERF Procedures by which enquiries may be put to

the Board of Directors by shareholder(s)

—NWN—FEREQREAKARAZ/AA There are no provisions in the Bermuda Companies

BB ERREBARAGESESIE  Act 1981 or in the Bye-laws of the Company that

HERZEF - REEEANIMERE provide for a procedure by which shareholder(s) may

BT ER—TEREBIAZ@E SN AARQE  put forward an enquiry to the Board of Directors of the

EEQEARESEH: Company. Shareholder(s) may, of course, at any time
send their enquiries in writing to the Board of Directors
of the Company via one of the following channels:

I BENEERRE Mailing Address: 17/F, C-Bons International Center,
2 /1085 No. 108 Wai Yip Street,
%%%?5%37&@17@ \ Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
(EEHTM‘AW\Z%@ET’WEQ (For the attention of the Company
ESEERE) Secretary or Chairman of the Board)

BE: (852) 2797 8076 Fax: (852) 2797 8076

B enquiry@wih.com.hk Email: enquiry@wih.com.hk

PR 3R 38 A SR SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

AARzREBABRREEREEREY The Shareholders’ Communication Policy of the
HEMEHEMHEZAERER FEIREREHRESL Company aims at promoting effective communication
BHANGEL: MEREBEMRITEME®E with the shareholders and other stakeholders,
FeARNABEBBEBATHREMREBE:  encouraging shareholders to engage actively with
WARRBIRE FHREZEENEM—2  the Company; and enabling shareholders to exercise
WM 2 ARBEA (BIEETREREI R their rights as shareholders effectively. The Company
RHEIRE - KBS BN AM) (i) communicates with the shareholders mainly in the
NAFIEHRA R B FBuh 2 ER KRS (i) following ways: (i) corporate communications of
EAARREERREEBEZEFEFAMA the Company (including, but not limited to, annual
NalERAFRKE REMKRAE : (V)i reports, interim reports, notice of meetings, circulars
HERAEZT T ARARIANRQAFZEHAERK and announcements) to be published in a timely and
MBEEREDERE: MVEMIKEERBEBE consistent manner as required by the Listing Rules; (ii)
MEae (m@Efm) - information and documents of the Company posted on
the Company’s website; (iii) annual general meetings
and other general meetings of the Company which
serve as the primary forum for communication by
the Company with its shareholders; (iv) shareholders’
enquiries may be sent to the Company or the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong; and
(v) other investor relations communication platforms, if
appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY
(continued)

In support of environmental protection and pursuant
to the Listing Rules, shareholders are recommended
to read the Company’s corporate communications
electronically on the website of the Company or the
Stock Exchange. A shareholder who wishes to receive
printed copies of corporate communications may send
a written request to the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and the Company will send corporate
communications to the shareholder in printed form,
free of charge. Shareholders are able to change their
preference for the means of receipt from time to time.
Also, shareholders are encouraged to participate in
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and
vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if they
are unable to attend the meetings. Chairman of the
Board and other Board members, chairmen of board
committees or their delegates, and the external auditor
shall attend annual general meetings to address and
answer any questions from the shareholders. Any
concerns and views of the shareholders will be taken
into consideration by the Board when formulating the
business strategies of the Company. The Board has
reviewed the implementation of the Policy during the
year and considered the Policy effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents
of the Company in the year of 2024. The current Bye-
laws of the Company is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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HEIKEBREBEERALABTMKRR TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WONG’S
INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(REREZEFMHATAER L A]) (incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
ER OPINION
EMEBETHAR What we have audited

TREBREBEERAT (LATEMW[E27R]) The consolidated financial statements of Wong's

NEMKBAR (UTHBIEEE])PEHY  International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its

FU0E25 B MR B mE  BE: subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on pages
110 to 255, comprise:

e MW-T-_MHFE+_-_F=1+—HH#%LA e the consolidated statement of financial position as

SRR T at 31 December 2024;
e HEZBALFEMGZAEWGERK: e the consolidated income statement for the year
then ended;
s HEXBILFEMNGEEZEEAL: e the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income for the year then ended,;

e HEZRALFENGKAERETHX: e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended;

e HEZHULFEMNLGARESTEZR KL e the consolidated cash flow statement for the year
then ended; and

o HZAMBHERMNT BEEAEZETHE e the notes to the consolidated financial statements,

SENRHMEREEER - comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.
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By KA
Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024,
and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“‘HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.
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FARETEE KEY AUDIT MATTERS

ARETEEZBEBERMANDFEZHLE 25 Key audit matters are those matters that, in our

HAHGAVBHRENEARABEENS professional judgment, were of most significance in

THe g L ETHISAERMBAEELEATHHR  our audit of the consolidated financial statements of

AL EERBETEREN - R TEHIE  the current period. These matters were addressed in

LETERMEERNER - the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

R EEFTHRNERESTESEAER The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to
REYFEMLE- valuation of investment properties.

BRETEE
Key Audit Matter

REWHEME

Valuation of investment properties
BE2RGme M mRMT2.25 1618 ¢

Refer to notes 2.2.5, 16 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EEENRENFEHCOENBARIREGE R
EMENREYE- R_ZT_NF+-_A=+—
H- SESEFHAEREWFERE1,473,000,000
T(EDRAABEIEK) BEHE_ZT_MNF
TA=ZT-RLERE REVENLABEE
18 & ¥473,000,0007T °

The Group’s investment properties portfolio
included investment properties held by
subsidiaries and joint ventures. As at 31
December 2024, the Group held investment
properties of HK$1,473 million which were
stated at fair values and there was a fair value
loss from investment properties of HK$473
million during the year ended 31 December
2024,

BMMETNMEEERETSHE
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

BHREERREMEREMHRITHEFBRE:
Our procedures to address valuation of investment
properties included:

- TEEEEEEHREMEGENES LR
B UEBEREFAIEELENEELREE S
ERNRERS AL HERERR M
[E A [ b 1T R

— Understood and evaluated management’s
controls and processes over the valuation
of investment properties and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and the judgement involved in
determining assumptions to be applied;

- FRIAEUGEMNEE I RFEIN:

- Evaluated the independent valuer’s
competence, capabilities and objectivity;
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BRETSEE(H)
Key Audit Matter
(continued)

EREDZE BB UMEMARBEEE LR
ERWAEREEG EEEREGERER
—E_MFE+_A=T—HONREVENAR
BE-RMAFINKENENHE RARAR
BEMAFFEGT I EEL AR SEYED E
MUE -HUE BAmESORAEEMERNE
AAREERZ FAMEFTERR B -
Management engaged an independent valuer to
estimate the fair value of investment properties
of the Group and the joint ventures as at 31
December 2024 based on the direct comparison
method and income capitalisation method.
We focused on the valuation of investment
properties because the estimation of fair value is
subject to estimation uncertainty. It is inherently
subjective due to, among other factors, the
individual nature of each property, its location,
prevailing market returns and the expected
future rentals for that particular property.

HRME R ERAE LG BRPEBRED
¥hERER —HBERSHEE-

We have identified the valuation of investment
properties as a key audit matter due to the
significant judgement and estimation involved.

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

Bk KB

BAMET M EEERETSE (F)
How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(continued)

- ERAERESTEBIGERDCGERBMORN
BYEGEEER)@E Aidmlt 7THGEFRE
MENRBERFARANGEETERBERRE

— Obtained the valuation reports and held
meetings with the independent valuer, together
with our internal expert in property valuation,
to discuss and understand the valuation
methodologies and the key assumptions
adopted in estimating the fair value of the
investment properties;

- AERERANRERASSEE MTEANR
wESeRE R(ER) RMEEEBGLER
B P {6 R A Bl A BIUR S R AR (Il 4R 77 35 A L 2R
BoERBREEREE)BTERITESRBEL
R

— Assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies used and the reasonableness
of assumptions applied, and where applicable,
compared, on a sample basis, the data inputs
and assumptions used in the valuation models,
such as market comparables, reversionary
yields and rental values to market and industry
data; and

- RETAEVMBREENEERTE FHERE
MEMBEERNBREBEELRE

— Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the valuation of investment
properties in the context of HKFRSs disclosure
requirements.

ERATHIE ZMEEREMEHEMER
WHE RERRRES T RARRO -
Based on the work performed, we found the
judgement and key assumptions used in the
valuation of investment properties were supported
by the available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B KiE
OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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Bk KB

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to
do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 1 07
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Bk KB

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner
that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business
units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Bk KB

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a
statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is So Sing Wai, Donald.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Consolidated Income Statement

BE-—FT-—pWFE+=-—H=+—HIFFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

—E-omF —E-=F
2024 2023
B 5 BT T BT T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Y 25 Revenue 5 2,664,674 3,185,668
H At Y A Other income 6 4,371 14,731
BRmRERMTE Z# Changes in inventories of finished goods
and work in progress (62,431) 38,089
Frr i A 2 IR} BB #% o Raw materials and consumables used (1,824,064) (2,359,874)
EBWHM Employee benefit expenses 7 (367,424) (409,464)
e Depreciation 8 (49,874) (65,558)
Hb &z i Other operating expenses 8 (151,160) (170,273)
HEa ez, (F5#8) —F%  Other gains/(losses) — net 9 11,939 (5,098)
BREMEARBEES Change in fair value of investment
properties 16 (472,741) (12,062)
EERWEGE ZMURE®E  Provision for write-down of stock of
completed properties 23 (41,258) (2,208)
FEUE 5 R 2 B EEE Reversal of provision for impairment
B E R E losses on trade receivables 1,887 1,143
L& (BB FE Operating (loss)/profit (286,081) 215,094
AMEWA Finance income 11 23,022 25,686
A& KA Finance costs 11 (73,022) (90,127)
JEIEA &% (E1B),FIE  Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures 18 (446,747) 49,462
BRETEHAT (&8) s (Loss)/profit before income tax (782,828) 200,115
FrisHif < Income tax expense 12 (54,636) (47,389)
BRAETEH% (BE) FE (Loss)/profit after income tax (837,464) 152,726
EQATEBAEM (Loss)/profit attributable to owners
(E8/), 78 of the Company (837,464) 152,726
ENREEAEN (Losses)/earnings per share
FEBR(FR) 27 attributable to owners of
the Company during the year
HAR Basic (78 %1.757T) B #50.327T
14 (HK$1.75) HK$0.32
#E Diluted (FB#1.757T) 78 #0.327T
14 (HK$1.75) HK$0.32

bty W es R R ERBE MY B G — GBI AR o

The above consolidated income statements should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

HE2-—F_F+_—HA=+—HIF/E Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

—E-NEF —F=-=
2024 2023
B &E BT T S F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
FE(FB) FB (Loss)/profit for the year (837,464) 152,726
HtzZmEWBA: Other comprehensive income:
AREE# 72 Iltems that may be reclassified to
el m KX I - consolidated income statement:
iﬁiuﬁ%%ﬂ# —FE Cash flow hedge - fair value
RaBEERE (E8) gains/(losses) for the year 5,723 (5,017)
BemELH P -—2HER Cash flow hedge — deferred income
EIEFT SR tax recognised (944) 828
HEEHmEZE Currency translation differences (75,424) (24,909)
HETSE D HEZ Items that will not be reclassified
FEMmAXZHEE - subsequently to consolidated
income statement:
HEZRAAEERA Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial
Hib2mEUE A assets at fair value through other
ﬁ%ﬂﬁiz comprehensive income
Wz, (E8) 395 (5,300)
BARBEFTAEMETR Changes in fair value of financial
WAREREE assets at fair value through other
BREEES comprehensive income 20 (21,638) (21,267)
FEHMEZMEEIE 2B  Other comprehensive loss
... fortheyearnetoftax  (91,888) | (65,665)
ARABEBANELFE Total comprehensive (loss)/income
2H (BR) WALRE for the year attributable to the
owners of the Company (929,352) 97,061

Fiigrea2mB AKREELEBEK K &£ —HFf The above consolidated statement of comprehensive
BIE o income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R-ZFE-p#E+—H=+—H Asat31 December 2024

—E-NF —EI=F
2024 2023
B 5 BT T TS F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
ERBEE Non-current assets
LERY IS Property, plant and equipment 15 190,494 211,689
wEME Investment properties 16 1,473,317 1,946,822
EREEE Right-of-use assets 17 79,977 98,072
AETENER Interests in joint ventures 18 1,591,570 2,071,517
BRAABEFAEMER Financial assets at fair value through
WA EREE other comprehensive income 20 71,185 100,080
BEFTSHEE Deferred income tax assets 21 15,164 19,480
A& M E b R BR X Deposits and other receivables 25 27,050 24,578
PEEMITA Derivative financial instruments 27 11,541 11,324
ZRHRE Restricted cash 26 531 -
3,460,829 4,483,562
REBEE Current assets
7E Inventories 22 258,714 372,296
EERMETE Stock of completed properties 23 160,144 201,402
FEWE 5 8RR Trade receivables 24 865,107 808,589
ENFIE -FE Rk Prepayments, deposits and other
H ) i U5 BR K receivables 25 76,070 94,613
BAABETAEMEE Financial assets at fair value through
AR ©BEE other comprehensive income 20 31 58
TEemIT A Derivative financial instruments 27 1,987 -
g HE A W B AT IS B Current income tax recoverable 1,009 1,688
ZREIE e Restricted cash 26 116,814 121,164
Z HASR 1T 17 3K Short-term bank deposits 26 498,285 284,844
HeENREEZEY Cash and cash equivalents 26 719,846 942,040
HWEE Total assets 6,158,836 7,310,256

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R



E MR E
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-FE-pFE+ = F=+—H Asat31 December 2024

—E-NE —E-=4F
2024 2023
B 5 BETT BT T
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
= EQUITY
BENEKQATEBEAZER Equity attributable to owners of
the Company
fi& A Share capital 31 47,848 47,848
HAth (18 Other reserves 32 376,815 464,843
REBETF Retained earnings 32
— ¥k i 2 - Proposed dividend 14,355 14,355
—HAh - Others 3,078,384 3,947,221
AR Total equity 3,517,402 4,474,267
aE LIABILITIES
kRBERE Non-current liabilities
PTEemIA Derivative financial instruments 27 - 3,519
FEET & N H b B BR 3R Accruals and other payables 29 6,120 6,153
HEAE Lease liabilities 17 - 1,492
BEFSHRAR Deferred income tax liabilities 21 81,523 83,250
B Borrowings 30 876,430 935,840
964,073 1,030,254
REBEE Current liabilities
ERTE SRR Trade payables 28 548,021 545,647
FERT & A R H b BT BRK Accruals and other payables 29 222,369 219,379
aEHaE Contract liabilities 5 133,620 136,502
HEAE Lease liabilities 17 1,714 14,676
EHMGEHEE Current income tax liabilities 29,139 34,693
B Borrowings 30 742,498 854,838
U 1,677,361 - 1,805,735
wes®| Total liabilites = 2641434 2835989
HEZREE Total equity and liabilities 6,158,836 7,310,256

GEVBEHRRERN _E-_RAFE=A=-+/\H
EEEg aARRETIE YAHTIES

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

REEE: 26 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
F B2 FEH WONG CHUNG MAT, BEN WONG YIN MAN, ADA
FEFRTHAAH BFH Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Director

bt gR A B R 0 3K FE B2 BE B BN 5 — BF

The above consolidated statement of financial position
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-_F_mFE+—HA=+—HIF/E Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

N/NSIE RN A
Attributable to owners of the Company
A RhEE  EMFEE @t
Share Share Other
capital premium reserves Total
(BFsE31)  (KIsE32)  (HI&E32)
(Note 31) (Note 32) (Note 32)
BETT BETT BETT BET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
WZZE-_=F—H—H As at 1 January 2023 47,848 153,025 4,212,220 4,413,093
ZHKA Comprehensive income
FEME Profit for the year - - 152,726 152,726
HiZmEmkA Other comprehensive income
HERAAEBEFAEMER Loss on disposal of financial assets
WANEGREE BB at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - (5,300) (5,300)
BAREBEFAEMEAEKAL  Changes in fair value of financial
CHMEAEANBEE assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - (21,267) (21,267)
EMBmEEE Currency translation differences - - (24,909) (24,909)
Reneyn-—FE Cash flow hedge - fair value losses
NREERE for the year - - (5,017) (5,017)
Rensyn-—owR Cash flow hedge - deferred income
ERETEH tax recognised - - 828 828
HttZEESEeE Total other comprehensive loss S - (65,665) __(55,665)
e ON L Total comprehensive income - - 97,061 97,061
BEBAZRS Transactions with owners
ENAARHEAZRE Dividend paid to owners of
the Company - - (35,887) (85,887)
BEBANIRSBE Total transactions with owners S - .. (85887) _ (35,887)
R-B-=%f+=HA=t+—-H As at 31 December 2023 47,848 153,025 4,273,394 4,474,267

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE—F_pF+—-HA=+—HIFF/Z Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

FNUNGTE 2=DN 2
Attributable to owners of the Company
BA ROEE HitfEE g
Share Share Other
capital premium reserves Total

(MPeE31)  (MisE32)  (MiEEs2)
(Note 31) (Note 32) (Note 32)
BETT BT BY¥Tx BTz
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

R-ZE-_NE-HF—H As at 1 January 2024 47,848 153,025 4,273,394 4,474,267
ZHKA Comprehensive income
FEER Loss for the year - -  (837,464) (837,464)
HiZmEmkA Other comprehensive income
HERAAEBEFAEMER Gain on disposal of financial assets
WARESREE 2 Wa at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - 395 395
BAREBEFAEMEAEKAL  Changes in fair value of financial
CHMEAEANBEE assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - - (21,638) (21,638)
EHmEEE Currency translation differences - - (75,424)  (75,424)
Reneyn-—FE Cash flow hedge - fair value gains
AR € for the year - - 5,723 5,723
Rensfin-—BER Cash flow hedge - deferred income
ERETEH tax recognised - - (944) (944)
At 2EBARE Total other comprehensive loss SO - (91,888) __ (91,888)
2HEREHE Total comprehensive loss - - (929,352) (929,352)
BEBAZRS Transactions with owners
ENAARHEAZRE Dividend paid to owners of
the Company - - (27,513) (27,513)
BBEAZXBRE Total transactions with owners SO - [27,513) __ (27,513)
R-B-WE+=-A=+-H As at 31 December 2024 47,848 153,025 3,316,529 3,517,402
Fatsr AR EERELEFBEMNM s —6f The above consolidated statement of changes in equity
BsE o should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
notes.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 1 1 5
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

HE-_F_mFE+—HA=+—HIF/E Forthe year ended 31 December 2024

“E-NE —EC-=E
2024 20283
i 5E BETR BT T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
EETBMBHASRE Cash flows from operating activities
LEEEMBE TR Net cash generated from operations 34(a) 324,157 485,217
ERNBEBMNER Hong Kong profits tax paid (4,925) (6,875)
BRI R Overseas tax paid (51,461) (45,352)
RERE NN Interest paid (72,145) (90,127)
EETHELANBRSTFE Net cash generated from
operating activities 195,626 342,863
RETEMERERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEAME - FBEL&E Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (12,958) (20,816)
HENE BEREE Proceeds from disposal of property,

B8 58 plant and equipment 34(b) 1,786 6,324
B 8 Dividend received 252 1,827
Hj’ih?/&/dﬁﬁ:fr)\ﬁﬂﬁ Proceeds from disposal of investment

FERANECHEE in financial assets at fair value

REMBHE through other comprehensive income 7,679 31,911
RESETER (M) /M2 (Increase)/decrease in short-term

bank deposits 34(c) (228,395) 256,218

XREBE (M) RDL (Increase)/decrease in restricted cash (643) 2,945

BEREEX Repayment from joint ventures 33,200 36,057

BB Interest received 20,748 25,686
REZES (A /FEH Net cash (used in)/generated from

BeFE investing activities (178,331) 340,152
BETBRERERE Cash flows from financing activities

R RERITER Decrease in trust receipt bank

P - FE loans - net (115,401) (104,773)
HIERITE N New bank loans 572,869 792,000
EERITERK Repayment of bank loans (629,218) (919,517)
THBEMRK Payment of lease payments 34(c) (13,917) (16,136)

ERRE Dividends paid (27,513) (35,887)

MAZHAAMREFEE  Net cash used in financing activities | (213,180) (284,313)
IR&&E&%F%Z Net (decrease)/increases in cash
W),/ BmEE and cash equivalents (195,885) 398,702

fﬁ?ﬂ Zﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%f’% Cash and cash equivalents at

beginning of the year 942,040 544,537
ERBREER Currency translation differences (26,309) (1,199)
FRCBAERAEEED Cash and cash equivalents at end

of the year 26 719,846 942,040

Fat4R &R 2R 8 K FE R EE Y EE — OF

The above consolidated cash flow statements should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying note.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—REH

ITREREEERQA ([ARA]) R
HHE QA (il FﬁﬁlJ)I%?ﬁé$
M 2E HERDHEFEM:
SE/ESSE

RARTTRBRETMK L 2 B
PEREAQAFA -GFMMHEREREE
& 2 1 B 9 Bl i 7 Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11,
Bermuda X & & /188 B ¥& & XX 110857
HBEBIRKEITE

ARBZBNEBRELBHERHAH
BRABERET-

brEEREPEIN RV FmMERAEEE
UEY -GEMBRRER-_ZT_AF
— At NBHEEESHETE-

EIEELURAEAZERK
HtAEEAEFTBHRER
M=

2HNRFEHEAMBBRRARA ZEKR
REA P EB NG BEREN T3 -k
SHEEPIN ZFEBRRENXNABE 2 F
EERER-

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wong’s International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
development, manufacture, marketing and
distribution of electronics products as well as
property holding.

The Company is an exempted limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The address of
its registered office and principal place of business
are Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM 11, Bermuda and 17/F., C-Bons International
Center, No0.108 Wai Yip Street, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company has its primary listing on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements
have been approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 26 March 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED

The material and other potentially material
accounting policies applied in the presentation of
these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 1 1 7
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation

(@) Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong, and requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”)
Cap. 622.

The preparation of the consolidated
financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

(b) Historical cost convention

These consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on historical cost
basis, as modified by revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, derivative
financial instruments and investment
properties, which are carried at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures

(@) Amended standards and interpretation
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the
following amended standards and
interpretation for the first time for its
annual reporting period commencing
on 1 January 2024:

Standards Subject of amendment

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities
HKAS 1 as Current or Non-

current

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale
HKFRS 16 and Leaseback

Hong Kong Presentation of Financial

Interpretation 5 (2020) Statements -
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause

Amendments to Supplier Finance
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 1 1 9
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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POLICIES
(continued)

2 Z2HNEEUERHEAZEAE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
HMtogEgEa XS HEEE SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
BE(F) POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

INFORMATION APPLIED

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures (continued)

(@)

Amended standards and interpretation
adopted by the Group (continued)

The amended standards and
interpretation listed above did not
have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect
the current or future periods.

New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted

Certain new and amended standards
and interpretation have been
published that are not mandatory for
31 December 2024 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by
the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

XKk 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
=

B
BEEFEEA SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

211 B BREERIFE (&) 2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and

disclosures (continued)

(b) r'ﬁH;E W2 FTRT R A (b) New and amended standards and
AIERIA KRR (&) interpretation not yet adopted

(continued)

BUT AER 2 %6
5 LHES M EEABEN
Effective for annual
periods beginning
Standards Subject of amendment on or after
ERGHEUENRREBYBRERUE IR 2BIR R ARk —T_h%¥—-H-H
Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
ERMBREEURIFRBEYBREENEIF ERIADBRFABZER N
ERI
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of 1 January 2026
Financial Instruments
ERMBREEUE IR BERBRELEHNETHR BRMBREEANGH R ERSE-ENS “ZR¥-A-H
ERMBREEAENN BARBRELF10%
REBGHERETHR
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards - 1 January 2026
Volume 11
ERMBREENE18% HBRETNIIERREE e =
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
ERMBREENE19% TEARBEUNNELR: BE —Z-+F-A-H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
ERREFESR BERBESK 2B ABERRNTIR—ERAY —T_t+5—-H-H
BERERNEGNNEHERNH B
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation 1 January 2027

of Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

BAVBREENFIONRBAGHENFBR TR REEZEABLENARAELE A EAELERIE fFiE

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and To be determined
its Associate or Joint Venture
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TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED

(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted (continued)

The Group will adopt the above
new and amended standards and
interpretation as and when they
become effective. Further information
about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below.



e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EHNEELURAERAZERK
HAgEEAEHFBEREER
ME (&)

21 mBEEZE (4F)

211 EfBRBERKE

()

b
i

4 KA 2
ST R

B R
5% ol
[EE
=

%}f
%A
B
W

XN
ﬁ—g
el
kS

i

]
L
&3#
Jusin

of
i
o

>
S
3T
\mm
)
Zi>m
B St 2t DD
Sk

@
oh
o
mE

/]
/'

\,]]}%:g
2 JINDL S

I

i

o~

=
el =

| }AT)
..‘>d+
EEBK.

:hﬁ-?ﬂ:ﬂﬂ]
=B A i

\
r

o
R
e

i

T ot

KU o
- AR

B HH it R

b
D

o

SN
Al

B

S oy mp SR
S e - W

S

G %;I"-Iﬁ# T
=
S

I
S

JiisSabes
N>

D0 i SN R D | 2 ot 3 - 8 SB e
m

TE T - S

T e

= ol
i

kA
§ o

Yk
S

Wt
B B

i
]ﬁ
Fri} i
R | TN SISO 00 - I e A e e ot 5 e

o
=
(a
QO e

>m
L=
=

\l
< Jin
=]
H
Rin
&
palll;
\_|

i m@ﬂﬂ%
o ﬁ<¢§w>w~
bl 7 sy
S A

J.EH>

e

H
amAR )

T D

\\\\\\\

B

: }‘HH?
af

i 58 o St
e <
e |

P33
I I

Bk

e
o

T

O B 10 M2 S

jul
0
ini U
il

DfF Gt Y e M

W
M43 R O

m

m

| | &SYEE
;E

W

D o B2
\n/}g%ﬂ

RN | O
-

Sl

HF
e
e 3
\D%
(28]

DEINE

o
s
i
‘_N
i
Dt
o

i
5d

it S
p——
[0¢]

A

S

E‘]ﬁmn

X

B+ 3p Ot

%Hﬂ: 5 _}\/
St

Nt
2
g A

B
A
of B8
S0 255 3 3

s
SN WS
S
4
3> EE oAl

H

m
—
(0]

anp it
[\ap=rl

B
SR
i
0 i
S
B
=

I

S
By

=

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures (continued)

(o) New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted (continued)

HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements
for presentation within the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income,
including specified totals and subtotals.
Furthermore, entities are required
to classify all income and expenses
within the consolidated income
statement into one of five categories:
operating, investing, financing, income
taxes and discontinued operations,
whereof the first three are new. It also
requires disclosure of newly defined
management-defined performance
measures, subtotals of income
and expenses, and includes new
requirements for aggregation and
disaggregation of financial information
based on the identified ‘roles’ of the
primary financial statements and the
notes. In addition, narrow-scope
amendments have been made to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows,
which include changing the starting
point for determining cash flows from
operations under the indirect method,
from ‘profit or loss’ to ‘operating profit
or loss’ and removing the optionality
around classification of cash flows from
dividends and interest. There are also
consequential amendments to several
other standards. HKFRS 18 and the
amendments to the other standards,
are effective for reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027,
but earlier application is permitted and
must be disclosed. HKFRS 18 will apply
retrospectively. The new requirements
are expected to impact the Group’s
presentation of the consolidated income
statement and disclosures of the
Group’s financial performance. So far,
the Group considers that the adoption
of HKFRS 18 is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the Group’s results
of operations and financial position.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED

(continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and
disclosures (continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted (continued)

The Directors of the Company have
performed preliminary assessment
and do not anticipate any other
significant impact on the Group’s
financial position and results of
operations upon adopting these
new and amended standards and
interpretation to existing HKFRSs.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
2.2.1 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements
include the financial statements of the
Company and all of its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December 2024.

(@) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which
the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to
direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting
is used to account for business
combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.
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TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
(continued)

INFORMATION APPLIED

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(0)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint
Arrangements, investments in
joint arrangements are classified
as either joint operations or
joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor,
rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Group
has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them
to be joint ventures. Interests in joint
ventures are accounted for using
the equity method, after initially
being recognised at cost in the
consolidated statement of financial
position.

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of
accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in consolidated income
statement, and the Group’s share of
movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associate
and joint ventures are recognised as
a reduction in the carrying amount of
the investment.



e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EIHEEDLREMEAZERKR 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

Htt TR EXREFHEKELR SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

BE (&) POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

22 EREFHERE (&) 2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
221 =& () 2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

) #mgihE (&) (c) Equity accounting (continued)
EAEEEGEERER When the Group’s share of losses
ABRKRENEBRESR in an equity-accounted investment
MO ERZEENE equals or exceeds its interest in the
@ (B35 H Ath K entity, including any other unsecured
A RAEIE K KIE) - Al long-term receivables, the Group
AEBTSERE—F does not recognise further losses,
EE BRIFADELER unless it has incurred obligations
FIREEMEBEL or made payments on behalf of the
ke other entity.

REBBEEBERAR Unrealised gains on transactions
BEDPERGZRER between the Group and its associate
WHREAEERZEE and joint ventures are eliminated to
BOEREE - RIER the extent of the Group’s interest in
SRTEEEEEERE these entities. Unrealised losses are
ZEE BRKRERE also eliminated unless the transaction
BNgHE-EREFR provides evidence of an impairment
EREITRERARZ of the asset transferred. Accounting
WIREF 2GR policies of equity accounted
HREAKBTRMAE investees have been changed where
— % necessary to ensure consistency with

the policies adopted by the Group.

EESARKRE KRR The carrying amount of equity-
BT R IEM 5E2.2.6PT il accounted investments is tested for
2 BUREITRERIE o impairment in accordance with the

policy described in Note 2.2.6.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
(continued)

INFORMATION APPLIED

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

(d)

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with
non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of
the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling
interests to reflect their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of
the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in
a separate reserve within equity
attributable to owners of the
Company.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)
(d) Changes in ownership interests (continued)

When the Group ceases to
consolidate or equity account for
an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value
with the change in carrying amount
recognised in consolidated income
statement. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial
asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect
of that entity are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to
consolidated income statement or
transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.
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TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)
(d) Changes in ownership interests (continued)

[f the ownership interest in a
joint venture or an associate
is reduced but joint control or
significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are
reclassified to consolidated income
statement where appropriate.

2.2.2 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in
a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM”). The Group’s
senior executive management, who is
responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating
segments, is considered as the CODM
that makes strategic decisions.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.3 Foreign currency translation
(@) Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial
statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional
and the Group’s presentation
currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated income statement,
except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or
qualifying net investment hedges.
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TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(b) Transactions and balances (continued)

All foreign exchange gains and losses
including those relate to borrowings
and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated income
statement within ‘other losses/gains
- net’.

Changes in the fair value of monetary
securities denominated in foreign
currency classified as financial assets
and financial liabilities (including
derivative financial instruments)
at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes
in the amortised cost of the security,
and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in the
amortised cost are recognised in
consolidated income statement, and
other changes in the carrying amount
are recognised in consolidated
income statement and other
comprehensive income for financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss and financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
respectively.
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EHNEELUERFAHFEHAZEARE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
Htt TR EXREFHEKELR SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
BE (&) POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

22 EABHBEMYE (&) 2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)
223 S E (4E) 2.2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
b) RHREEH (E) (b) Transactions and balances (continued)
FEEHMEENAE Translation difference on non-
(Bl A EE A monetary financial assets and
BanvemEERSR liabilities such as financial assets
BE(BRETESHRT and financial liabilities (including
B)RAERASEBER derivative financial instruments) at
ABRZARFEZR fair value through profit or loss and
R)Z2BMBZERES equities held at fair value through
WHERER ERBRA profit or loss are recognised in
BEREB 2NN FE consolidated income statement as
MemEE (Mo part of the fair value gain or loss.
B AR EBERF AEAM Translation differences on non-
FHBRANEREE L monetary financial assets such
RAR) 2 REEZ8 5T A as equities classified as financial
Hi 2w A - assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income are included
in other comprehensive income.
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(continued)

22 BEAGHBEBE (&)

(continued)

223 SR E (&)
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B(ZTEEMEESR
BEBREERERZE

PREPARATION AND

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

INFORMATION APPLIED

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

2.2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
Group companies

The results and financial position
of all the Group entities (none
of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation

currency as follows:

) 2 FE R -

BUATHTABRERER

B

) BHBERRKE (i)
JIEERBE &
wmE RSz TE
ES I

(i) BEERIWAR (ii)
X IR E R

o HEY
FREXZHEHB
TTERZBHMRZ
BEDOHBEI K
BB WA K
NS H Bk
R

iy FTEAZEPERZ= (iil)
BEERAEEME
A e

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
report;

income and expenses for each
income statement are translated
at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and

all resulting exchange
differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange
differences arising from the
translation of the net investment
in foreign operations, and of
borrowings and other currency
instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or
sold, exchange differences that were
recorded in equity are recognised in
the consolidated income statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.2.4 Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories
and offices. All property, plant and
equipment is stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the
asset’s carrying amount or recognised
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are
charged in the consolidated income
statement during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 6 to 40 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 5to 7 years
Furniture and fixtures 5to 7 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction in progress represents
property, plant and equipment under
construction or pending installation and is
stated at cost less impairment losses, if
any. No provision for depreciation is made
on assets under construction in progress
until such time as the relevant assets
are completed and available for their
intended use. On completion, the relevant
assets are transferred to property, plant
and equipment at fair value or cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

An asset’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.2.6).

Gains and losses on disposals are
determined by comparing the proceeds
with the carrying amount and are
recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.5 Investment properties

Investment properties, principally
comprising leasehold land and buildings,
are held for long-term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both, and that are
not occupied by the companies in the
Group.

Investment properties comprise land held
under operating leases and buildings held
under finance leases. Land held under
operating leases are accounted for as
investment properties when the rest of
the definition of an investment property is
met. In such cases, the operating leases
concerned are accounted for as if they
were finance leases.

Investment properties are measured
initially at its cost, including related
transaction costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value
determined at each reporting date by
external valuers at least annually. Fair
value is based on active market prices,
adjusted, if necessary, for any difference
in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If this information is
not available, the external valuers use
alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets
or discounted cash flow projections.
Changes in fair values are recognised in
the consolidated income statement.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.5 Investment properties (continued)

Subsequent expenditure is charged to
the asset’s carrying amount only when it
is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement during the
period in which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-
occupied, it is reclassified as property,
plant and equipment, and its fair value at
the date of reclassification becomes its
cost for accounting purposes.

If an item of property, plant and
equipment becomes an investment
property because its use has changed,
any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of this item
at the date of transfer is recognised in
equity as a revaluation of property, plant
and equipment under HKAS 16.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.5 Investment properties (continued)

If an item of stock of completed
properties transfers to investment
properties, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of this
item as at the date of transfer shall be
recognised in the consolidated income
statement. The transfer to investment
properties shall be made when, and
only when, there is a change in use. The
inception of a lease to another party is
generally an evidence of a change in use.
A change in use has occurred is based
on an assessment of all relevant facts
and circumstances. The relevant facts
include but not limited to the Group’s
business plan, financial resources and
legal requirements.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

226 Impairment of investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and non-
financial assets

Assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of
assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
(continued)

INFORMATION APPLIED

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.7 Investments and other financial assets

(i)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial
assets in the following measurement
categories:

e those to be measured
subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive
income, or through consolidated
income statement), and

° those to be measured at
amortised cost.

The classification depends on the
entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value,
gains and losses will either be
recorded in consolidated income
statement or other comprehensive
income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
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SHNEEUEFERAZEAXE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
EMmWgEEREHTHEEER SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
BE (&) POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED

(continued)
22 EABHBEMYE (&) 2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

22 REREMEREE (F) 2.2.7 Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

(i) WREELEER (i)  Recognition and derecognition
TREELEREERR Regular way purchases and sales
REBBR—XHAIE of financial assets are recognised
REEARBBEASLE on trade-date, the date on which
ZEEZH-BEESRE the Group commits to purchase or
EEEPREGREZHE sell the asset. Financial assets are
ME P HsEE B derecognised when the rights to
SECERHEBERE B receive cash flows from the financial
A EB o [ i A0 (2 o 83 5 assets have expired or have been
FAlemEEGRIE transferred and the Group has
W o transferred substantially all the risks

and rewards of ownership.

(i) &= (i) Measurement
RYEHERE  AEE At initial recognition, the Group
FEEMEE (HEeR measures a financial asset at its fair
BEWIFZAREBEL value plus, in the case of a financial
A=) AR AREEDN asset not at fair value through profit
FAEERBRWEZ or loss, transaction costs that are
HeMEEZRSE directly attributable to the acquisition
Re-BiEA AR BERA of the financial asset. Transaction
BanveMEEMRBE costs of financial assets carried at
RHERNEFEEREE fair value through profit or loss are
S expensed in consolidated income
statement.
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(continued)

22 EREFHERE (&)

(continued)

22T RERHMEMEE (#)

PREPARATION AND

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

INFORMATION APPLIED

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

2.2.7 Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

(i) F=(&) (ifi)
EETA
BB TR ZEEFTER
ARAEEEERZEE

ZEBRANNZEE
ZIREREFE-

Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow

characteristics of the asset.
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Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these
financial assets is included
in finance income using the
effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised
directly in consolidated income
statement and presented
in other losses/gains — net,
together with foreign exchange
gains and losses.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.7 Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

(i)  Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

o Fair value through other
comprehensive income: Assets
that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are
measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income.
Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other
comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are
recognised in consolidated
income statement. When the
financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in
other comprehensive income
is reclassified from equity to
consolidated income statement
and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income
from these financial assets is
included in finance income
using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented
in other losses/gains — net
and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line
item in consolidated income
statement.
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2 ES2HNEEUERFERAZEAXE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
EMmWgEEREHTHEEER SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
BE (&) POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)
22 EREFHERE (&) 2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)
22 REREMEREE (F) 2.2.7 Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

(i) &= (&) (i) Measurement (continued)

#xmTA Equity instruments

REBEURAABEYFE The Group subsequently measures
EREDINEEITRER all equity investments at fair value.
EMAKREERER Where the Group’s management has
EEERREZARE elected to present fair value gains
ERETAEMEEK and losses on equity investments in
A BB R IEREK other comprehensive income, there
B - TeBAnEE is no subsequent reclassification
BEETHEEHFREI of fair value gains and losses to
mEA-BHEREZRE consolidated income statement
7 1B A 7N 5 (B 1 S YA following the derecognition of
&% B 2 1 | B R 4R & U the investment. Dividends from
R MRS EMUA - such investments continue to be

recognised in consolidated income
statement as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is

established.

HRIRAABEG AR Changes in the fair value of financial
mEMEE HAR assets at fair value through profit or
BEZINEFEENER loss are recognised in other losses/
ZEHMEE W F gains - net in the consolidated
BWES (WMER) - ¥ income statement as applicable.
R AR EBET AHEM Impairment losses (and reversal
FHBRAZEREEM of impairment losses) on equity
THEREEB (AR investments measured at fair value
MEBERER) g R through other comprehensive income
HtWARBEEEHME are not reported separately from
A7k other changes in fair value.

146 TEREREEERAT 2024 FF
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SHNEEUEFERAZEAXE 2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
EMmWgEEREHTHEEER SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
BE (&) POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED

(continued)
22 EABHBEMYE (&) 2.2 Summary of material accounting policies

(continued)

22 REREMEREE (F) 2.2.7 Investments and other financial assets

(continued)

(iv) JB1E (iv) Impairment
HRAB KA 2 ER The Group assesses on a forward
TEMS AKEBHE looking basis the expected credit
TEEE B EEEL ATE losses associated with its debt
M RT A o BB 7 0E BUR instruments carried at amortised
REEERRBEZELDREE cost. The impairment methodology
300 o Rk 1B &S 1B S RN AR applied depends on whether there
BB REY -HNIE has been a significant increase in
WEBSERME &A% credit risk. Impairment losses are
ERAE BN BERELE presented in consolidated income
Ao ndr 2 Bk 75 statement. For trade receivables,
% % B E R WA the Group applies the simplified
T 38 LA BR K R [R) e 1 approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
RIBERFHAEE - which requires expected lifetime

losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.8 Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair
value on the date a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end
of each reporting period. The accounting
for subsequent changes in fair value
depends on whether the derivative is
designated as a hedging instrument, and
if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
The Group designates certain derivatives:

° hedges of a particular risk associated
with the cash flows of recognised
assets and liabilities and highly
probable forecast transactions (cash
flow hedges).

The Group documents at the inception
of the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedge items, as well
as its risk management objective and
strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents
its assessment, both at hedge inception
and on an ongoing basis, of whether
the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions have been and will continue
to be highly effective in offsetting changes
in fair values or cash flows of hedged
items.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.8 Derivatives and hedging activities
(continued)

The fair values of various derivative
financial instruments used for hedging
purposes are disclosed in Note 27.
Movements in the hedging reserve in
shareholders’ equity are shown in Note
32. The full fair value of a hedging
derivative is classified as a non-current
asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is more than
twelve months; it is classified as a current
asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is less than
twelve months. Trading derivatives are
classified as a current asset or liability.

()  Cash flow hedge that qualify for hedge
accounting

The effective portion of changes
in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualified as
cash flow hedges is recognised in
other comprehensive income and
accumulated in reserves in equity.
The gain or loss relating to the
ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in consolidated income
statement within ‘other losses/gains
- net’.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
(continued)

INFORMATION APPLIED

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.8 Derivatives and hedging activities
(continued)

(i)

Cash flow hedge that qualify for hedge
accounting (continued)

Amounts accumulated in equity are
reclassified in the periods when the
hedged item affects profit or loss, as
follows:

e The gain or loss relating to the
effective portion of the interest
rate swaps hedging variable
rate borrowings is recognised
in profit or loss within finance
cost at the same time as the
interest expense on the hedged
borrowings.

When a hedging instrument expires
or is sold or terminated, or when a
hedge no longer meets the criteria
for hedge accounting, any cumulative
gain or loss existing in equity at
that time remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised
in consolidated income statement.
When a forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was
reported in equity is immediately
reclassified to consolidated income
statement.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2.2.8 Derivatives and hedging activities
(continued)

(i)  The derivative instruments do not
qualify for hedge accounting

Changes in the fair value of these
derivative instruments are recognised
immediately in the consolidated
income statement within ‘other
losses/gains — net’.

2.29 Inventories and stock of completed
properties

Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined using the weighted average
method. The cost of finished goods and
work in progress comprises raw materials,
direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable
variable selling expenses.

Stocks of completed properties are stated
at lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined by apportionment of
the total land and development costs
attributable to the completed properties.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2210 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due
from customers for merchandise sold
or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade
and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that
is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when
they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. See Note 24
for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and
Note 3.1(b)(ii)(1) for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2211 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay
for goods or services that have been
acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade and
other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2212 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair
value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at
amortised cost; any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over
the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

INFORMATION APPLIED

(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

22.12

2213

Borrowings (continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs.
To the extent there is no evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised
as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months
after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs
directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2213 Borrowing costs (continued)

Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised
in consolidated income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

2214 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for
the period is the tax payable on the
current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes
in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and
to unused tax losses.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2214 Current and deferred income tax
(continued)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is
calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures
operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2214 Current and deferred income tax
(continued)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise
from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted
by the end of the reporting period and
are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2214 Current and deferred income tax
(continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset where there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has
a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised
in consolidated income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2215 Employee benefits
(@) Pension obligations

Group companies participate in
general defined contribution pension
schemes. A defined contribution plan
is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into
a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to
pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and
prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to
publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they
are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.
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2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2215 Employee benefits (continued)

()

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual

ATEERER - ESR leave are recognised when they
B £ L AR 75 1 S A2 Y JE accrued to employees. A provision
ZEERDEHERSE is made for the estimated liability
Az FRGTRBENE for annual leave as a result of
BE-EEEREZRBX services rendered by employees
D REEN AR up to the reporting date. Employee
W o entitlements to sick leave and
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maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable
when employment is terminated
by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever
an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either:
terminating the employment of
current employees according to
a detailed formal plan without
possibility of withdrawal; or providing
termination benefits as a result of an
offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Benefits falling due more
than twelve months after the end of
the reporting period are discounted
to present value.
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POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)
22 EARETHERBE (&) 2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)
2015 EEEA (48) 2215 Employee benefits (continued)

d) A BERZRIELEE (d) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
WEHRETZMEARN Provisions for profit sharing and
BB 2ABEHEER bonus plans due wholly within
+E%IE‘|‘.%HZT§§‘{%EESZK twelve months after the end of the
SEREERERKEM reporting period are recognised when
EXBRBEAETREER the Group has a present legal or
£ Beer SEfhat B constructive obligation as a result of
B ER T LARER © services rendered by employees and
a reliable estimate of the obligation

can be made.
2216 B 4E 2216 Provisions
EAEERE-BESHM Provisions are recognised when the Group
BBEETELETEEEI A4 has a legal or constructive obligation
EEESBMELENRR arising as a result of a past event, which
- BRI o will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably
estimated.

fisl & £ B M &= 7 ﬁ—f’*b’l“_{T Where it is not probable that an outflow
AN W BB TN SE of economic benefits will be required, or
mEtR B BEBEEEBER the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
_i%ﬁﬁﬁﬁg B FE 42 8 7 the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
#h M H 2 7] e 1 AR 1K Bl 5 liability, unless the probability of outflow
Al MABRIEELEZEE of economic benefits is remote. Possible
HEFEHEHR -EHNKFEKRNK obligations, the existence of which will
EHZBEAEEDRER TN only be confirmed by the occurrence or
BRAEINRBE BRIFLE non-occurrence of one or more future
MR 2 Al e R K Bl 5 events, are also disclosed as contingent
MRl W& BEN=EME 2 liabilities unless the probability of outflow
AR AL ARERT of economic benefits is remote. When a
Etgmuﬁﬁx Bl BR H#SwE change in the probability of an outflow
RARE - occurs, so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2217 Revenue recognition
(@) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised when the
control of the products is transferred
to the customers at a point in time,
being products are delivered to the
customers, the customers have full
discretion over the channel and price
to sell the products, and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customers’ acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to
the specified location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customers.

A receivable is recognised when the
goods are delivered as this is the
point in time that the consideration
is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before
the payment is due.

Payments received in advance that
are related to sales of goods not
yet delivered are recognised as
contract liabilities and deferred in the
consolidated statement of financial
position.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2217 Revenue recognition (continued)
(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on
a time-proportion basis using the
effective interest method.

(c) Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease
periods.

(d) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised
when the right to receive payment is
established.

2218 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available
for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and
non-lease components. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract
to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone
prices. However, for leases of real estate
for which the Group is a lessee, it has
elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts
for these as a single lease component.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2218 Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a
lease are initially measured on a present
value basis. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the following lease
payments:

e fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are
based on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as
at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable
by the Group under residual value
guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase
option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating
the lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under
reasonably certain extension options are
also included in the measurement of the
liability.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2218 Leases (continued)

The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If
that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases
in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security
and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing
rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-
party financing received by the
individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in
financing conditions since third party
financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts
with a risk-free interest rate adjusted
for credit risk for leases held by the
Group, which does not have recent
third party financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the
lease, e.g. term, country, currency
and security.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2218 Leases (continued)

Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to consolidated income
statement over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement
of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs; and
° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally
depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. If the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.2 Summary of material accounting policies
(continued)

2218 Leases (continued)

Payments associated with short-term
leases of equipment and all leases of low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense in consolidated
income statement. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of twelve months
or less.

Lease income from operating leases
where the Group is a lessor is recognised
in consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the underlying asset
and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income.
The respective leased assets are included
in the consolidated statement of financial
position based on their nature.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies

2.3.1 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset
and the net amount reported in the
statement of financial position when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
of the company or the counterparty.

2.3.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash
on hand, deposits held at call with banks,
other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts.

2.3.3 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to
the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction from the
proceeds.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continued)

2.3.4 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are
recognised as a financial liability at
the time the guarantee is issued. The
liability is initially measured at fair value
and subsequently at the higher of the
amount determined in accordance with
the expected credit loss model under
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and the
amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with the
principles of HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”.

The fair value of financial guarantees is
determined as the present value of the
difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments under the debt
instrument and the payments that would
be required without the guarantee, or
the estimated amount that would be
payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans
or other payables of subsidiaries
or associate are provided for no
compensation, the fair values are
accounted for as contributions and
recognised as part of the cost of the
investment in the financial statements of
the Group.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SUMMARY OF MATERIAL AND OTHER
POTENTIALLY MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES INFORMATION APPLIED
(continued)

2.3 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continued)

2.3.5 Government grants

Grants from the government are
recognised at their fair values where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs
are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated income statement over
the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to the
purchase of property, plant and
equipment are initially included in liabilities
as deferred government grants and when
such property, plant and equipment
are built or purchased, the received
government grants are recognised in
consolidated income statement on a
systematic basis over the expected useful
lives of the related assets.

2.3.6 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in
the Group’s and the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk and cash flow interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Group
uses derivative financial instruments to hedge
certain risk exposures.

(@) Market risk
()  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally
and is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from various currency
exposures. The Group’s foreign
currency assets, liabilities and
transactions are principally
denominated in Chinese renminbi
(“RMB”) and United States dollars
(“US$"). These currencies are not
the functional currencies of certain
subsidiaries of the Group to which
these balances related. Foreign
exchange risk mainly arises from
future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments denominated in RMB
and USS$.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group mitigates this risk by
maintaining HK$, US$ and RMB
bank accounts which are used by
the Group to pay for the transactions
denominated in these currencies.

The Group has operations in
Mainland China, whose net assets
are denominated in RMB. The
conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies is subject to the rules and
regulations on the foreign exchange
control promulgated by the Mainland
China government.

At 31 December 2024, for the
group companies with RMB as
their functional currency, if RMB
had weakened/strengthened by 5%
(2023: 5%) against US$ with all other
variables held constant, post-tax loss
(2023: post-tax profit) for the year
would have been HK$16,550,000
lower/higher (2023: HK$16,347,000
higher/lower), mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of US$-denominated trade
receivables and payables and cash
and cash equivalents.



3

BEBRERER (&)

3.1

BEsEREE (&)

miEE kR (&) (a)

(a)

(1)

(if)

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)
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(i)

(i

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As the Hong Kong dollar is pegged
to the US$, the Group management
considers that the relevant foreign
exchange risks are minimal.

As the RMB-denominated assets and
liabilities in group entities with HK$
as functional currency is immaterial,
the Group management considered
that the relevant foreign exchange
risks are minimal.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest
rate risk through the impact of rate
changes on interest bearing assets
and liabilities. Cash flow interest
rate risk is the risk that changes
in market interest rates will impact
cash flows arising from variable rate
financial instruments. The Group’s
interest bearing assets mainly include
deposits at bank. The Group’s
floating rate borrowings will be
affected by fluctuation of prevailing
market interest rates and will expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk.

The Group manages its cash flow
interest rate risk by using interest
rate swaps. Generally, the Group
raises borrowings at floating rates
and swaps them into fixed rates
that are lower than those available
if the Group borrowed at fixed rates
directly.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(i)  Cash flow interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, if interest
rate on bank borrowings had been
1% (2023: 1%) higher/lower with all
variables held constant, post-tax
loss for the year would have been
HK$993,000 higher/lower (20283:
post-tax profit of HK$2,427,000
lower/higher), mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expense on
floating rate bank borrowings, which
are not hedged with interest rate
swap contracts.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from restricted cash, short-term bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents
as well as credit exposures to customers
such as trade receivables, financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deposits and other receivables.
The credit risk on cash and bank deposits
is limited because the Group mainly
places the deposits in banks with high
credit rating and management does not
expect any losses from non-performance
by these banks.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) EERE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) REpER ()  Risk management
REBEERR K& To manage credit risk, the Group has
EZEMEBEERRK considered the underlying security
BEHFLH2RAES and the long-established business
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relationship with the counterparty.
The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales of products on
credit terms are made to customers
with an appropriate credit history
and the Group performs periodic
credit evaluations of its customers.
Normally the Group does not require
collaterals from trade debtors. As at
31 December 2024, the Group has a
concentration of credit risk given that
the top five (2023: five) customers
account for 85% (2023: 83%) of
the Group’s total year end trade
receivable balance. Management
considers that the credit risk in
respect of these customers is
minimal after considering the financial
position and past experience with
these customers.

The credit risk of the Group’s
other financial assets, which
comprise, restricted cash, short-
term bank deposits, cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive
income, deposits and other
receivables, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i

Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables and deposits and
other receivables are subject to the
expected credit loss model.

(1) Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS
9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables.

To measure the expected
credit losses, trade receivables
are assessed individually
for provision for impairment
allowance. Trade receivables
have been assessed based on
credit rating of the customers,
the repayment and default
histories of different customers
and on-going business
relationship with the relevant
customers. The loss rates
are further adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of
the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has
identified the Gross Domestic
Product index and annual
consumer price index of the
countries where the customers
located to be the most relevant
factor, and accordingly adjust
the historical loss rate based
on expected changes in these
factors.
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BEEREE (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

31 BIERREZE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) EERE (&) (b) Credit risk (continued)
iy EMEERE (&) (i) Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

(1) BREZH (E)

(1) Trade receivables (continued)
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Loss allowance in respect of
the trade receivables amounted
to approximately HK$438,000
(2023: HK$2,325,000) based
on an expected loss rate of
approximately 0.01% to 0.39%
(2023: 0.01% to 1.40%) as at 31
December 2024, primarily based
on individual assessment.

Trade receivables are written
off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of
recovery includes, amongst
other, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with
the Group.

Impairment losses on trade
receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against
the same line item.
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(b) FERMR (&)
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(1) EREZE (&)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Impairment of financial assets
(continued)

(1) Trade receivables (continued)

RZFEZ_MWOF K The movement of loss allowance
—E-=F+—-A8 for trade receivables as at 31
=t+—H BKE December 2024 and 2023 are
SRR EEEE as follows:
SEIIT
—E-NE —TZ=F
2024 2023
BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000
R—RA—BEHTEERE Opening loss allowance at 1 January (2,325) (3,468)
R ET R EE Reversal of provision for loss allowance 1,887 1,143
RT-—B=t+—BNHREREE Closing loss allowance at 31 December (438) (2,325)

fE W E 5 R BB
BB B EEED
75 #1,887,0007T
—E=F:%
#1,143,0007T ) 5F
AWK -
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Reversal of provision for
impairment losses on trade
receivables amounted
to HK$1,887,000 (2023:
HK$1,143,000) is included in the
consolidated income statement.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

iy EMEERE (&) (i) Impairment of financial assets

(continued)
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(2)  Other financial assets at amortised

cost

Other financial assets at
amortised cost include
deposits and other receivables.
Management considers that the
credit risk of these balances has
not increased significantly since
initial recognition with reference
to the counterparty historical
default rate and current financial
position. The impairment
provision is determined based
on the twelve months expected
credit losses which was
immaterial.

While cash and cash
equivalents, short-term bank
deposits and restricted cash are
also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was
immaterial.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of available credit facilities. The
Directors aim to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available.

The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor its liquidity requirements, its
compliance with lending covenants and
its relationship with its bankers to ensure
that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and readily realisable marketable
securities and adequate committed lines
of funding from major financial institutions
to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the
reporting period of the Group’s non-
derivative financial liabilities, based
on undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using
contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet date)
and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) RBELREM (&) (c) Liquidity risk (continued)
EESMI RERBEAERDN The analysis shows the cash outflow
XPHH (MERATEE based on the earliest period in which the
BIEGENDERAFER) entity can be required to pay, that is if the
RS IR HMIRITERK lenders were to invoke their unconditional
MEE B ST IREBETE rights to call the loans with immediate
HHARR - effect. The maturity analysis for other
bank borrowings is prepared based on
the scheduled repayment dates.
HEA A
Maturity Analysis
15/
REXEE 122F 2Z5% L
Less than 1 year
or repayable Between Between
on demand 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years Total
BETTL BETT BETTL BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-2-=£+-A=+-H At 31 December 2023
ERESRR Trade payables 545,647 - - 545,647
AT B R RAMERER Accruals and other payables 219,379 - - 219,379
HEERE Lease liabilties 15,121 1,532 - 16,653
EERERITER Trust receipt bank loans 343,911 - - 343911
REFEREURRY Other bank borrowings subject
EMHETER to a repayment on demand clause 39,273 - - 39,273
EHBIER Other bank borrowings 544,046 419,046 621,634 1,584,726
1,707,377 420,578 621,634 2,749,589
RZB-mME+ZR=1-H At 31 December 2024
BRESER Trade payables 548,021 - - 548,021
BHERARELEAER Accruals and other payables 121,631 - - 121,631
HEEE Lease liabllties 1,714 - - 1,714
EERERTER Trust receipt bank loans 226,381 - - 226,381
EBTER Other bank borrowings 574,777 560,599 379,373 1,514,749
1,472,524 560,599 379,373 2,412,496
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3 UBERERE (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

32 EXERER

3.2 Capital risk management
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The Group’s objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the
Group monitors capital on the basis of net
gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total equity. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings and lease
liabilities less restricted cash, short-term bank

deposits and cash and cash equivalents.

—E-mE —E- =%

2024 2023

BETT BT T

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BER Total borrowings 1,618,928 1,790,678

HEBE Lease liabilities 1,714 16,168
oo 1620642 1,806,846

X R HIE e Restricted cash 117,345 121,164

R ERIRI1T I 3K Short-term bank deposits 498,285 284,844

BeRBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 719,846 942,040
.o 1,885476 1,348,048

FEE Net debt 285,166 458,798

1B HE Total equity 3,517,402 4,474,267

BEEHHAERLE Net debt to total equity ratio 8% 10%

182 IEEBEEERAT 2024 F5H
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3 UBERERE (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.2 EXERERE (&) 3.2 Capital risk management (continued)
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The Group’s net gearing ratio was 8% (2023:
10%) as at 31 December 2024. The decrease
in net gearing ratio was due to gradual
repayments of total borrowings and lease
liabilities.

Certain entities of the Group are subject to
loan covenants. For both 2024 and 2023,
there is no material non-compliance with those
loan covenants. As disclosed in Note 30,
the entire non-current portion of bank loans
is subject to certain covenants which the
relevant group entities are required to comply
with, which are assessed on the date agreed
upon with the lenders. Under the terms of the
loan agreements, certain entities of the Group
are required to comply with financial covenants
applicable to certain bank loans, which
includes interest coverage ratio and loan-to-
value ratio. Non-financial related covenants
that the Group’s entities must comply with are
terms that commonly applicable to borrowers
based on the prevalent financial market
practice. There are no indications that the
group entities would have difficulties complying
with the covenants within 12 months after the
end of the reporting period.
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3 HMKEBER (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 AAEBEME 3.3 Fair value estimation
THemEERBEZANER The fair value of the following financial assets
HEREERE and liabilities approximate their carrying

amounts:

o EUKEZKRM

Trade receivables

o  FeREMEUIR e Deposits and other receivables
e XRHIRE e Restricted cash

o  RHIRITHER e Short-term bank deposits

e RELRESFEY e Cash and cash equivalents

s ENEBIHEN e  Trade payables

o [EETERKEMERNERK e Accruals and other payables

o IRITEX e Bank borrowings

e MHEARE e Lease liabilities
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3 MBKERER (&)

3.3 DNABEEME (F&)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

The table below analyses financial instruments
carried at fair value by valuation method. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
(Level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (Level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair

ZEENBAE value at 31 December 2023.
ESF oM F3R k]
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BETT BT BETT BB
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
BE Assets
BRAREEFAEG2EABRA  Financial assets at fair value through
MemeE other comprehensive income 73,260 - 26,878 100,138
THEERmIA Derivative financial instruments - 11,324 - 11,324
8 Liabilities
TEemMTAE Derivative financial instruments - 3,519 - 3,519
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3 MBKERERE (&)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

TREZIWAEER_ZT_MF The following table presents the Group's
+Z A=+ BEAAEENE assets and liabilities that are measured at fair
ZLEERBE- value at 31 December 2024.
ERF F2i E3R okl
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
BETT BET T BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EE Assets
BARBEFANEM2EKA  Financial assets at fair value through
MemeEE other comprehensive income 53,874 = 17,342 71,216
fTESBMIA Derivative financial instruments - 13,528 - 13,528

FR FIL FR N FEIR 2

I EEERE o
FR-EERDLERLME-

(a) F1REWMIA

EERMSEENSHITA
ZARBEREREANT
LREE--HZREA A
BEREHERZHT E8HHE -
KL 1TR5E BRERS
FEEHBES MZER
BRMERREBHIEZAFR
AT ZMHERS BlZm
LR AERMS AEEF
BEHSREENTERER
EREBE-ZEITAA
B o

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2

and 3 during the year.

There were no other changes in valuation

techniques during the year.

(@) Financial instruments in Level 1

The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets is based on
quoted market prices at the reporting
date. A market is regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly

available from an exchange,

dealer,

broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are

included in Level 1.



3

BEBRERER (&)

3.3 DNABEEME (F&)

(b)

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

E2 eI A
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(b)
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Financial instruments in Level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included
in Level 2.

Level 2 derivative financial instruments
comprise interest rate swaps. The fair
value of interest rate swaps is determined
by using valuation techniques. These
valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates.
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3 MBKERERE (&)

3.3 DNABEEME (F&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(c) #3%£mI A (c) Financial instruments in Level 3
i —IBRZIBE R EHAIE If one or more of the significant inputs is
ERAEEmBEE AT not based on observable market data, the

Bt NS84k - instrument is included in Level 3.
TERBAR - _MF R The following table summarises the fair
—E-=F+-A=+—H value and quantitative information about
ARFELMALEREES R the significant unobservable inputs used
ERZFERRAABEITEFRN in Level 3 fair value measurements of
A AnBEREREELS investments in unlisted private investment
R2YNTEEEHR: fund and entities as at 31 December 2024

and 2023:
it —E-mE Z—T-=F EXELER2Y EBiBRZYEIABEZER
Description 2024 2023 Significant Relationship of
BETT BETT unobservable unobservable inputs
HK$’000 HK$'000 inputs to fair value
FETHEREER HEEENTARHER REERYEE RABEYS
Unlisted private investment fund 11,073 13,872 Recent transaction prices  The higher the transaction prices,
of underlying assets the higher the fair value
RIELTLEEBIREZRE FHRE HERRE RE/HEERESR
Sl ANEEBE /B85
TR S ER) TEZ=F RHER
He RAEEES)
Equity investment in an unlisted 5,402 12,154 Discount rate, Sales The higher the discount
private entity growth rate rate/sales growth rate,
(2023: Recent the lower/higher the fair value
transaction prices)  (2023: The higher the transaction
prices, the higher the fair value)
RIFELTLEERZEZRE HR 5 B REBRYS 2ABEES
Equity investments in unlisted 867 852  Recent transaction prices  The higher the transaction prices,
private entities the higher the fair value
17,342 26,878
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3 HMKEBER (&) 3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)
3.3 AREEME (&) 3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(c) #E3hemT A (/F) (¢) Financial instruments in Level 3
(continued)
TEREVNFRNEIRZTEZ The following table presents the changes
- in Level 3 instruments for the year:
—E-omF S
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FY R Opening balance 26,878 20,109
BARBEAEMEEEAD Changes in fair value of financial
CREAEANEELZY assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (9,536) 6,769
F R aE 4 Closing balance 17,342 26,878
4 BREFHHFTRAER 4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

ar KA ARG LERNBEL
BEMEMEZR BREKEBEERBRAE
BAREMHNGIERY-

ZRER BBL AR RAE b 5t R RER - EAEHY
S ETERAERZHEEMERS
RAR-HT—MBRFEEEARR
EREERBERAEAFLEARH
Emfhet RBRREN T e

AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are addressed below.
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4 EXRgsHEEERHE (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Estimated provision for inventories

Inventories are written down to net realisable
value based on an assessment of the
realisability of inventories. Write-downs
on inventories are recorded where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that
the balances may not be realised. The
identification of write-downs requires the
use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of inventories and write-downs
of inventories in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed.

Estimated impairment of receivables

The loss allowance for financial assets is
based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The
recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or market
valuations. These calculations require the use
of judgements and estimates.
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4 EXRgsHEEHRHE (&)

(c)

(d)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(continued)

Changing the assumptions selected by
management in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections,
could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s financial position and results of
operations.

Fair value of investment properties

The valuation of investment properties is
performed in accordance with the “Valuation
Standards on Valuation of Properties”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation is reviewed semi-
annually by qualified valuers by considering
comparable sales transactions as available in
the relevant market.

Changes to the assumptions used in deriving
the valuation could have a significant risk of
causing material adjustment to the carrying
amounts in the statement of financial
position. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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4 EXRgsHEEERHE (&)

(e)

(f)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(e) Useful lives of property, plant and

(f)

equipment

The Group’s management determines the
estimated useful lives, and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature
and functions. Management will increase the
depreciation charges where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives. It will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete
or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives
may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in depreciable
lives and therefore depreciation expense in
future periods.

Income taxes and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in
various jurisdictions. Significant judgement
is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be required. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.
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4 EXRgsHEEHRHE (&)

(f)

(9)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(f)

(9)

Income taxes and deferred income tax
(continued)

Deferred tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers it is
likely that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the reporting date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled. When the expectations are different
from the original estimates, such differences
will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and income tax charges in the period
in which such estimates have been changed.

Provision for write-down of stock of
completed properties

In assessing the net realisable value of stock
of completed properties, the management
took reference to the independent qualified
professional valuations. The assessment is
dependent on certain key assumptions that
require subjective assumptions and significant
management estimates, including adjustment
factors on comparable market transactions
used in valuation of completed properties held
for sale.
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4 EXRgsHEEERHE (&)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(g) Provision for write-down of stock of
completed properties (continued)

The Group recognises provision for write-
down of stock of properties according to net
realisable value of the stock of completed
properties. Provision for write-down of stock
of completed properties is required when the
net realisable value is lower than the carrying
value. Recognition of net realisable value
involves judgment and estimation.

If the result of new estimation differs from
current estimation, such difference will impact
the carrying value of stock of completed
properties for the corresponding period.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s senior executive management is
considered as the Chief Operating Decision Maker
(“CODM?”). The Group is currently organised into
two operating divisions:

Electronic Manufacturing Service (“EMS”) -
manufacture and distribution of electronic products
for EMS customers.

Property Holding — development, sale and lease of
properties.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The CODM reviews the performance of the Group
on a regular basis and reviews the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. The CODM assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on
a measure of segment results. This measurement
basis includes profit or loss of the operating
segments before other income, other losses/
gains — net and finance costs — net but excludes
corporate and unallocated expenses. Other
information provided to the CODM is measured in
a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

EMSZFS  MEFEDH a5
Property
EMS Holding
division division Total
BET T BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z-WE+=A=+—H  For the year ended 31 December 2024
JI:3:5
oMk External revenue
EPAHME Revenue from contracts with customers
W e R A Timing of revenue recognition
—EX-BE - At a point of time 2,603,021 - 2,603,021
H il RR Revenue from other sources
-HgWA - Rental income - 61,653 61,653
2,603,021 61,653 2,664,674
NEBEE Segment results 189,777 (916,058) (726,281)
nE Depreciation 47,610 26 47,636
ElhEetEEE Share of losses of joint ventures - (446,747) (446,747)
RENEDREBEED Change in fair value of investment properties - (472,741) (472,741)
B METE R R E Provision for write-down of stock of
completed properties - (41,258) (41,258)
BARRX Capital expenditure 21,364 - 21,364
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DEER (F)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

EMSEFS  #E#RHE M Fok
Property
EMS Holding
division division Total
BT BB BETT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BE-Z-=%+-A=F+—HLEEE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023
oMl External revenue
EEE Yol Revenue from contracts with customers
W e R Timing of revenue recognition
~ER R - At a point of time 3,123,899 - 3,123,899
Hib ez KR Revenue from other sources
G ON - Rental income - 61,769 61,769
3,123,899 61,769 3,185,668
NEBEE Segment results 191,400 79,940 271,340
nE Depreciation 63,278 43 63,321
ElREECEFHE Share of profit of joint ventures - 49,462 49,462
REMELABEEY Change in fair value of investment properties - (12,062) (12,062)
ERKMEGTE MR RRE Provision for write-down of stock
of completed properties - (2,208) (2,208)
BARAX Capital expenditure 20,816 - 20,816
EMSEM  MEFEIHM okl
Property
EMS Holding
division division Total
BETT BETT BET T
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R-ZE-_mE+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2024
NBEE Segment assets 2,725,170 1,655,939 4,381,109
AECENER Interests in joint ventures = 1,591,570 1,591,570
MERPHEELR Total reportable segment assets 2,725,170 3,247,509 5,972,679
EMSEFT MR B ok
Property
EMS Holding
division division Total
BETT BETT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-=ZF+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023
NHEE Segment assets 2,837,849 2,167,230 5,005,079
RECENER Interests in joint ventures - 2,071,517 2,071,517
MERHHEELR Total reportable segment assets 2,837,849 4,238,747 7,076,596
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DRER (&)
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REME ERAREE A2bXMNE
mFE EXRUEFE BRES
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ReEEY BETEERAREBEA
HtzmPW AN EREE TASRT
B REMBHEE B KO FRE
MEEERRDEEE-

AEROMBERLERMAEHRA (B
B) /FMBZHERNT:

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant
and equipment, investment properties, right-of-
use assets, interests in joint ventures, inventories,
stock of completed properties, trade receivables,
prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
restricted cash, short-term bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents, but exclude financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income,
derivative financial instruments, deferred income
tax assets, current income tax recoverable and
corporate and unallocated assets.

A reconciliation of reportable segment results
to (loss)/profit before income tax is provided as
follows:

—E-mF —E-=F

2024 2023

BETT S F T

HK$’000 HK$'000

A2y WEE Reportable segment results (726,281) 271,340
E g A Other income 4,371 14,731
H e —F 58 Other gains — net 11,939 2,612
BMEXAK—FR Finance costs — net (50,000) (64,441)
TERRIERAX Corporate and unallocated expenses (22,857) (24,127)
BT SR AT (EE) X8 (Loss)/profit before income tax (782,828) 200,115
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5 ZEEHR (&)

TERONEERBEEHE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total

N assets as follows:
—E-MF —ZEI=F
2024 2023
BT T TS F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
HERSHBEE Reportable segment assets 5,972,679 7,076,596
EARBETAEMEERA Financial assets at fair value through
NemEE other comprehensive income 71,216 100,138
TTEEmITE Derivative financial instruments 13,528 11,324
EEMEREE Deferred income tax assets 15,164 19,480
& B AT U O] T 1S A Current income tax recoverable 1,009 1,688
TEMRSEEE Corporate and unallocated assets 85,240 101,030
BEMBERRRANBEE Total assets per consolidated
statement of financial position 6,158,836 7,310,256

HBEARHE ZHROT

Reconciliations of other material

items are as

follows:
—E-NF —EI=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
e Depreciation

— AWMy I 4% - Reportable segment total 47,636 63,321
— AR AREL - Corporate headquarters 2,238 2,237
49,874 65,558

BEARAX Capital expenditure
—A 2D EBLERE - Reportable segment total 21,364 20,816
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Company is domiciled in Bermuda. Analysis of
the Group’s revenue by geographical market, which
is determined by the destination of the invoices
billed, is as follows:

—E-NE —Eg-=
2024 2023
BEET T BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
1 =M North America 423,101 355,376
DM (FBEEE) Asia (excluding Hong Kong) 1,621,467 1,831,943
BOM Europe 477,682 771,400
&% Hong Kong 142,424 226,949
2,664,674 3,185,668

HE_FT-_MOMF+_A=+—H1E
FE 4B ¥A1,176,805,000T (=&
—=F B %1,415,962,0007T ) & &
#02901,684,000c (T =F : B
326,047,0007T ) 2 Wz 5 Bl 2K B K
IBEP ZEREFPSEASEERE 2
10%3K JA |k o 2 F W s BEMSER I FEAG
Y2k o

AT AAREBEIZMWETISE D 2 IR
BEEDN:

For the year ended 31 December 2024, revenues
of approximately HK$1,176,805,000 (2023:
HK$1,415,962,000) and HK$291,684,000 (2023:
HK$326,047,000) were derived from the top two
external customers respectively. These customers
individually account for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue. These revenues are attributable to the
EMS division.

Analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by
geographical market is as follows:

—E_NEF —E=F

2024 2023

BET T BT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

1E =M North America 6 -
DM (FBEEE) Asia (excluding Hong Kong) 248,080 286,350
BM Europe 9 8
&5 Hong Kong 3,197,570 4,177,724
3,445,665 4,464,082
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DRER (&)

FRBEEBRBEME BER&E:
REMX ERREE RELEN
a RAREESAEMEZERA
WEmEE TTEERIA -FTe&k
HAth FE W AR KA R R IR I3 & - 1A
BRELEMBMREE -

AEEERRATNIETEFPALARDN
BiE:

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Non-current assets comprise property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-use
assets, interests in joint ventures, financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income,
derivative financial instruments, deposits and other
receivables and restricted cash. They exclude
deferred income tax assets.

The Group has recognised the following liabilities
related to contracts with customers:

—E-WE —E-=F

2024 2023

BT T BT T

HK$’000 HK$’'000

G H B E—-EMSELP Contract liabilities — EMS division 133,620 136,502

TRIRED R E—FEE AR
BREEABNERANESR:

The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised relates to carried-forward
contract liabilities that were satisfied in prior year:

—E-F —ZEC=F

2024 2023

BT T BT T

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

EMSEBFY EMS division 136,502 131,574

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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Hibug A 6 OTHER INCOME
—E-UEF —F-=
2024 2023
BET T BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT B Government grants 2,108 12,095
o E R R R A Sales of scrap and spare parts 685 795
BARBEFAEMLE2EW AR Dividend income from a financial
SREEZREBA asset at fair value through other

comprehensive income 252 1,827
EHAh Others 1,326 14
4,371 14,731

BEBAFAX (BRESME) 7

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS)

—EmEF —ZEZ=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TE #Fe BB RHEMBEBEN Wages, salaries, allowances and

other termination benefits 324,542 365,896

RIRE KA — R T H ARG E Pension costs — defined contribution
schemes 42,882 43,568
367,424 409,464

AEBREEMBEEREBR LR
S REEFE ([RE2FE]) A
Beitgl v EERASBEEENRE
B UESHFAAZTATE -RER
BeiE AEBEREREEFAS M
FFEER MR @B AREBMRBUA (F
EREERIERBEEAEIEL) 2
5% AKBREECHAIERTIAS
RAB¥1800 (ZEZ=F G A
1,50070) - A EHBAEFBTREE -

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “Fund Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the Fund
Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Under the Fund Scheme, the Group and its
employees make monthly contributions to the
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income
as defined in the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both the Group’s and the
employees’ contributions are subject to a cap of
HK$1,500 per month (2023: HK$1,500 per month).
The contributions are fully and immediately vested
for the employees.
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EERANAX (BERESHE)
(%)

W EEABFELR 2 HR (AEEEER
HRBEMB AR L XS BRER
18 BB I8 2 fH50) A A 85 578 (R AGT
gl ZBRB -

R ARAAME ([ B ) N b 8
RAZEERTELRBEBMNRILZ
RREMETEIKE

BEMBARIALEPE R MEREXR
RIRETEE R B R R BT M —
A D mEt B BB &K
WEEERREEZEKRE ZFHET
BOS W H RN ERERLDIREEHR
IR o

SIAE R R R ERE 2B KKEL
42,882,000 (ZE = F B
43,568,0007T ) 5 AN & B gt AN B B [
Mz EREI R 2 ke

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) to
offset existing contributions under the defined
contribution schemes.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and Vietnam are
members of retirement benefits schemes operated
by the PRC and Vietnam governments.

The relevant subsidiaries are required to make
contributions to the state retirement schemes in
the PRC and Vietnam. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to
the schemes. The PRC and Vietnam governments
are responsible for the pension liability to the
retired staff. No forfeited contributions under these
schemes can be used to reduce the existing level
of contributions.

The total cost charged to the consolidated income
statement of approximately HK$42,882,000 (2023:
HK$43,568,000) represents contributions payable
to the schemes by the Group in respect of the
current financial year.
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8 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss)/profit before income tax is analysed as

follows:
—E-NF —ZEI=F
2024 2023
BT T TS F T
HK$’000 HK$'000
ME-WMERZREITE Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 33,312 44,284
FRHEEECITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16,562 21,274
e Depreciation 49,874 65,558
ZE R B 2 Auditor’s remuneration
— B R — Audit service 3,158 3,088
—EEF IR - Non-audit services 363 361
RITFEE Bank charges 2,508 3,624
EFERE Building management fees 18,419 17,101
LB R EERER Chemicals and consumables 33,555 33,037
Uitk Commission fees 24 502
BRE Cleaning expenses 2,244 2,912
RBE Entertainment expenses 900 1,137
BT 30 FE % 2= B Government rent and rates 3,193 2,971
BT B o0 & Government surcharges 6,852 6,042
IRE & Insurance charges 2,419 2,251
FRREEEA Legal and professional fees 5,292 4,720
AERX Motor vehicle expenses 3,879 4,825
PWAENBERZ Office and factories expenses 4,590 4,981
EEHE KEHENRS Operating lease rental in respect of
short-term leases 2,944 3,701
RE HIIREMETEAMBAS  Recruitment, training and other staff
welfares expenses 4,593 2,464
HERIRE Repairs and maintenances 10,604 18,467
REE Security expenses 1,789 2,526
EIRE Travelling expenses 2,521 3,159
EHE Transportation 17,497 22,365
NZIEE Utility expenses 20,194 24,344
Hi Others 3,622 5,695
b ag & W Other operating expenses 151,160 170,273
L] Total 201,034 235,831
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9 HftuzE (BE) —FH

9 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) - NET

—E-_MMEF —E-=

2024 2023

BT T BT

HK$’000 HK$'000

FE X Uezs, (E18) — %8 Exchange gains/(losses) — net 5,154 (5,267)
HEWE BENBKEZWZE  Gains on disposal of property, plant

and equipment 1,275 1,961

HEERA = Gains on lease modification - 333

WEE I - BB & Write-off of property, plant and equipment - (8,055)

1 [0 5 b JE A< BR 3K Write-back of other payables 5,510 5,930

11,939 (5,098)

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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10 ESREREEE2ME (&)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEME (#)

Mad: FTEREERAQAAEREFTHR
BE EFME R EXHE -

HE_Z_NFER_ZT-_=ZF
+ZA=+—BLFE BMEE
EMESRERETMAHE -

FAAEEBREINHNETE
S ERREIEFMARNEE K
MAREBR 2 BESHAF BB
BhE -

EERAER

VTEETANEEERRBINE S
TETMER-E_=F1+_A
=t HILEFERXZM-

EERIERBKEN

TETMNESKIERBEENR
BE_Z_NWFRER_ZE-_=F
+-A=+—BIEFERNZM-

RERESEBRBAE=5/FH
K E

RBE-T-_NMER-_FT_=F
TZRA=+—RLEFERN &R
AT ERRREERERNE =7
SATERIRE -

10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Note: Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and his remuneration
has been disclosed above.

No Directors waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments in any of the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

No emolument was paid by the Group to the
Directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office during the year.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits were paid
during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

No Directors’ termination benefits were paid
during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.

(d) Consideration provided to third parties
for making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any
third parties for making available Directors’
services during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2028.
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10 ESREREEE2ME (&)

(e)

(f)

MEE XZAFESEHNE
ABBERZEESNHETR

RUNEF EERANEMI
ZNEHR
RBE-_FT-_MER-_FT_=F

TZAZT " HLEFEFERX
FAREMER LERAES &
FESREHMEAEREZTE

EMBEEIRRHEMENR £
EFRMELEMIR S -

EERRE RHEREHNFH
EXHER

REBEE-_T_WNEFR-_T_=F
TZA=T—"BILFEFERNK
FREFAEHE NRQE WL ER] L
Y ASEEXBEMARRESEE
EREEEETREEREDH
EERG RHHEL-
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10 DIRECTORS’

AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

(e)

(f)

Information about loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favour of
Directors, controlled bodies corporate
by and connected entities with such
Directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected
entities with such Directors subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and
in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023.
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10 ESREREEE2ME (&)

() EEBESEMEAL

FRN AEERZEESHE A
T BR=F(Z2E=-_=F:U%H)
BT HEZMEEEN EXET
ZAOM-BTME(ZEZ=

—H)ATZENMEIEHAT

10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

(g) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year include
three (2023: four) Directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2023: one) individual is as follows:

—E-WE B
2024 2023
BT T BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
e MHEMEF Salaries and other benefits 3,573 2,015
TE4T Bonus 228 145
BRIRE KA — R EHREE Pension costs — defined
contribution schemes 18 -
3,819 2,160
A"
Number of individual
—E-NE —E-=
2024 2023
i & &5 & Emolument bands
75 #1,500,001 7T — /A #2,000,0007c HK$1,500,001- HK$2,000,000 1 -
78 #2 000,001 T — A ¥2,500,0007c HK$2,000,001- HK$2,500,000 1 1
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10 ESREREEE2ME (&)

(h)
L

EREEE(TREES) 2 H

EREER (TERES M

10 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

(h) Senior management’s (excluding
Directors) emoluments by band

The emoluments of senior management

SN FUTEE: (excluding Directors) fell within the following
bands:
AE
Number of individuals
—E_NEF —E-=F
2024 2023
B < 0 Emolument bands
7B T — B #500,0007T HK$nil — HK$500,000 - 1
7B #500,0017T — /& #1,000,0000t  HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 1 -
7 #1,000,001 7T — 7 #1,500,0007c HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1 2
71,500,001 7T — /& #2,000,0007T HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1 1
11 BERAR—FE 11 FINANCE COSTS - NET
—E_NEF —E-=F
2024 2023
BT T TS F T
HK$’000 HK$’'000
RE WA Finance income
—RITERZFERLA — Interest income on bank deposits 23,022 25,686
A& A AN Finance costs
- HEBBZMERX — Interest expenses on lease liabilities (749) (1,451)
—RITERZMERX — Interest expenses on bank borrowings (72,273) (88,676)
BRf@AERA Total finance costs (73,022) (90,127)
BhE KA —F5E Finance costs — net (50,000) (64,441)

210
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12 Fr8RiAxX

EBFEHERELEEREREEZ
AR A EZ R E16.5% (= F
T =F:16.5% )FHIREE -

ANEEF R A B R FEHSHF
BB H([EEMREH]) M
REEFRBEZ25% (ZTE =4
25%) WARBZEEMBRRE
mEE (&M BERAAE ([# 5%
MBI -EFHEMNTERITRE
PETZ15% (ZE-=%:15%)
BELEMBHRE EE_TZAF
+ZA=+—H-

AFAGRB RS RIS HREERE:

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profit arising in or derived from Hong
Kong.

The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are
subject to the China Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”)
at a rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the estimated
profits, except for Welco Technology (Suzhou)
Limited (“WTSZ”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. WTSZ is entitled to the preferential CIT
rate of 15% (2023: 15%) under the New and High
Technology Enterprises status till 31 December
2026.

The amount of income tax charged to the
consolidated income statement represents:

—E-ME —E-=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
EHGEM Current income tax
—BBNER - Hong Kong profits tax 5,869 4,900
— BN IR - Overseas taxation 38,063 35,501
- BEFEBEREE — Over-provision in prior years - (2,333)
EN—RPBEFEMAZME AR Dividend withholding tax paid on the
ZEDIRRERNEZ distributed retained profits of
fi% B 78 A a PRC incorporated subsidiary 8,639 6,998
EEFTER (M1EE21) Deferred income tax (Note 21) 2,065 2,323
54,636 47,389
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12 RSB (&)

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

BRAKBGRAGSHAMNBZRER
BIRBR A & 6f B 88 AR E A /0 i ¥
BREMBHNERSEET

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the weighted average tax rate applicable to
profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

—E-ME —E=4F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BrFTS R AT (E51E8) 8 (Loss)/profit before income tax (782,828) 200,115
RHARSANEZ Tax calculated at the domestic
W R E 2 BIR tax rates applicable to profits
in the respective places (132,827) 34,280
EEREALEDERTEBES Z  Tax effects of joint ventures’ results
M reported, net of tax 73,713 (8,161)
b Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 96,413 9,182
AR A Income not subject to tax (4,881) (4,562)
B A R — R AR B A AR Dividend withholding tax paid or
M8~ E) 2 AR B FIE payable on the retained profits of
Z R BIEHF PRC incorporated subsidiary 11,481 8,805
FAAERBIEEER Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses
HMERMETE and other temporary difference - (4,799)
WEBRELEMGEHEE Tax losses of which no deferred
w i IE &R income tax asset was recognised 10,737 14,977
BEFEHERE Over-provision in prior years - (2,333)
Frisfim = Income tax expense 54,636 47,389

BRAMEFHREE17T (ZF
T=FA7%) o

BEBRE_FT-_MF+-_A=t—H
HFEERAEERBEBEZENE T
BRI BOEAB R ES ER
FRABAMOE BRI B
7 5% (8] 0 Z8 B304 T BT DA

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 17%
(2023: 17%).

The Group is not subject to new top-up tax
despite certain regions where the Group has
business operations have enacted new tax laws
to implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organization for Economic Co-operation
and Development for the year ended 31 December
2024.
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13 KA 13 DIVIDENDS
_7_m¢&_-§:_iaﬁa’9ﬂ&% The dividends paid in 2024 and 2023 were
2 Bl B 4778 #27,513,0007T (& I8 B approximately HK$27,513,000 (HK$0.0575 per
0.05757T) K& 7 #35,887,0007T (& & share) and HK$35,887,000 (HK$0.0750 per share)
75 #0.07507T) - B R AR A Al EE IR respectively. A final dividend in respect of the year
RBFASLREAERIHBE_-ZT ended 31 December 2024 of HK$0.0300 per share,
“THFFTZA=T—BLEFERER amounting to a total dividend of approximately
B ATREE0.0300T & A B HK$14,355,000 will be proposed at the upcoming
14,355,0007T © bt 55 B 755 ¥ 3= 30 f% [ ik annual general meeting of the Company. These
TR R 2 REARR B © financial statements do not reflect this final
dividend payable.
—E-MF —E=F
2024 2023
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
B a EiAR B — &I ¥0.02757T Interim dividend paid - HK$0.0275
ZE - =4 : %%0.03007T) (2023: HK$0.0300) per share 13,158 14,354
¥R R 2B % B — & I8 75 #0.03007T Proposed final dividend — HK$0.0300
— T~ =4 : B ¥0.03007T) (2023: HK$0.0300) per share 14,355 14,355
27,513 28,709
14 SR (FE) &ZF 14 (LOSSES)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(@ EXF (a) Basic
BREX(BB) B THIERA Basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated
ﬂ%ﬁ}\ﬂ‘é{ﬁ(ﬁ?%)/%l ied| by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to
fﬁfl%ﬁlﬁﬁ?‘ﬁ F IR R 2 e owners of the Company by the weighted
FHYEHE average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.
—E_ME T =4
2024 2023
NANEIER AL (B518) 7 (Loss)/profit attributable to owners of
B OEEFT) the Company (HK$’000) (837,464) 152,726
BT EER 2 IEFHE  Weighted average number of ordinary
(FR%) shares in issue (in thousands) 478,484 478,484
BRER(EB) BF Basic (losses)/earnings per share (HK$)
(BT (1.75) 0.32
(b) #H (b) Diluted
MEXMBEAFTFEZRGRE S No diluted earnings per share is presented
AR AEMEFEAAREE for both years because there is no dilutive
ZEEE R potential ordinary shares outstanding

throughout both years.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual
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15 ¥ -BMERRH 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
BF ERIR k& GRRKE RE At
Plant,
machinery Furniture
Construction and and Motor
Buildings inprogress  equipment fixtures vehicles Total

BETT  EETR  ERTT  EETI  BETI BETX
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000

R-Z-z5-A-H At 1 January 2023
KAE Cost 143,987 70,769 828,305 142,950 13,078 1,199,089
ZHTERAE Accumulated depreciation and imparment ~ (69,820) - (731,166)  (134,651)  (11570)  (947,207)
REFE Net book amount 74,167 70,769 97,139 8,299 1,508 251,882
BE-Z-=H+ZA=+-HLEE Yearended 31 December 2023
FOREFE Opening net book amount 74,167 70,769 97,139 8,299 1508 251,882
RE Additions 953 3,277 16,586 - - 20,816
g2 Transfer 57,162 (73,526) 16,364 - - -
HE Disposals (16) - (4,347) - - (4,368)
ik Depreciation (8,863) - (34,695) (346) (380) (44,284)
i 35 Wite off (7.874) - (115) (66) - (8,055
ERHEES Currency translation differences (1,613) (520) (2,173) (1) - (4,307)
FREAFE Closing net book amount 113,916 - 88,759 7,886 1,128 211,689
RZBZ=f£+-RA=+-H At 31 December 2023
RAME Cost 184,942 - 827335 142,789 10426 1,165,492
ZHFERAE Accumulated depreciation and imparment  (71,026) - (738576)  (134,909) (9,298)  (953,803)
REFE Net book amount 113,916 - 88,759 7,886 1,128 211,689
BE 83
[ £ k% GRREE "E &t
Plant,
machinery Furniture
and and Motor
Buildings equipment fixtures vehicles Total

BETR BETR BETR BETR BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

HE-Z-ME+-A=1+-HLEE Yearended 31 December 2024

EERFE Opening net book amount 113,916 88,759 7,886 1,128 211,689
RE Additions 9,332 10,810 7 1,215 21,364
HE Disposals - (511) - - (511)
e Depreciation (7,246) (25,183) (236) (647) (33,312)
ERQREES Currency translation differences (4,488) (4,239) (4 (5) (8,736)
FREEFE Closing net book amount 111,514 69,636 7,653 1,691 190,494
R-E-ME+=-F=+-H At 31 December 2024
KA E Cost 187,340 803,586 142,651 10,150 1,143,727
ZHTERAE Accumulated depreciation and impairment (75,826) (733,950) (134,998) (8,459) (953,233)
REFE Net book amount 111,514 69,636 7,653 1,691 190,494
RZEZ_WmMF+=ARA=+—H" As at 31 December 2024, certain bank borrowings
ETHRTEFRHERBEAN B are secured on buildings with carrying amount
18,556,000L ( =— & = = : of approximately HK$18,556,000 (2023:
V> ﬁ%ﬂ 9,145,0007T ) 2 & F {E K 7 HK$19,145,000) (Note 30).

(KF7E30)
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16 REWHE 16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
—E-MF —E=F
2024 2023
BT T BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
m—H—H At 1 January 1,946,822 1,959,215
AREERIE Fair value losses (472,741) (12,062)
BEHmEZRR Currency translation differences (764) (331)
R+—A=+—H At 31 December 1,473,317 1,946,822

AEEZRERFEARZREMER
HIZ10E50F 2 A HIF A4 E -

R—_ZE-_WMFEF+_A=+—H"
ETROTERHFEEREANBE
1,444,700,0007C (Z T = =F : B
1,915,000,0007T ) Z & & W) ¥ /B 18
(FfF5E30) (Note 30).

EXFTREEMEEERRE:

The Group’s interest in investment properties at
their net book values are on medium-term leases of
10 to 50 years.

As at 31 December 2024, certain bank borrowings
are secured on investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$1,444,700,000 (2023: HK$1,915,000,000)

Value of investment properties shown above

comprises:
—E-MF —ZE=Z=F
2024 2023
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEEME Properties in Hong Kong 1,454,100 1,925,000
BAEIND Properties outside Hong Kong 19,217 21,822
1,473,317 1,946,822

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 21 5
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16 REW=E (&)
AEBZHERRE

REMEBFFHRABELEEAHE
WEYMHER_T_NWFR_T_=F
+-—A=+—BZ2HEHRB B 26
TESEETHERAR#ET HAE
BHEMBGERGE - REBTBUH
WEERIFEI  ZEREMWEZLAR
BEFEEHRINHFWOT -

7N 5% (8] 2 B 795 1 P A B 5 R o AR T
TRENEGHE EREEEERE
H-RBEARE ZHRER BEERZ
EGFEREERREREREEFED

T IA Mo
u‘—.r af LA

ERERREYRERE R GEET SR

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Valuation processes of the Group

The investment properties are valued semi-annually
on the direct comparison approach. The valuations
of the investment properties at 31 December 2024
and 2023 were carried out by an independent
firm of surveyors, Roma Appraisals Limited, who
is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The fair value measurement information
for these investment properties in accordance with
HKFRS 13 is given below.

The Group’s finance team performs the valuations
of investment properties required for financial
reporting purposes. This team reports directly
to the management. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the
management and the team at least once bi-
annually, in line with the Group’s reporting dates.

Changes in Level 3 fair values are analysed at

B SEIRAAEBECELE ER each reporting date valuation discussions between
WL —Ho ZEKREWE  UREE the management and the team. As part of this
AREBEEESH  EH- discussion, the team presents a report that
explains the reasons for the fair value movements.
AREEE
Fair value measurements
HEEE
RIERT 5 EXHM EAEE
ZiRE BEE2% Bx2y
(1) (%28%) (%E3%)
Quoted prices Significant
in active other Significant
markets for observable unobservable
identical assets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
BETT BETT BETT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
ERANEENE Recurring fair value measurements
R-ZB-NFE+=A=1+—-H As at 31 December 2024 - - 1,473,317
RZEZ=F+ZA=1—H As at 31 December 2023 - - 1,946,822
FHNB1R - F2RNREIF BT & There were no transfers among Level 1, Level 2
8- and Level 3 during the year.

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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16 REWE (&) 16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
FEREABRLBESETEAAEE Fair value measurements using significant
(ZE3#4%) unobservable inputs (Level 3)

RENE
Investment properties
B8 EBE N o
Outside
Hong Kong Hong Kong Total
BETL BETL BETL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-_m&E-A-A At 1 January 2024 1,925,000 21,822 1,946,822
AREEESR Fair value losses (470,900 (1,841) (472,741)
EXBREER Currency translation differences - (764) (764)
RZB-NFE+ZA=1+-H At 31 December 2024 1,454,100 19,217 1,473,317
FRREHBELAE Total unrealised losses for the year
(RERFHEEETA included in the consolidated income
BENBERATRENE statement for assets held at the end
AREEZEHIET) of the year, under ‘Change in fair
value of investment properties’ (470,900) (1,841) (472,741)
R-Z-=%—F—H At 1 January 2023 1,936,400 22,815 1,959,215
AREEEE Fair value losses (11,400) (662) (12,062)
EHHEEE Currency translation differences - (331) (331)
RZEZ_=ZF+_A=+—-H At 31 December 2023 1,925,000 21,822 1,946,822
FRREHBEBE Total unrealised losses for the year
(RERMBEETA included in the consolidated income
BAMERN[RENE statement for assets held at the end
AAEEEH|ET) of the year, under ‘Change in fair
value of investment properties’ (11,400 (662) (12,062)
WEMEZAABEEFAEELR Fair values of investment properties have been
EHE EPBRIRAUNREEAIZRR valued by the direct comparison approach
M EME - W2 EMRB TS LA assuming sale of the properties in their existing
BRULBREERSER - states with the benefit of vacant possession and by

making reference to comparable sales transactions
as available in the relevant market.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 21 7
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16 REWE (F)

EREREZRESBEIEANEE
(%38)) (&)

BEFNIBREBEARREDSLE
W I ERHEEEGRRAEL SR
HE- &2 B BEEREABEU
ZH AR EBEMEZEE LI
fHERYETMENAEIFELE
REMEREFENEBCBERE T
B - NBHERETE BRI
FWEEMHRIT

FR-HERDAEES -

AEBERBCEHERHIEEYE 7]
WAHBEGT  WAHEEEAIRENY
EZGHER - ERHERERLS KA
He-BHz—_T-_WF+_-_A=+—H
IEFE - REVMEZHSWABELN AR
75 61,653,000 (ZE - =F : B
61,769,0007T) - MABEEZ R4 A
16,113,000 (ZEZ=F : B%
15,022,0007T ) °

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (continued)

The valuation has been made on the assumption
that the owners sell the properties in the open
market without the benefit of deferred term
contracts, leasebacks, joint ventures, management
agreements or any similar arrangements which
would serve to increase the values of such
properties. In addition, no account has been taken
of any option or right of pre-emption concerning
or affecting the sale of the properties and no
allowance has been made for the properties to be
sold in one lot or to a single purchaser.

There were no changes in valuation techniques
during the year.

The Group leases out the investment properties
under operating leases, for an initial period of 3 to
6 years, with an option to renew on renegotiated
terms. None of the leases includes contingent
rentals. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the gross rental income from investment properties
amounted to approximately HK$61,653,000 (2023:
HK$61,769,000) and related direct outgoings
amounted to approximately HK$16,113,000 (2023:
HK$15,022,000).
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A

16

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value measurements using significant

(%£3/;) (&) unobservable inputs (Level 3) (continued)
FRFERERBLIBERZ2YHELR Information about fair value measurements using
B8 (FE3R) MER: significant unobservable inputs (Level 3):
L/ HERD EZBE2Y ErBESEEE BLERSYENAEEZERE
Valuation Relationship of unobservable
Properties technique Unobservable inputs Range of unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
ZRINF —TCCF
2024 2023
B
Hong Kong
PBRE BEELR CHEmE #%9,000T 2 14,0002 BTAREHARTEES
(B%/THAR) 7 #12,8007T 75 #15,3007T RAEEMS
Office Direct Adjusted market price HK$9,000 - HK$14,000 -  The higher the adjusted
comparison (HK$/sq.ft.) HK$12,800 HK$15,300 market price per square
feet, the higher the fair value
B BEEUE BABETE 711,800,000t 2 %%1,800,0000 2 EURRETELS
(&% /Bfi) 7 #2,500,000c  #%2,500,0007C ’A fREELES
Carparks Direct Adjusted market price HK$1.8M - HK$1.8M - The higher the adjusted
comparison (HKS$/unit) HK$2.5M HK$2.5M market price per unit,
the higher the fair value
fF€ BEEUE BABETE BH12,800T 2  A¥130000E BHIFREAZRMEMS
(B%/THR) 7 #13,4007T 75 ¥14,4007T RAEEMS
Residential Direct Adjusted market price HK$12,800 - HK$13,900 -  The higher the adjusted
comparison (HK$/sq.ft.) HK$13,400 HK$14,400 market price per square
feet, the higher the fair value
BEEN
Outside Hong Kong
WRE BEEUEE MHEME ARBA7,7000E ARB1700nE BEAREAZNEYS
(AR®/FHK) AR®18,600T  ARM¥21,8007T RABEES
Office Direct Adjusted market price RMB17,700 - RMB17,900 - The higher the adjusted
comparison (RMB/sg.m.) RMB18,600 RMB21,800 market price per square

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 21 9
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17 #HE

A ERHBEARESEBEANME
EWER-

AEBEHEZHREMEIZRIERE

MAERERE-HE—RETER2E
3F -

) REMBRRRPIHEER
G|

A MR KRIIRIATEHE

17 LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the
Group is a lessee.

The Group leases a number of premises mainly for
use as factories, office premises and warehouses.
The leases are typically made for fixed periods from
2-3 years.

(i)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial

EAANTE: position shows the following amounts relating
to leases:
—E-WE —E-=F
2024 2023
BT T BT I
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEEE Right-of-use assets
THE T & o (e AR Leasehold land and land use rights 78,486 82,454
TR EETF Factories and buildings 1,491 15,618
79,977 98,072
HEAE Lease liabilities
7 & Current 1,714 14,676
e B Non-current - 1,492
1,714 16,168

— T 0B B N fE
AEEE(ZE-_=F 1Nk
#7 709,0007T ) °

REBZ-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—H
FTFER KEEXTHIHBR
% AEBELEERFEDE
BE(ZE_=ZF:B8HEK
6,927,000) R HHEABEB(ZF
—=F & ¥7,260,0007T)
MBS -

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

No addition to the right-of-use assets during
the 2024 financial year (2023: additions of
HK$7,709,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group did not modify leases with right-of-use
assets (2023: modification of HK$6,927,000)
and lease liabilities (2023: modification of
HK$7,260,000) under the mutual agreement
with landlord.
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17 #HE (&) 17 LEASES (continued)
() ZKEHBERRRPNERRS () Amounts recognised in the consolidated
(&) statement of financial position

(continued)

RZE-_NMF+=—A=+—8" As at 31 December 2024, certain bank
HETIRTERBEEERN B borrowings are secured on right-of-use assets
51,926, 000713(_ —=F: with a carrying amount of approximately
7 #53,574,000T ) Z EF FAESE HK$51,926,000 (2023: HK$53,574,000)
ZEEHE IR (M5E30) ° (Note 30).
(i) ZKERBRPINEERESE (i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
income statement
FEWRaKRIITUTEEE The consolidated income statement shows the
MR e following amounts relating to leases:
—E-NE —E-=
2024 2023
BET T BET T
HK$’000 HK$'000

FRAEEENITEX S Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets

THE £ i N 4t (5 4 Leasehold land and land use rights 2,199 2,210
ITHEEF Factory and buildings 14,363 19,064
16,562 21,274
FERX Interest expense
(BT ABE R A) (included in finance costs) 749 1,451
EHEEHHEENHAY Expenses relating to short-term leases
(BT AEMEERE) (included in other operating expenses) 2,944 3,701
3,693 5,152
—E_NFHEEBENEESR The total cash outflow for lease liabilities
B ¥R A %16,861,000T (= F in 2024 was HK$16,861,000 (2023:
— = : #¥19,837,0007T) ° HK$19,837,000).
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18 S ENES

= 18 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E-WE Sl Sl =
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
G EEFEAE Share of net assets 604,695 1,051,442
BERTFEEDLE Loans to joint ventures 986,875 1,020,075
1,591,570 2,071,517

BIEEEFEZESOMBT:

Movements in share of net assets is analysed as
follows:

—E_NEF —E-=F

2024 2023

BETT BET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

»—A—H At 1 January 1,051,442 1,001,980
BiHaEatE (B ?E)/%' e Share of (losses)/profits of joint ventures (446,747) 49,462
R+—A=+— At 31 December 604,695 1,051,442

R-ZZE-_MFE+-_A=+—H A&KH
RATHELETEIBEREECRER R

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had interests
in the following principal joint ventures, which are
unlisted:

NAER SF A 3L i B BERERLA TEER BEMEE HEEE
Place of Proportion of Nature of the Measurement
Name of company incorporation ownership interest %  Principal activities relationship method
“ZoME ZZTZ=F
2024 2023
KEEMRAEES BREEK P 4
Talent Chain Investments Limited (Note) BVI 35.7 35.7 Investment holding ~ Note Equity
BREEBRAF (M) B ESSTC] iz 4
Crown Opal Investment Limited (Note) Hong Kong 35.7 35.7 Property holding Note Equity
AERBREES mERE A 4
Open Vantage Limited BVI 35.7 35.7 Property investment  N/A Equity

ff5E:  Talent Chain Investments LimitedZ & &
MBARITREEBRARNEDES
BEB -MEEBERAUREENS
¥2F HBE0BRAZERE- EA_z
ZHMFEF+Z A=+ —H WREHSIH
100% (ZZE =% :100% ) ED B A&

222

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

Note: Crown Opal Investment Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Talent Chain Investments Limited,
business of property holding. The property project represents
the holding of a commercial building in Kwun Tong, which
comprises 20-storey of office floors. As at 31 December
2024, 100% (2023: 100%) of the office portion were classified
as investment properties.

is engaged in the
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18 S EMNER (1E) 18 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)
Talent Chain Investments Limited» Talent Chain Investments Limited, Crown Opal
R & FR A A &Open Vantage Investment Limited and Open Vantage Limited are
Limited 2 F4 A 2 &)+ H B% {7 I & 7] BY private companies and there is no quoted market
SHMIHWHE- price available for their share.
WTIEEEE 2 BEERNSE- Set out below is the summarised financial

information for joint ventures.

Talent Chain
Investments Limited K
(Note i) (H#Fi) Open Vantage Limited Total
ZBCmE —E-=f  ZBCME ZF-=F ZBC@E ZECZE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

BRTr BT RENTR  E¥TR BETn RETX
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

ZE ASSETS
Ei ik} Non-current
REME (ki) Investment properties (Note ii) 5,066,000 6,661,900 17,000 17,600 5,083,000 6,679,500
FrBEES® Total non-current assets 5,066,000 6661900 17,000 17600 __ 5083000 6,679,500
pink:) Current
THEEAT Total current assets 103,553 125,734 525 276 104,078 126,010
g LIABILITIES
pik:] Current
ENESERREMREHEE  Trade payable and other current liabilities (125,945) (135,592) (160) (158) (126,105) (135,750)
KHEREE Total current liabilties (125,945) (135,592) (160) (158) ~ (126,105) (135,750)
Eik ] Non-current
eREE Financial liabilties (8,172,229)  (3,265,198) (3,982) (4,015 (3,76,211) (3,269,213
HEREaE Other non-current liabilties (190,939) (455,330) - - (190,939) (455,330)
FrpafEE Total non-current liabilities (3,363,168)  (3,720,528) (3,982) ____(4015) __(3,367,150) (3,724,543
EEFE Net assets 1,680,440 2931514 13,383 13,703 1,693,823 2945217
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18 S EMNER (1E) 18 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(continued)
Talent Chain ag
Investments Limited Open Vantage Limited Total
“E-mE = CZBZNE  -F-=f CE-mE  ZZ-=fF
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

BRTr  E¥TR  EETR  E¥TI BETR RETX
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

U Revenue 153,268 187,116 3N 364 153,639 187,480
BERT Operating expenses (47,706) (47,090) (708) (127) (48,414) (47,217)
THEX Administrative expenses (125) (129) 17) (18) (142) (141)
BREMERNREEBEY Change in fair value of investment properties ~ (1,602,191) 11,867 - (300) ~ (1,602,191) 11,567
BEEHA (B%8)/FB  (Loss)/profit before income tax (1,496,754) 151,770 (354) (81)  (1,497,108) 151,689
frekEs/ (Bx) Income tax credit/(expense) 245,680 (13,140) 34 - 245,714 (13,140)
BEEHE (B8B),/FH8 (Loss)/profit after income tax (1,251,074) 138,630 (320) (81) = (1,251,394) 138,549
i 2EKA Other comprehensive income = - = - - -
2E(ER)/WeE Total comprehensive (loss)/income (1,251,074) 138,630 (320) (81)  (1,251,394) 138,549
B 5 - Note:

() ZEERREENBEARZEAVBE -

(i) BEMEZAABECHBILAEMUE
BUERERBRAERNEGE BBAIEE
MERRABESRINREIR -

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

(i) The amount represents the consolidated financial information
with its subsidiary.

(i) Fair values of investment properties have been valued by
independent valuer with the direct comparison approach and
income capitalisation approach. The investment properties are
classified as Level 3 in fair value hierarchy.
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(&)

REMELABEMNEMEANEREEE

18 INTERESTS
(continued)

IN JOINT VENTURES

Note: (continued)
(i) (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs used for fair value

RBIAT measurements of investment properties are as follows:
LIS fRERT BEZERZY BEBRZYCEE ErRESYRDAABEZERE
Valuation Relationship of unobservable
Properties technique Unobservable inputs Range of unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
—E-MmF —ZT-=F
2024 2023
b
Hong Kong
BRE BEEER EREWE #%8,9007T 2 13,000t E BTHIREHETEHS
B/ FHAR) 7##12,6007T 7%15,1007C NABELD
Office Direct Adjusted market price HK$8,900 - HK$13,900 -  The higher the adjusted market
comparison (HK$/sq.ft.) HK$12,600 HK$15,100 price per square feet, the
higher the fair value
FE5 HELE REEmE 7&%#1,800,000tZ  #%1,800,0000E BHEMLAETELS:
(&% Bh1) 72,000,000 ##2,300,0007C NREBEMES
Carparks Direct Adjusted market price HK$1.8M - HK$1.8M - The higher the adjusted market
comparison (HK$/unit) HK$2.0M HK$2.3M price per unit, the higher the
fair value
ZEE W NE A& RARAED BHAITE Atttz BYHFRKARAEES
(BB THR) B 39T AT ARBEES
Retail shop Income Adjusted monthly rent HK$27 - HK$28 -~ The higher the adjusted monthly
capitalization (HK$/sq.ft.) HK$39 HK$47 rent per square feet, the
approach higher the fair value
EHlHEE B 43.65% BF3.35%% HEHEREEES AAEEME
3.55%
Reversionary yield 3.65% p.a. 3.35% —  The higher the reversionary
3.55% p.a. yield, the lower the fair value
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18 ¥R ER (&)

18 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(continued)

B E RS EE R Reconciliation of summarised financial
information
FIEmBENEeEbEER 2R Reconciliation of the financial information presented
EHE 2R to the carrying amount of its interests in the joint
ventures.
—E-gEF —ZE=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
R—HA—BZEEFE Net assets at 1 January 2,945,217 2,806,668
FE(BE),/FE (Loss)/profit for the year (1,251,394) 138,549
Rt+ZRA=+—HZEEFE Net assets at 31 December 1,693,823 2,945,217
BEDE ERREN Interests in joint ventures and
EEFE®35.7% share of net assets @ 35.7% 604,695 1,051,442
EIEEE D Share of (losses)/profits of
(B18) FlHe 35.7% joint ventures @ 35.7% (446,747) 49,462

ERXRTERECEREERM RENBET
ERART _EAREERE HiEAEHE
WRB#ER A LLBERASEREE
PEREFH Lo ZFEBENE
wEtE-

R-ZZB-_MFE+-—A=+—H AKH
THEEBMAELFR CERERERIAR
BE(ZT_=F:8)-

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

The loans to joint ventures are unsecured, interest-
free and will not be repaid in the coming twelve
months. They represent the Group’s long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s
net investments in the joint ventures. The amounts
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has no capital
commitments nor contingent liabilities related to
the joint ventures (2023: Nil).
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19 fiE A = 19 SUBSIDIARIES

RZE_MFE+_A=1+—8 ZEZH

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

B AR ZHBWMT December 2024 are as follows:

DEER HMAL/ RUtY ERORARKE  ASEEGRARZEAL TEEH
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued and fully interest attributable to

Name of company establishment paid share capital the Group Principal activities
“E-mE  CZZ-=F
2024 2023
ABAMRESE  3TERL REBR
Bollardbay Limited BVI US$357 100% 100% Investment holding
ABABREE  A¥10T REBR
Catel (B.V.I.) Limited BVI HK$110 100% 100% Investment holding
HEAERRA B BEIT ESSY]
Easywise Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Property holding
s TR ETERES
Elite Sourcing Pte. Ltd. Singapore S$1 100% 100% Electronic products
trading
KBEXERLA B AT REBBRRIEREER
BRARANRE
Siu Wai Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% Investment holding and
acting as an agent
for its immediate
holding company
SEeBRRA B 7%1,000,0007C REBR
Top Plenty Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
ABABRES 1En REBR
Ubiquitous International Limited BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
i3 2,500,000% 7T BEETER
Welco Technology Vietnam Company Limited ~ Vietnam US$2,500,000 100% 100% Electronic products
manufacturing
ESRE (BN ERAR G 9,000,000% 7 HEETER
Welco Technology (Suzhou) Limited? PRC US$9,000,000 100% 100% Electronic products
manufacturing
ERTRBHE (R ERD A G 30,000,000% ¢ HEETER
Welco Wong's Technology (Shenzhen) PRC US$30,000,000 100% 100% Electronic products
Limited manufacturing
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19 MEBLR (&)

19 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

DEER AMAY/RUtYE BRORMRRE  AREEGRAERESL TEXH

Place of Percentage of equity

incorporation/ Issued and fully interest attributable to
Name of company establishment paid share capital the Group Principal activities

ZBCME  “BCZF
2024 2023
Mg T EfEmESD
Wellink Technology Pte. Ltd. Singapore S$1 100% 100% Electronic products
(formerly known as Wellink Dynamics trading
Pte. Ltd.)
ZRRE ORIDER R =) HE 2,500,000% T REEFEM
Wellop Technology (Shenzhen) Limited* PRC US$2,500,000 100% 100% Electronic products
manufacturing
IREFERLA 0 7#1,000,0007C EfEmESD
Wong’s Electronics Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Electronic products
trading
IRIX(5E)ERAA 0 7 #5007 REBR
Wong'’s Industrial (Holdings) Limited Hong Kong HK$500 100% 100% Investment holding
AX 20,000,008 HERTIEHR
Wong'’s International Japan Inc. Japan JPY20,000,000 100% 100% Sales and marketing
xH 10,000% 7 5 hR
Wong'’s International USA Corporation United States of US$10,000 100% 100% Marketing
America
IRRBERDA B0 %1007 EfEmES
Wong'’s Strategic Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Electronic products trading
FORBRBOEE  WARAIEEERE- # The company is a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under PRC
law.

ERINEHAEEXRERERTERX
EAREIERNEEFECIEMNW
BRR - ARAIEERAEEEERER
B HIEMHB AR 2 2BHBEB
DILE-

BE_Z_NWF+_A=+—8BI1F
& RIS RS - BB A A B B AL ] B B
TEREAR-

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

The above lists the principal subsidiaries which
principally affected the results or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Company’s Directors and the Group’s
management, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital
in issue at any time during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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20 BAAEBETTAHMEEW A 20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

NWEMEE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
(i) BAAEBEFAHMEZAEKWA (i) Classification of financial assets at fair

(i)

MEMEE 2T E

BRASRBEFAEMEZEEAR
TREEBRANFEEENR
AEF BAKEERY P HER
PRy 7 R J8 00 3 328 722 5 L 10 Utk 2R
AR - ZFBHFARMEIRE B
AEERA/UDBEEARBIL-

value through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income comprise equity
securities which are not held for trading, and
which the Group has irrevocably elected at
initial recognition to recognise in this category.
These are strategic investments and the
Group considers this classification to be more
relevant.

BAREBEFAHEMZEKA (i) Equity investments at fair value through
HRERE other comprehensive income
EAABEFAEMAZAEKA Equity investments at fair value through other
HRERERRFEUATERKRE comprehensive income comprise the following
individual investments:
—E-ME T =F
2024 2023
BT T BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHRAE S Listed equity securities
—-REAELE™ — Listed in Hong Kong 53,866 73,252
—REBEIIN LT — Listed outside Hong Kong 8 8
E N Unlisted equity securities 17,342 26,878
71,216 100,138
EHEETE Market value of listed securities 53,874 73,260
—E-gEF —ZEZ=F
2024 2023
BET T BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
EMED Non-current 71,185 100,080
mE Current 31 58
st Total 71,216 100,138
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20 BAnBESFAHEMGEERA
MEMEE (&)

(i) RAAEBEEFAHMBEZERA
HRERE (&)

BEZF-WMF+ZA=+—H
FTFEFERABEAALBETGAE
tEHBRANSHEEZ AN
B1EE B AE%21,638,0007T I
FAERMEEKA (ZE==

7 #21,267,0007T ) ©

21 EEFEBHEE(AE)

UNTAEREMGSHEEMREMSH
BES:

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

(ii) Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income
(continued)

The fair value losses on financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income of
HK$21,638,000 (2023: HK$21,267,000) was
recognised in other comprehensive income for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

21 DEFERRED
(LIABILITIES)

INCOME TAX ASSETS/

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and
deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

—E-NmE —E-=
2024 2023
BETT BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
EEMSMREE Deferred income tax assets 15,164 19,480
RIEFTISTHAE Deferred income tax liabilities (81,523) (83,250)
EESEEEFE Net deferred tax liabilities (66,359) (63,770)

EEFTSHERZ8MT

The movements on the deferred
account is as follows:

income tax

—EWF —ZTEZ=F

2024 2023

BT T BT T

HK$’000 HK$'000

R—H—H At 1 January (63,770) (61,408)
RiEA W RER (H3F12)  Recognised in the consolidated income

statement (Note 12) (2,065) (2,323)

7 EL A 2 T R A 3R Recognised in other comprehensive income (944) 828

B E =R Currency translation differences 420 (867)

R+=—A=+—H At 31 December (66,359) (63,770)

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R
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21 EEFBEHEE (B%E) 21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/

(&) (LIABILITIES) (continued)

REF AR — TG RE 2 &8R AT - The movements in deferred income tax assets
BREMGHEENBERNFAZE and liabilities during the year, without taking into
N consideration the offsetting of balances within the

EIEFBHEE

same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets:

HERERE i BB REFE a8
Decelerated tax Government
depreciation Provision grant Tax loss Total
BB BBIT BETFL BT BETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-_=%-A—H At 1 January 2023 13,930 11,321 1,283 564 27,098
REAMERA A/ (k) Credited/(charged) to the consolidated
income statement (2,028) 292 (1,266) - (3,002)
ERREZEE Currency translation differences (886) (161) (17) - (1,064)
R=B-=%+=-B=+-H  At31 December 2023 11,016 11,452 - 564 23,032
REARERNK Charged to the consolidated
income statement (3,770) (3,844) - - (7,614)
HEBREER Currency translation differences 322 (335) - - (13)
WZZ-ME+-A=+-H At 31 December 2024 7,568 7,213 - 564 15,405
BIEFTISHEE: Deferred income tax liabilities:
NERXR fIETR
MERERE BEEEE REEAH DAEE K
Fair value Dividend
Accelerated tax  adjustment on  withholding Fair value of
depreciation properties tax derivative Total
BB BB BB BEFT  BETR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W-E-=%-A-H At 1 January 2023 (18,957) (60,343) (7,090) (2,116) (88,506)
REARERIA/ (NK) Credited/(charged) to the consolidated
income statement 2,122 364 (1,807) - 679
REMZERAGA Credited to the other comprehensive income - - - 828 828
ERBEER Currency translation differences 91 - 106 - 197
W-B-=f+-B=+-H At 31 December 2023 (16,744) (59,979) (8,791) (1,288) (86,802)
RESRERTA/ (1K) Credited/(charged) to the consolidated
income statement 1,583 6,808 (2,842) - 5,549
REG2ZERANR Charged to the other comprehensive income - - - (944) (944)
EHREEE Currency translation differences 53 - 380 - 433
R-B-mE+=A=+-AH At 31 December 2024 (15,108) (53,171) (11,253) (2,232) (81,764)
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21 EXEFBHEE  (BAE)

(%)

BIEFTS I E E T E E MRS M &=
Al BE B MR R FERR T M) B B 3R Bt
S s HEEBRETER R_Z
“HFE+—A=+—H AEEATH
AR B RRN B2 bzt KRB AT
THE %) BB #473,956,000T (= F
— =% B #411,216,0007T) - B E
B ERAAE RREBRZSEE Y
HMIEBB AR ERNAN BEIREH
REMNENRET S WARBEESE
BREEHEBEEE -BAEWBRAN
5 18 /& 18 4978 #403,069,0007T (=&
— =4 : A #351,308,0007T ) AJ £ R HA
HgE L —HYENERARNRIEEE
478 #70,887,000 (ZEZ=F 1 &
#£50,908,0007T ) Al A R 2R A F 4585 o

RZFE_mMF+_A=+—H %R
A B A A 2 B9 BB A R A R R AR
BABENBENREREERIBESES
#11,481,000c (Z 2 == F B K
8,791,0007T) B AR BLHE TR BIFE A
VB RABINF R IKRE & F
BRELEHIEEE REAZSEFHK
DIRRERFATREET K- R =M
F+-—A=+—H AEENPHEM
BRI B ARM R IRRE FEE &
#4978 %1,253,601,000T (—F = =4
75 #1,271,825,0007T ) ° 5t A Bl FE AR
M2 B RBR DR AR B 2 A TE
HENFE5%E10% ©

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/

(LIABILITIES) (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for
tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the
realisation of the related tax benefit through future
taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December
2024, the Group has estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$473,956,000 (2023:
HK$411,216,000) available for offsetting against
future profits in Hong Kong, which can be carried-
forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the tax losses as
the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profit from these tax loss carry-
forwards is not probable. The tax losses amounted
to approximately HK$403,069,000 (2023:
HK$351,308,000) from Hong Kong subsidiaries can
be carried forward indefinitely and approximately
HK$70,887,000 (2023: HK$59,908,000) from a
Vietnam subsidiary which can be carried forward in
coming five years.

As at 31 December 2024, deferred tax liability
of HK$11,481,000 (2023: HK$8,791,000) has
been recognised in respect of the withholding
tax on the undistributed retained profits of a PRC
incorporated subsidiary and no deferred tax liability
recognised for the remaining undistributed retained
earnings of certain PRC incorporated subsidiaries
as the distribution of the remaining undistributed
retained earnings is not probable. As at 31
December 2024, the Group’s PRC incorporated
subsidiaries have approximately HK$1,253,601,000
(2023: HK$1,271,825,000) undistributed retained
profits in aggregate. The applicable withholding tax
rate on dividend distributed by PRC incorporated
subsidiaries is ranged from 5% to 10%.
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22 78 22 INVENTORIES
L —T=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
R Raw materials 141,401 192,552
& m Work in progress 19,208 29,212
BUAK oh Finished goods 98,105 150,532
258,714 372,296
HE_Z-_MF+_A=+—HIEF During the year ended 31 December 2024,
B -GFEEEEBB®E11,976,000 the reversal of provision for inventories of
T(ZZEZ=%F:F%2375,0007T) HK$11,976,000 (2023: HK$2,375,000) was
THRERERANAER 2R & recognised in ‘raw materials and consumables
EFEm ] R used’ in the consolidated income statement.
23 EXZRYWERFE 23 STOCK OF COMPLETED PROPERTIES
—E-INF —EI=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
n—H—H At 1 January 201,402 203,610
WORE TSR METE 2 BE Provision for write-down of stock
of completed properties (41,258) (2,208)
Rn+=—A=+—H At 31 December 160,144 201,402
EXKYEFERE: Stock of completed properties comprised:
—E-NF —ZEI=F
2024 2023
BEET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EERNEEN Commercial office units 140,140 181,300
EXiv] Car parking spaces 20,004 20,102
160,144 201,402

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 233



234

me

g B e

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23

24

Elj'flﬁk%%ﬁ (II‘E.)

R_E-_WNF+-_A=1T—H E=
)ﬂ%%%?‘%ﬂi\a‘ﬁi’]u#i&% jUzzT

— =& B 201 ,402,0007z) 7] 15

EaEEHZEZ— -*miJr*H_Jr—El
HFEZ2&ae s %%W:E R 1
7B #41,258,0007T ( =& E"‘ od

2,208,0007T ) © EEW@%T =B
EAAREBER TR (MFE30) °

23 STOCK OF COMPLETED PROPERTIES

(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, stock of completed
properties are all located in Hong Kong and
carried at net realisable value amounted to
HK$160,144,000 (2023: HK$201,402,000) and
provision for write-down of HK$41,258,000 (2023:
HK$2,208,000) was recognised in the consolidated
income statement during the year ended 31
December 2024. The stock of completed properties
were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
borrowings (Note 30).

U E 5 R 24 TRADE RECEIVABLES
—E-mEF —E-=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
e E 5 IR Trade receivables 865,545 810,914
B EWE SRR RERE Less: allowance for impairment of
trade receivables (438) (2,325)
865,107 808,589

AEERTESRFPZBREHREEN
F30H 120815 B W& W E (T
Al 7| & o

AEEZRBEREFERR - —REE
HA—Z0EA -BUEFPHERR
EER ANEEREEFERBEHGE
WHER 2 EU IR URVEE E A -
AEEY BEAREKE HERERTH
Eﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ@@fhﬁ?
i o = AR EIEA B Mt s A
FEWE B BRR T E B e

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

The credit period allowed by the Group to its trade
customers mainly ranges from 30 days to 120 days
and no interest is charged.

A defined credit policy is maintained within the
Group. The general credit terms range from one
to four months. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
its credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances. Overdue balances are
regularly reviewed by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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24 ERESERR (&) 24 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
AEBERRKEZGEREFIZEZAHE Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables by
BT invoice date is as follows:

—E-MF —ZEI=F

2024 2023

BT T BT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

0x60H 0 - 60 days 506,851 531,396

61290H 61 — 90 days 180,405 154,137

H#®0H Over 90 days 178,289 125,381

865,545 810,914
AEBERERBEEVERE LA FOR The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
AEEHEEBBE 2B E B approach to measure expected credit losses which
BERWE ZERFERAFEEEREERR uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
B3 1(b)IREE B EXBEE receivables. Note 3.1(b) provides for details about

ZEEIE the calculation of the allowance.

EWNE SRR REESRAEERES The carrying amount of trade receivables

approximate their fair values.

AEERKE ZEZTA TN EETHE: The Group’s trade receivables are denominated in
the following currencies:

—E_NEF —E=F

2024 2023

BETT BT T

HK$’000 HK$’000

ETT United States dollar 407,075 317,743
AR Chinese renminbi 442,590 475,423
H Japanese yen - 1,101
ikt Hong Kong dollar 15,880 16,647
865,545 810,914
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25 ERRE -FTERHEMEKERNR 25 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

—EME —T-=#F

2024 2023

BETT BT T

HK$’000 HK$'000

EEEZIES Deposits for fixed assets 10,979 17,697

EfRFE Prepayments for inventories 5,944 20,948

JiE L B B Value added tax receivables 3,670 6,242

e EERBRAREERS Rental, management and utility deposits 11,563 6,881

FE SR 17 F B Uk A Bank interest income receivables 6,420 4,146

E b W BR X R TR SRR Other receivables and prepayments 64,544 63,277

103,120 119,191

W SERENE D Less: non-current portion (27,050) (24,578)

mEE 5 Current portion 76,070 94,613
BRFRE T REMBWERIAT The prepayments, deposits and other receivables

5| & EHE - are denominated in the following currencies:

—E-MF —ZE=Z=F

2024 2023

BEET T BT T

HK$’000 HK$'000

AR Chinese renminbi 50,545 65,467

E7T United States dollar 2,056 12,346

ok Hong Kong dollar 41,329 38,089

= Japanese yen 414 425

HEE Vietnam dong 8,508 1,376

HAty Others 268 1,488

103,120 119,191
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26 BHeRBEELEEYW EHEIT 26

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

FREZRFERE SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND
RESTRICTED CASH
—E-EF —E-=F
2024 2023
BT T BT
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHEe Cash on hand 343 345
|ITF R Cash at bank 719,503 941,695
ReMBRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents 719,846 942,040
REEAR RERA=@AZ Short-term bank deposits with original
RERITIE maturity over three months 498,285 284,844
2R HIEE Restricted cash 117,345 121,164
RekReZEEY- Cash and cash equivalents, short-term
REHIRATIF K bank deposits and restricted cash
N ZBRE IR & 1,335,476 1,348,048

BekReFEBY BHRRTHERKL
XREEESATINEEEE:

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term bank
deposits and restricted cash were denominated in
the following currencies:

—E_NEF —E-=F

2024 2023

BETT BET T

HK$’000 HK$’'000

oot Hong Kong dollar 36,863 59,758
AR Chinese renminbi 802,757 722,844
ETT United States dollar 489,791 561,842
Hih Others 6,065 3,604
1,335,476 1,348,048

RERTERZINEFHERFER X
B5.73% (—E - =4 :6.18% ) °

RITFERBZERBRARTERMNERZ
TN R EREUH B,

The weighted average effective interest rate on

short-term bank deposits was 5.73% (2023:
6.18%) per annum.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates.
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26

BERBESEEY THRT
FREZRHEE (&)

WITFER RHERUARZRAIRS
75 #1,197,845,0007T ( — T = =4 :
1. 201,444,0007T ) Ty AR ER % i
MEA ABTEMINEETIERT
ZEEHMINE T IER T H I E K
REOBESHBRS TEEEA K
IR 8 o

R—ZZE_WMF+_A=+—"H "%
R %38 € B 117,345,000 (= &
— =% ¥121,164,000T) £ B
AERBITRENIBRANGFTRER
116,814,000 (Z T =F : B
120,129,0007m) " H{ER — M &
BB ARIERNRITRERE -
XERHREEEE_ZET_AF A
E-TE - RFNA(ZE_=Z%:
—E-_NFE=ZAE-_T_NFET+A)
BIEf - WA AREEE -

TREREBERAT 2024 F3R

26 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (continued)

Cash at bank, short-term deposits and
restricted cash of HK$1,197,845,000 (2023:
HK$1,201,444,000) are held in China and
Vietnam and are subject to local exchange
control regulations. These local exchange control
regulations provide for restrictions on exporting
capital from the country, other than through normal
dividends.

As at 31 December 2024, restricted cash of
HK$117,345,000 (2023: HK$121,164,000)
are mainly restricted deposits held at bank of
HK$116,814,000 (2023: HK$120,129,000) as
reserve for banking facility granted to a subsidiary
in Hong Kong. The restricted cash will mature
from June 2025 to April 2026 (2023: March 2024
to October 2024), and are mainly denominated in
Chinese renminbi.
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rTE€EmIT A 27 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

—E_NF —E-=F

2024 2023
EE = BE BfE
Assets Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
BETT BETT BETIT BETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000
= 5 5 Interest rate swap
—Hane st — cash flow hedge

FEMED Non-current 11,541 = 11,324 3,519
mE Current 1,987 = - -

TTETAEREKEL B EMIE
B -

AEAEREHAOR - _NOF
+‘ﬂi+—52%%$é%%%%
1,500,000,0007c ( —E - =4 B
1,500,000,0007T) °

RZFB-_NMER_FT_=ZF+=A
=t — B FAMNREHEONE G
I i F RIE IR N TRHIR RMEHRK
BRTI-EAREE N2 R/RBE
Fﬁ%%f}ﬁﬁﬁﬂimﬂ?ﬁﬁﬂﬂ S e
—EOAFE_EAF(ZF _¢1
_7_£¢i_7_t¢)E'JHH

AEBBERBRESREEAHR G
RENKIF228 FHAETITATA
AARBEABZAERBREELHE
MiE3.3 ©

Derivatives are only used for economic hedging
purposes and not as speculative investments.

The notional principal amount of the outstanding
interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2024
was HK$1,500,000,000 (2023: HK$1,500,000,000).

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all interest rate
swap contracts meet the hedging criteria. They are
presented as current assets or liabilities if they are
expected to be settled within twelve months after
the end of the reporting period. The outstanding
interest rate swaps will mature from 2025 to 2027
(2023: 2025 to 2027).

The Group’s accounting policy for its cash flow
hedges is set out in Note 2.2.8. For information
about the methods and assumptions used in
determining the fair value of derivatives please refer
to Note 3.83.
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28 EHESZERM 28 TRADE PAYABLES
AEEENESREFZEZAHE Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables by
AT invoice date is as follows:

—E-MF —ZEI=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
0E60H 0 - 60 days 376,770 362,364
61%290H 61 — 90 days 47,815 56,047
HimooH Over 90 days 123,436 127,236
548,021 545,647

REBEENESGBRFATIEESE: The Group’s trade payables are denominated in the

following currencies:

—E-F ZE=F
2024 2023
BT T BET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
B Hong Kong dollar 66,984 71,559
AR Chinese renminbi 162,128 141,456
ETT United States dollar 306,914 327,578
H Japanese yen 2,470 1,440
BX T Euro 7,154 1,836
WA Vietnam dong 1,866 1,778
E A Others 505 -
548,021 545,647
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29 EETERARAEMEMNERR 29 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

—EIMF —E-=F

2024 2023

BT T BT

HK$’000 HK$’000

JEET R B R AR AR Accrued employee benefit costs 98,773 107,423
H A FET BB Other tax payables 1,965 5,655
FEETMIE - RS R FETFE B Accrued freight, delivery and storage charges 10,083 11,904
Bt AREEER Accrued utilities charges 667 1,128
JEETENIZEE Accrued construction payables 23,371 21,683
1E1E A AR B Provision for reinstatement cost 6,120 6,153
Hith Others 87,510 71,586
228,489 225,532

R IEMEIE Less: non-current portion (6,120) (6,153)
mENEB D Current portion 222,369 219,379

AEERFERAREMEBENERERIAT The Group’s accruals and other payables are

5| B EHE denominated in the following currencies:
—E-ME —E-=F
2024 2023
BEET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
AR Chinese renminbi 69,303 83,134
ke Hong Kong dollar 107,335 106,240
E7T United States dollar 35,344 31,576
HEEE Vietnam dong 15,854 3,993
H Japanese yen 77 93
HAh Others 576 496
228,489 225,532
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30 EX 30 BORROWINGS
—EZOF —E=F
2024 2023
BET T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
S WIRIRTTE R - KT Trust receipt bank loans, unsecured 223,390 338,790
WHIETER ﬁﬁﬁﬁ Short-term bank loans, unsecured 299,000 275,000
RESRTTE R AEA Short-term bank loans, secured 115,700 103,000
AE}E%ZH% 32 15K Long-term bank loans which contains

REFRITER  BEM a repayment on demand clause, secured = 38,138

# 5 & A fE B Portion of long-term bank loans due
m— ilaﬂa%a BRI for repayment within one year, secured 104,408 99,910

o REBITEN Portion of long-term bank loans due
R—F&EE BERT for repayment after one year, secured 876,430 935,840
BE R Total borrowings 1,618,928 1,790,678
JERED Non-current 876,430 935,840
mE Current 742,498 854,838
BWE R Total borrowings 1,618,928 1,790,678

R-ZFE-_WNF+-A=1t—HB X%

At 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings

EERZEEBROT: were repayable as follows:
—ENEF —ET-=

2024 2023
BT T BET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
1F R Within 1 year 742,498 854,838
1524 Between 1 and 2 years 521,060 385,508
254 Between 2 and 5 years 355,370 550,332
BER Total borrowings 1,618,928 1,790,678
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30 EF (&)

RZZFE-_MFE+=—RA=+—8H B%
1,096,538,0007C (Z T = =4 : B
1,176,888,0007T ) 2 F2 BRIRITE K &
RHERITEFR U TS IERRE

e NZE-_WMF+-_A=+—8"
BREE LB ®¥18,556,0007T
—F = =& ¥19,145,0007T )
ZE - BEERLE ERELD
78 151,026,000 (Z T = =4 :
75 #53,574,0007T) 2 # A iEE
- BRE{E 408 %1,444,700,0007C
— T = =4 :%%1,915,000,000
TIZEREMEREREMELBE
160,144,0007C (ZE = =F : B
201,402,0007T) 2 B ERR M E T
B2

. Ai“ﬂ—%?%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%”—
FiT $2 14 75 #116,814,0007T ( —
—=F: ,%ﬁ%120,129,0007z)zx
PR 38 &

s ARF-ZREEZEZEMBAFM
Rt IR %78 #760,000,0007T Z
R

RZFEZMF+—A=+—H K&
BrzERBEARRARMZDERRE
PR o

30 BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the short-term and long-
term bank loans of HK$1,096,538,000 (2023:
HK$1,176,888,000) were secured by the following:

e As at 31 December 2024, charges over
property, plant and equipment with carrying
amount of approximately HK$18,556,000
(2023: HK$19,145,000), right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of approximately
HK$51,926,000 (2023: HK$53,574,000),
investment properties with carrying amount
of approximately HK$1,444,700,000
(2023: HK$1,915,000,000) and stock of
completed properties with carrying amount
of approximately HK$160,144,000 (2023:
HK$201,402,000);

o Restricted cash of HK$116,814,000 (2023:
HK$120,129,000) from an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company;

e A guarantee limited to HK$760,000,000 from
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s borrowings

were guaranteed by the corporate guarantee given
by the Company.
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30 EF (&)

B bt RIEIN REBD RSB
RITHMZ A ?Mﬁ@ﬂ£m

E

AEAAZﬂﬁﬁiﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
HAREERS

EMBERZEREREARAEEMN
e R BETRBRAEE R X
ReBHenEg TBRALBEEZER
FEoMk o

REBERABEE.

ERRBERRERFRNERMT:

30 BORROWINGS (continued)

In addition to the above, the Group has agreed to
comply with certain restrictive financial covenants
imposed by certain banks.

The carrying amounts of the current borrowings
approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities.

The carrying amount of the non-current borrowing
approximates its fair value. The fair value is based
on the cash flow discounted using a rate based on
current borrowing rate and is within Level 2 of the
fair value hierarchy.

The Group’s borrowings are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar.

The effective annual interest rates of borrowings at
the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

—E-NE —Eo=F
2024 2023

RHIRITER
EREMIRIRTTER
RHRITER

Long-term bank loans
Trust receipt bank loans
Short-term bank loans

4.53%-6.05%
5.28%-5.43%
5.48%-5.78%

6.15%-6.47%
5.97%-6.12%
6.27%-6.47%
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% 2 31 SHARE CAPITAL
f& 17 2 B H1E
Number of Nominal
shares value
BT T
HK$’ 000
FREEAEI0TT 2 EER Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
AT M Authorised:
R-EB-_=%—-A—8" At 1 January 2023,
—E_=5+-R=+—HE 31 December 2023 and
—E-_NmME+=ZA=1+—H 31 December 2024 700,000,000 70,000
EEITREERA: Issued and fully paid:
R-E-_=%—-H—8- At 1 January 2023,
—E_=Hf+ZA=t+—HK 31 December 2023 and
—E_WE+=ZRA=+—8H 31 December 2024 478,483,794 47,848
FNARA S EEMAN B A EE Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
B -HEXBEARREMLEMES- purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s

listed securities during the year.
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32 f@#E (&)

fiata :

MisED -

AEBEZ BHRABEARER-NNTF
EERAPENB A RN < mEREAR
BRI I B TTAR ) Z EEME 2 25 -

¢Iwm%ﬁﬂ% AN B R B A A
ML zWBRBADE —#AMRB

1%Wﬂﬁ%ﬂ&¢ ERER)E—RE#

wREEBERES-

BMEED S RIEPBEEAG KA
HMeET TRHEREASEMATE10%
B EATE MG BEEEARRE
HREELRBEDRAIEREEZFHE B
ﬁﬁm%LU%E%Eﬁﬁ$ZW%ﬂU

BEEDTMNE - ZOR - —RHEHE
ﬁwﬁ% BEFEBESBNEITAR
R 15 o

HREEBRESME DEZBDLIH
EXEFET CEBRESTANER
REER-

BHE-_Z-_MNF+_A=+—BL#F
& ##53,860,0007T (Z T Z =4 B
1,217,00070) # 9 Bd & — & & # R b 3%
&R o

32 RESERVES (continued)

Note a:

Note b:

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares of
the acquired subsidiaries, and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of
the Group’s reorganisation in 1990.

As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the
Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in
Mainland China are required to appropriate a portion of
their after — tax profit (after offsetting prior years’ losses) to
the general reserve and the enterprise expansion fund.

For the general reserve, the PRC entities are required to
transfer at least 10% of its net profit, as determined under
the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to the statutory
general reserve. The transfer to this reserve must be made
before distribution of dividends to equity owners. When the
balance of reserve reaches 50% of each entity’s registered
capital,
reserve can be utilised to offset prior year losses or be
utilised for the issuance of bonus shares.

any further appropriation is optional. The general

For the enterprise expansion fund, the percentage of
appropriation is determined annually by the directors.
The enterprise expansion fund can be utilised for the

development of business operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, HK$3,860,000
(2023: HK$1,217,000) was appropriated to the general
reserve and the enterprise expansion.
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33. REHE D z2E@MT A 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
AEEHEBEATERITA: The Group holds the following financial
instruments:
—E-NF —ZEI=F
2024 2023
BT T TS F T
HK$’000 HK$’000
EWMEE Financial assets
LABESEPN AR IR 2 & R E B Financial assets at amortised cost
e E F R K Trade receivables 865,107 808,589
e R EAMEWRERR Deposits and other receivables 42,574 32,937
EREE e Restricted cash 117,345 121,164
EHRITER Short-term bank deposits 498,285 284,844
ReRBESEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 719,846 942,040
BARBERGAHEM Financial assets at fair value through
EHWANESREE other comprehensive income 71,216 100,138
TEEmI A Derivative financial instruments 13,528 11,324
2,327,901 2,301,036
A =R Financial liabilities
LA SERN AT BR « BB Liabilities at amortised cost
e E Z R Trade payables 548,021 545,647
FERHE A R H B ERR Accruals and other payables 121,631 219,379
=N Borrowings 1,618,928 1,790,678
HEAE Lease liabilities 1,714 16,168
TEeRITA Derivative financial instruments = 3,519
2,290,294 2,575,391
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34 FMERERER

(@) BRATEBLA (BE) IR
EEEAENBSFEZIYEER

34 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before
income tax to net cash generated from

wmh: operations is as follows:
—E-MEF T =4
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
EEEE Operating activities
BRET{SELAT (E1E) /FE  (Loss)/profit before income tax (782,828) 200,115
MTH BB Adjustments for:
BEKAR—FRE Finance costs - net 50,000 64,441
EiEaE Share of losses/(profits) of
&8, (FE) joint ventures 446,747 (49,462)
e Depreciation 49,874 65,558
HEWME - MEME&HE Gains on disposals of property,
2 W Es plant and equipment (1,275) (1,961)
FEWE FEER 2 RE Reversal of provision for impairment
E BB losses on trade receivables (1,887) (1,143
M E & St s Gains on lease modification - (333)
WEE M - BB KRB Write-off of property, plant and
equipment - 8,055
H b e BRI E Write-back of other payables (5,510) (5,930)
i B WA Dividend income (252) (1,827)
B SER 17 E OB Provision for write down of stock
BB of completed properties 41,258 2,208
KEMERAEEE Change in fair value of investment
properties 472,741 12,062
GFERE 2RO Reversal of provision of inventories (11,976) (2,375)
BEESEEHEZ Operating cash flows before changes
RE|VERE in working capital 256,892 289,408
FE Inventories 113,404 111,563
FEWE 5 BR 3K Trade receivables (78,941) 254,710
FERRIE T2k Prepayments, deposits and other
H e AR K receivables 8,413 (12,244)
EE SR Trade payables 13,911 (160,583)
JERtERREMBEMERF  Accruals and other payables 10,764 (2,565)
EHEE Contract liabilities (286) 4,928
HEEENRE Cash generated from operations 324,157 485,217
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34 ZEBRERER (&)

b) EREREXRA - HEWE
BERREBHRERHEESE:

34 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
(continued)

(b)

In the cash flow statement, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and

(c)

equipment comprise:

—E-MF —E-=F

2024 2023

BT T EEE T T

HK$’000 HK$’000

BREVFE Net book amount 511 4,363

LEWME - HEREE Gains on disposal of property,

& plant and equipment 1,275 1,961
LEWME - HEREE Proceeds from disposals of property,

Fr1S k18 plant and equipment 1,786 6,324

B F R R

REFHINE LI HEEHF

BT LA FEE

(c) Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt

and the movements in net debt for each of the

period presented.

—EmEF TR

2024 2023

BT T BT T

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

RekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 719,846 942,040
2 EERITIF 3K Short-term bank deposits 498,285 284,844
ZIREIRE Restricted cash 117,345 121,164
HEBEGE-RBHD Lease liabilities — current portion (1,714) (14,676)
HEBBE-FREED Lease liabilities — non-current portion - (1,492)
BER—EAR—FANEER Borrowings — repayable within one year (742,498) (854,838)
BR—ER—FEER Borrowings — repayable after one year (876,430) (935,840)
B FE Net debt (285,166) (458,798)
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34 ZEBHRERER (EFE 34 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
(continued)
(c) BEXRFEEHIR (&) (c) Net debt reconciliation (continued)
REEHZERE
Liabilities from financing activities

BER bl ER-% ER-%2
REEEY ROER ZRHRE HERE  R-FAEE R-FHEE ag

Cash Short- Borrowings - Borrowings -

and cash  term bank  Restricted Lease repayable repayable
equivalents deposits cash  liabilities within one year  after one year Total
B¥Tr BBt A%Tn  BBTR BETL BETT  BEBTR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZBZ=5-A-B2EHFE Netdebt as at 1 January 2023 544,637 546,736 125,757 (38,333) (952,674) (1,070,294)  (844,271)
RenE Cash flows 398,702 (256,218) (2,945) 16,136 232,290 - 387,965
SNERE Foreign exchange adjustments (1,199) (5,674) (1,648) 214 - - (8,307)
EERe gy Other non-cash movements - - - 5,815 (134,454) 134,454 5,815

W=B-=f+-A=+-H Net debt as at 31 December 2023

ZBHRE 942,040 284,844 121,164 (16,168) (854,838) (935,840)  (458,798)
RenE Cash flows (195,885) 228,395 643 13,917 171,750 - 218,820
SNEFE Foreign exchange adjustments (26,309) (14,954) (4,462) 537 - - 45,188)
EFREED Other non-cash movements - - - - (59,410) 59,410 =

R-B-ME+-A=+-H Net debt as at 31 December 2024
EBRE 719,846 498,285 117,345 (1,714) (742,498) (876,430)  (285,166)
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3B AFAIEEZHBMRRKKFE 35 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF

) FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT
—E-gE ZEZ=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$’000
BE ASSETS
kRBEE Non-current asset
I ENETR: O ) Investments in subsidiaries 563,366 563,366
RBEE Current assets
ENFE FTEek Prepayments, deposits and
H 4th i UG BR X other receivables 363 333
JE WS B 8~ Rl 3k IR Amounts due from subsidiaries 548,774 548,774
ReMBRSEEY Cash and cash equivalents 2,508 1,575
... 551645 550,682
WEE Total assets 1,115,011 1,114,048
= EQUITY
REREAQATESA Equity attributable to owners of
2R the Company
[N Share capital 47,848 47,848
H A Other reserves B3 Note 675,934 675,934
RE & F Retained earnings Mf5F Note 58,839 88,347
HRE R Total equity 782,621 812,129
a8& LIABILITIES
REBaE Current liabilities
JEET & A N H i ERBRF Accruals and other payables 3,185 3,155
FERT BB A Rl 3RIE Amounts due to subsidiaries 329,205 298,764
mew Total liabilites 832390 301,919
BEZREE Total equity and liabilities 1,115,011 1,114,048
RBEEFEE Net current assets 219,255 248,763
BEERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 782,621 812,129
B HRERENR T RAF= A =+/<H The financial statements were approved and
BESSHERKERE WH T authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
BEEREREE: 26 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:
T BFK ETFEH WONG CHUNG MAT, BEN WONG YIN MAN, ADA
ey = Chairman and Director
FITIAEE, Chief Executive Officer
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AEEZUBMRRERK#iE 35
28 (&)

5

GESESNGLT T T

COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT (continued)

Note: Reserves movement of the Company

RHEE EBEXABRFERE BRBR&H REEF B
Capital
Share redemption  Contributed Retained

premium reserve surplus earnings Total

BETT BT T BETT BETT BT T

HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

R-ZE-=5-A—H At 1 January 2023 153,025 345 522,564 76,710 752,644
FEFE Profit for the year - - - 47,524 47,524
R Dividends - - - (35,887) (35,887)
R-ZZB-=F+=-A=+—H  At31December 2023 153,025 345 522,564 88,347 764,281
FEEE Loss for the year - - - (1,995) (1,995)
&8 Dividends - - - (27,513) (27,513)
R-Z-mE+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2024 153,025 345 522,564 58,839 734,773

ARBZERBBEARER-NANETEF
EREBAARMBBHBRAREEAEF
EZHREESEAD B TR 2
MEMEZEZE - REABEARARFZ
RAMA ARFZEBBHBAHIIRT
BRI o

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
difference between the book values of the underlying net
assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the Company, and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition at the time of the Group’s reorganisation in
1990. Under the Companies Act and the Bye-laws of the
Company, contributed surplus of the Company is available for
distribution to the shareholders.

Wong’s International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2024 253



e ISR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36 E&IE 36 COMMITMENTS
@ ME - BELRERHBZERNFE (a) Capital commitments in respect of property,
R plant and equipment are as follows:
—E-MF —E=F
2024 2023
BT T BT T
HK$’000 HK$'000
SEEEE Contracted but not provided for 7,713 8,547
b) RZZE-_WF+=—_A=+—8" (b) As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s future
AEBEREBEZOD AR HE M rental income receivables under various non-
ERFRKEHERKEKR ZHE cancellable operating leases in respect of
SWADITLT : rented premises are analysed as follows:
—E-mEF —E-=
2024 2023
BET T BET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
—F R Within one year 51,125 27,980
F_EERF In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BRREERMF) 72,029 48,678
123,154 76,658
KEMBEWRFEASEREHEAEKRSE Operating lease receipts represent rentals
MERKHE HHOLHASERTHF receivable by the Group for leasing its investment
HR3FHERNEF (ZE_=F:34F) - properties. Leases and rentals are negotiated and

fixed for an average of 3 years (2023: 3 years).
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37 BEAEIXRS

RZEZNF+=—A=+—H KRQF
ZEABRRAETBRKREE (FAARER
Salop Hong Kong Limited * H Ty @ ¥ 2
BHER REHZRF]) -

(a) EHBAE AL Z&8R

B & & ERIBHENEG S I
MRS © B BB IERE R MIEE18 -

(b) #ER

RZE-_NWF+—_A=+—8"
RAABRENB AR BB
2,733,523,000t (&2 = = F:
7 #52,827,435,0007T ) 2 R 17 @b
B MIRITIRE D EER

RZE-_WFEF+_A=+—8"
MEBARMBANRELNRBK
1,618,928,000c (—Z & = =

75 1£1,790,678,0007T ) °

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2024, the largest shareholder
of the Company was Mr. Wong Chung Mat, Ben
(personally and via Salop Hong Kong Limited, a
company wholly-owned and controlled by him).

(a)

(b)

Balances with related parties

The amounts due from joint ventures are set
out in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The terms are set out in Note 18.

Guarantee

As at 31 December 2024, the Company
has provided corporate guarantee given to
the banks in respect of banking facilities of
approximately HK$2,733,523,000 (2023:
HK$2,827,435,000) granted to its subsidiaries.

The facilities utilised by the subsidiaries
as at 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$1,618,928,000 (2023:
HK$1,790,678,000).

(c) EEEE AERMN (c) Key management compensation

—EEF ZEZ=F

2024 2023

BET T BET T

HK$’000 HK$’000

& KOERL Salaries and allowances 15,069 16,041

14T Bonus 6,554 7,011
BRIKE KA — KT HRETE Pension costs — defined

contribution schemes 36 62

21,659 23,114
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Schedule of Principal Properties

R-ZFE-p#E+—H=+—H Asat31 December 2024

BHEEm
[ N3]
NEEBRIUE AR (F7K) R &R Jiiked HEHR TR R £
Approximate
Gross Floor Stage of Group
Name of property and location Type Areas (sq.m.) Lot Number Purpose  Lease Expiry Completion Interest
UREEZRENE
Investment properties in Hong Kong
B NVBE 881818157 0ne Harbour Square 91 » YN BERMER N ZTMLF B
1018 - 1218 15%2 - 1612 1742 - 1818 - 1912 R 2012 173% ~NAZTH
9th, 10th, 12th, 15th, 16th, 17th, 18th, 19th and 20th floors,  Office 12,089 Kwun Tong Office 30 June 2047 Completed 100%
One Harbour Square, 181 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Inland Lot
Kowloon, Hong Kong No. 173
B NEEEEEE181% 0ne Harbour Square 43ERER  (FEf EEAMER HE —TMtE B
173% ~NAZTH
43 car parking spaces, One Harbour Square, Car parking 538 Kwun Tong Parking 30 June 2047 Completed 100%
181 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong spaces Inland Lot
No. 173
NREEZETRNEFE
Stock of completed properties in Hong Kong
E B8 58181815 0ne Harbour Square 71 WOE BERER b ZTMLF B
1735 ~A=ZTH
7th floors, One Harbour Square, 181 Hoi Bun Road, Office 1,354 Kwun Tong Office 30 June 2047 Completed 100%
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong Inland Lot
No. 173
EA BB EB181%50ne Harbour Square 14(EF &R FHfL BERIE HE “EMLE B
1735 ~A=ZTH
14 car parking spaces, One Harbour Square, Car parking 175 Kwun Tong Parking 30 June 2047 Completed 100%
181 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong spaces Inland Lot
No. 173
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WONG’S INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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17/F, C-Bons International Center, No.108 Wai Yip Street,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
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